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MANN+HUMMEL

Worldwide, we work on separating the useful 
from the harmful in order to make life better – or 
at least cleaner. This is a proud achievement for 
us. Filtration is and remains a key technology for 
which there will always be a demand. We there
fore remain open to changes and want to partic
ipate in shaping the future. MANN+HUMMEL  
has identified sustainability, mobility and digita
lization as the transformation drivers for its busi
ness. The better we can master these, the more 
sustainably we will be able to shape the world of 
tomorrow.
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KEY FIGURES1

in EUR million 2018 2017

Sales 3,955 3,892

Operating profit or loss (EBIT) 94 185

As % of sales 2.4  % 4.8 %

Net profit or loss before income tax (EBITDA) 327 386

As % of sales 8.3 % 9.9 %

Net profit or loss before income tax and before the change to  
the capital economically attributable to the shareholders 16 128

As % of sales 0.4 % 3.3 %

Result from associates – 21 17

As % of sales – 0.5 % 0.4 %

Free-Cashflow – 37 164

As % of sales – 0.9 % 4.2 %

Total assets  3,921

Investments in tangible assets 154 164

Depreciation of tangible assets 118 114

Value added per employee in EUR thousand 83 92

Average number of employees 21,149 20,535

1 All figures are rounded. This may lead to minor discrepancies when totaling sums and when determining percentages.
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MANN+HUMMEL AT A GLANCE

All figures are rounded. This may lead to minor discrepancies when totaling sums and when determining percentages.

Sales

3,955
million euros

Investments in Research & Development

140
million euros

Employees

21,149
worldwide
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FOREWORD BY THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Dear ladies & gentlemen, 
dear business partners,

In 2018, the automotive industry was characterized by change, espe

cially in light of uncertainty caused by increasing trade disputes and 

the tightening monetary policy in the United States. These develop

ments also impacted our financial results.

Especially in times when we have to actively face challenges, I would 

like to emphasize that the global MANN+HUMMEL team is dedicated 

to creating the future together. On behalf of the management, I would 

like to express my sincere thanks to our more than 20,000 talented 

and ambitious employees for their commitment, passion and exper

tise. Every day, our global team in more than 80 locations on five con

tinents is committed to separate the useful from the harmful, actively 

shaping a sustainable world.

MANN + HUMMEL achieved the sales target of just under EUR 4 billion 

in 2018, thus recording the highest sales in the company’s history. At 

EUR 93.6m, however, EBIT was well below expectations and the level 

of the previous year.

Positioned adequately for the future, our business consists of two 

integral segments. The Automotive and Industrial Solutions busi

nesses form the Transportation segment, while the Life Science &  

Environment segment comprises Intelligent Air Solutions and Water 

Solutions.

In Transportation we achieved solid growth and we continue to invest 

actively in both Transportation and Life Science & Environment to 

successfully position MANN+HUMMEL for the future. Additionally, we 

utilize our almost 80 years of expertise in filtration to transfer tech

nologies to new markets. We also invest in research and development 

to drive relevant innovation that puts the needs of our customers first. 

In addition, digitalization and the increasing importance of connected 

and intelligent products are key aspects of MANN+HUMMEL’s current 

and future development.

Going forward, we intend to continue to strategically expand our 

“Leadership in Filtration” position in existing markets and to serve 

new markets through technology transfers. Our focus will continue 

to be on diversifying our product portfolio. Here, we use our core 

competencies as a leading provider of filtration solutions. Particularly 

in Asia, we see great potential for growth and the expansion of our 

market position.
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In order to continue to successfully position the traditional family 

owned company in a sustainable manner, extensive restructuring 

measures were initiated. We will continue to work vigorously on our 

efficiency and ensure profitable growth through targeted invest

ments.

With the reorganization of the leadership team, we redefined shared 

values that focus our actions entirely on our customers. Relevant 

innovation, leadership, trust through performance and quality, effi

ciency and speed as well as the delivery of excellent results are key 

priorities.

These shared values describe an active process of rethinking, initiat

ing a cultural change. Therefore, thank you to the employee represen

tatives, the shareholders and the Supervisory Board for taking this 

path together and actively shaping the future together.

On behalf of the entire workforce, I also want to thank our customers 

and business partners for their continued trust and partnership. We 

look forward to continuing our collaboration and are proud to share 

our passion and expertise to create a cleaner and greener world.

Yours sincerely

Werner Lieberherr

President & Chief Executive Officer

Leadership in Filtration

Our Values
     We 
FOCUS on our customers, 

      Develop
I NNOVATION, which is relevant, 

      Inspire
L EADERSHIP in everything we do, 

      Build 
TRUST through high integrity and quality performance, 

      Drive 
E MPOWERMENT to ensure speed of execution and 

     Deliver 
RESULTS, which excel.
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD

The Supervisory Board of MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH met 

three times in the year under review. The Management Board provid

ed us with detailed information about the current developments ver

bally and in writing. In addition to the current business performance, 

we regularly discussed the effects of global economic trends on the 

company and how to manage them. We also considered in depth the 

capital investment and human resources policy, the quality situation 

as well as the strategic alignment of the company and of the Group.

In the fiscal year 2018, the Supervisory Board once again continuously 

monitored the Management Board by examining and discussing the 

verbal and written reports of the Management Board in detail at the 

Supervisory Board meetings. The Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

also maintained constant contact with the Management Board. The 

Supervisory Board was satisfied as to the legality, appropriateness 

and regularity of the activities of the Management Board at all times.

The annual financial statements of MANN+HUMMEL International 

GmbH & Co. KG, MANN + HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH, the consoli

dated annual financial statements as well as the Group status report 

of the MANN+HUMMEL Group were audited by Ernst & Young GmbH, 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Flughafenstraße 61, 70629 Stutt

gart. All documents were issued with an unqualified audit opinion. 

The  Supervisory Board examined the annual financial statements, 

proposal for the appropriation of earnings, consolidated financial 

statements and Group status report in detail and was provided with 

a comprehensive report by the auditors regarding the results of their 

audits. The Supervisory Board approves the audit results without any 

reservations.

On March 5, 2018, Alfred Weber prematurely resigned from his 

role Chief Human Resources Officer and President & CEO. Emese 

 Weissenbacher was appointed as Chief Human Resources Officer, 

having resigned from the position with the appointment of Werner 

Lieberherr.  

In June 2018, by way of a written resolution, the Supervisory Board 

appointed Werner Lieberherr, industrial engineer, as Chief Human 

Resources Officer of MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH for the pe

riod from October 30, 2018 to June 30, 2021. Mr. Lieberherr succeeds 

Mr. Weber as President & CEO.  

The term of office of the Supervisory Board legally appointed in 2016 

ended with the 2018 spring meeting. The newly elected employee 

representatives to the Supervisory Board are Robert Grashei, Helga 

Huber, Ralph Kraut, Susanne Thomas and Gerhard Weis. The newly 

elected Supervisory Board held its inaugural meeting on May 17, 2018 

and elected Thomas Fischer as its Chairman. Josef Bechtel, Joachim 

Grüdl, Johann Huber, Konrad Ott and Nico Wetterich stepped down 

from the Supervisory Board.
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At its inaugural meeting, the Supervisory Board also formed a medi

ation committee in accordance with Section 27 (3) of the Codetermi

nation Act and a human resources committee.

Supervisory Board members Prof. Michael Bargende and Manfred 

Wolf resigned from their office of shareholder’s representatives on 

the Supervisory Board, effective from August 31, 2018. Dr. Johannes 

Fritz, who also represents Dr. Erich Hummel’s shareholder group, and 

Dr. Rolf Heintzeler were appointed as the new shareholder’s represen

tatives as of September 1, 2018.

On November 30, 2018, Hansjörg Herrmann prematurely resigned 

from his position on the Management Board.

For organizational and corporate reasons, Kai Knickmann and Josef 

Parzhuber resigned from their positions on the Management Board of 

MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH on December 31, 2018.   

The Supervisory Board thanks all retiring members of the Supervisory 

Board and the Management Board for their commendable work to the 

benefit of the company – in particular Mr. Weber, under whose leader

ship the company underwent profound change. The Supervisory Board 

also thanks the employees of MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH 

and its subsidiaries, the Management Board and the employee repre

sentatives for their successful efforts in the past fiscal year.

Ludwigsburg, May 2019

Thomas Fischer

Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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1 All figures are rounded. This may lead to minor discrepancies when totaling sums and when determining percentages.

GROUP STATUS REPORT 
OF MANN+HUMMEL INTERNATIONAL GMBH & CO. KG 20181
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Fundamentals of the group

MANN+HUMMEL is the leading global expert in filtration technology. 

The Group, which is based in Ludwigsburg, Germany and has more 

than 80 locations on five continents, provides filtration solutions on 

international markets in the businesstobusiness sector. 

At the start of the year under review, we restructured our busi

ness into two segments in order to focus our business activities and 

achieve sustainable growth across the Group. This reorganization was 

necessary in order to be able to consistently align our company with 

the future requirements of various parts markets. Our goal is to con

tinue to achieve Leadership in Filtration in the decades ahead – in all 

markets that require filtration solutions.  

In our business model up to December 31, 2017, we had five busi

ness units: Automotive Original Equipment (OE), Automotive After

market (AA), WixFiltron (WF), Industrial Filtration (IF) and Water 

Filtration (WA). Our new segments are broken down as follows:

•  Transportation encompasses the Original Equipment and After-
market business units. Through this, we serve the Original Equip

ment (OE) and Aftermarket (AM) needs of the automotive indus

try (Automotive Solutions) – for example with air filter systems, 

intake systems, liquid filter systems and plastic components. We 

also supply our filtration solutions to industry (Industrial Solu

tions). This segment includes the former business units Automo

tive Original Equipment, Automotive Aftermarket, WIXFiltron 

and Industrial Filtration.

•  Life Sciences & Environment is divided into the Intelligent Air 
Solutions and Water Solutions business units. In LS&E we work 

on pioneering solutions for air and water filtration. Our air fil

tration portfolio includes filters for indoor and outdoor spaces, 

cleanrooms and industrial applications – in the area of cabin air 

filtration we also provide antiallergy and antimicrobial func

tions. We provide solutions for offices, schools, commercial and 

industrial buildings as well as for potentially explosive atmo

spheres such as offshore oil rigs. Stationary systems for the fil

tration of particulate matter and nitrogen dioxide further expand 

our product offering for improving outdoor air quality. Our exper

tise in water filtration includes wastewater treatment as well as 

special applications in the food sector. 

GROUP STATUS REPORT

Transportation

 Life Science & Environment

Leadership  
in FiltrationAutomotive Solutions

•  Original Equipment  
(Passenger Cars +  
Heavy Duty & Industrial) 

•  Aftermarket

Industrial Solutions 

Intelligent Air Solutions

Water Solutions

Group business model of MANN+HUMMEL
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Increasingly, we are also offering crosssegment digital services and 

intelligent solutions that meet the specific needs of our customers: 

networking of our products via the internet (Internet of Things, IoT), 

cloud connectivity for data analysis, algorithms and userfriendly 

apps.

The Transportation segment accounts for around 96 percent of 

our sales, while LS&E contributes just under 4 percent. From a strate

gic perspective, both business segments serve the growing demand 

for innovative filtration products. The development of alternative 

transport solutions, the digitization of products and processes as 

well as sustainability are some of the drivers of our business. We are 

continuously applying the filtration expertise acquired over the last 

78 years to innovative services and applications. Our vision of “Lead

ership in Filtration” and our mission of “Separate the useful from the 

harmful” will in future also apply to all possible applications that can 

be combined under the umbrella of sustainability.    

Our aim is to increase our focus on the needs of our customers 

and become more competitive through efficient growth. To achieve 

this, we will standardize processes in order to then consolidate them 

and outsource them to service centers. This should reduce costs and 

establish a strong service culture at MANN+HUMMEL. Customer ori

entation will be the focus of all activities here. The standardization 

of corporate processes is the key prerequisite for driving digitization.   

We have also simplified and centralized Groupwide management 

processes. Decisions can thus be made faster and our company can 

act more dynamically. The new management system necessitated 

adaptation of the financial system. Since completion of the transfor

mation, the financial system provides key figures and reports in accor

dance with the new Groupwide responsibilities. 

We adapted the organizational structure of our Group in line with 

the project objectives. This gives us the opportunity to utilize global 

synergies and best practices, in order to work more efficiently and 

better serve our current and future markets. As a result, as of Janu

ary  1, 2019, local and regional functions from Controlling & Finance 

and HR report directly to the key functions. 

Research and development

Demand for filtration solutions will continue to grow worldwide in the 

future. This opens up opportunities for our company in existing and 

in new markets. We have our sights set on both. We are constantly 

working to strengthen our product portfolio and apply our filtration 

expertise to new areas of business. In the area of alternative drive 

technologies, for example, we are already offering our customers 

 pioneering solutions for fuel cell and highvolt battery systems, in

cluding filter elements and systems for fluid circuits in battery sys

tems. Increasingly, we are working on products that are linked with 

digital services and networked via the Internet, as well as cloud con

nectivity or userfriendly apps, where a focus on the customer is the 

benchmark for all development activity.

We are also driving the development of components and entire 

systems in existing business units. We integrate numerous functions 

in these systems and make them intelligent through the use of sen

sors, actuators and controllers. Connectivity to cloud solutions is also 

possible. We are therefore working on intelligent products and solu

tions that can identify or even prevent problems. And it is thanks to 

these options, coupled with our system expertise, that we are winning 

more and more technically challenging customer projects in all areas 

of filtration and strengthening our position as market leader. 
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Over 1,200 people worldwide are working on the research and de

velopment of innovative products for the MANN+HUMMEL Group. In 

2018, the company spent EUR  140 million (3.5 percent of sales) on 

research and development activities. During the year under review, 

the Group submitted over 100 patent applications.  

The MANN+HUMMEL Group’s research and development loca

tions are divided into Centers of Competence, which have the au

thority to issue guidelines, as well as regional clusters (Engineering 

Centers) and local research and development locations (Application 

Centers). In addition, the Group set up the Internet of Things Lab (IoT 

Lab) in Singapore in 2016, which develops digital products and ser

vices.  

Transportation  
We develop products and innovations to make the mobility of the fu

ture cleaner. With the brake dust particle filter and the particulate fil-
ter of our Fine Dust Eater technology platform, we are already making 

mobility particle emission neutral.  

The Fine Dust Eater is a best practice example of a comprehen

sive technology platform at MANN+HUMMEL. It brings together nu

merous technologies and competencies in order to develop market

able solutions for the Transportation and LS&E segments. The digital 

technology platform incorporates a series of networked solutions for 

particulate matter filtration: brake dust particle filters, particulate fil

ters and NO2 particulate combined filters. The collected data is stored 

in the cloud and analyzed.

Braking in city traffic causes many times more particulate matter than 

exhaust gases. Brake dust thus contributes significantly to particulate 

pollution resulting from road traffic. Our newly developed brake dust 
particle filter reduces the particulate matter generated by vehicles 

during braking by up to 80 percent. It can be used in vehicles with 

any type of drive, from electric and hybrid vehicles through to con

ventional gasoline or diesel vehicles. The system is still in the testing 

stage, but is already generating a great deal of customer interest. We 

are in dialog with wellknown passenger car OEMs and brake manu

facturers, as well as with manufacturers of trailers in the Heavy Duty 

OnRoad segment.  

Particulate filters, yet another part of our Fine Dust Eater 

 technology platform, remove particulate matter from the air. Here, 

MANN+HUMMEL has developed both stationary solutions for public 

spaces as well as mobile solutions. This technology can offset not 

only the particulate matter emitted via the exhaust system, but also 

many other vehiclerelated particulate emissions. Vehicles can thus 

compensate for the particle emissions that they produce.

MANN+HUMMEL celebrated a world premiere with the first fully 
integrated charge air cooler in an intake manifold. The product offers 

more constant and more effective charge air cooling and with that a 

CO2 saving of up to 3 percent. The principle of complete integration of 

the charge air cooler reduces the number of components and makes 

the entire module more robust.

In 2018, we continued to work on the development of the concept 

and managed to secure important contracts on the basis of the new 

generation.  

Our RobustPlus pressure control valve launched in 2017 offers 

impressive chemical and mechanical resistance in crankcase ventila

tion systems for passenger cars. We successfully launched it on the 

market in 2018 and won a number of projects during the year under 

review, with series production due to start in 2021.

With our filter for water injection in highperformance gasoline 

engines we positioned an innovative solution in a new product seg

ment. Here we also won our first contracts, and series production is 

set to begin over the coming years. The water fine filter protects the 

injectors of the water injection system and thus makes a significant 

contribution to reducing emissions in gasoline vehicles.

Following an intensive development process, we brought a highly 

complex heavy duty fuel filter system with an innovative diesel fuel 

filter element with threestage water separation to series production. 

In doing so, we achieved the goals we had set for ourselves: a very 

high level of functional integration in the fuel filter system as well as 

the utmost in filtration performance with the pure glass fiber medium.  

We have successfully designed, developed and brought to mar

ket the first transmission oil filters for particle filtration to protect 

electric axles in electric vehicles. This was made possible by rapid 

development involving close cooperation with our customers. At the 

same time, we are expanding our existing portfolio of transmission 

oil filters and applying solutions from the lubricating oil and hydraulic 

sector to transmission oil applications.
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Our new air filter concept Exalife has been specifically designed to 

make optimal use of the reduced installation space in modern com

mercial vehicles, while also enabling bestinclass air filtration. With 

the second Exalife air filter system series production launch last year, 

the concept has established itself on the market and will increasingly 

be used for future commercial vehicle generations.

The twostage standard air filter series ENTARON HD deliv

ers excellent installation space flexibility and is significantly smaller 

than comparable air filters. The initial separation efficiency is more 

than 99.75  percent and the final filtration efficiency is more than 

99.99 percent. The air filter is available in four different sizes and has 

a patentprotected main element.

Newly developed filter media with nanofiber technology, which 

we use in cabin air filters, deliver HEPAlevel (High Efficiency Partic

ulate Air Filter) separation performance. They thus offer continuous, 

highquality occupant protection against very fine particles. Along 

with particle separation, efficient gas adsorption is critical for cabin 

air filters. With our special combination filter media, we can efficiently 

remove nitrogen dioxide and other harmful gases from the air. We 

consistently enhanced the gas adsorption technology platform in 

2018 and developed a number of new products for fuel cell cathode 

air filters, indoor air cleaners and kitchen exhaust air filters with var

ious customers.  

The second generation of our StarBox took second place in the En

ergy Efficiency category at the BadenWuerttemberg Environmental 

Technology Awards. The StarBox2 achieves a significant increase 

in energy efficiency in air deoiling for compressors and reduces the 

energy requirement over the service life of a compressor by around 

20 percent.  

We received an Innovation Award from one of our US customers 

for our Easy Change product. Easy Change is an oilfilled spinon fil

ter, which allows fast and easy filter replacement thanks to a bayonet 

lock. The product has been in series production since early 2018.  

Life Sciences & Environment

Intelligent Air Solutions

In our Intelligent Air Solutions business unit, we bring together our 

decades of experience and our extensive knowledge in the areas of 

filtration and air purity. Intelligent Air Solutions offers air filters for 

indoor spaces, cleanrooms, energy generation and industrial applica

tions as well as solutions for clean outdoor air.

The Fine Dust Eater technology platform consolidates compe

tencies across multiple segments. Along with developments for the 

Transportation segment, it develops solutions for the LS&E seg

ment  – such as the stationary particulate filter as well as the Filter 

Cube. The stationary particulate filter – like the mobile solution from 

the Transportation segment – draws around 80 percent of the partic

ulate  matter from the ambient air. The particulate filters are installed 

together with energyefficient ventilators in stationary units called 

 Filter Cubes. Operation of the particulate filters can be adapted to 

the respective air quality using a control unit. Integrated sensors re

cord air and weather data, which is merged and analyzed in a cloud. 

The Filter Cubes are suitable for outdoor use as well as for large 

closed and semiclosed spaces (for example, underground stations).  

With our newly developed Filter Cube we aim to reduce fine 

dust pollution in public spaces, such as the Neckartor in Stuttgart. 

This pilot project is sponsored by the BadenWuerttemberg Ministry 

of Transport and supported by the state capital Stuttgart. Along a 

300 meter section of road, there are 17 filter columns installed (each 

with three Filter Cubes). The filter columns remove 40 percent of the 

particulate matter emitted by passing vehicles. Fine dust pollution 

can therefore potentially be reduced by between 10 and 30 percent 

for residents along this section of road. Once testing is completed, we 

intend to offer this solution worldwide.

In the middle of the year, we introduced our new FreciousComfort  
filter series for air conditioning and ventilation technology, whose 

technology we have been using successfully in small spaces in ve

hicles under the name FreciousPlus for some time now. Unlike con

ventional particulate filters, the series features antiallergy and an

timicrobial functions. The filters bind fine dust as well as airborne 

allergens and suppress the growth of mold and bacteria on the filter 

medium. This protects people against allergic reactions and improves 

wellbeing in indoor spaces.  
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During the year under review, we also introduced our new Pro ATEX 
product range (ATEX stands for Atmosphères Explosibles, Directive 

of the European Union). It is installed in air conditioning and ventila

tion systems in potentially explosive atmospheres. The series is set to 

be expanded in 2019, and our company will then have one of the most 

comprehensive ATEX ranges for air conditioning and ventilation sys

tems on the market. The product family has been tested and verified 

by an independent and accredited institute.  

Other highlights from research and development include our new 

air filters Aircube Pro Power S and Nanoclass Cube Pro Power S for 

gas turbines. Thanks to an innovative synthetic filter medium, the fil

ters are also suitable for the challenging operating conditions found 

on offshore oil rigs. The new filters from MANN+HUMMEL are robust 

and reliable, reduce the total running costs for turbine operators and 

protect their investment from operating failures.

In 2018, MANN+HUMMEL was an exhibitor at CES, the Inter-
national Consumer Electronics Show in Las Vegas, for the second 

time. CES is one of the largest and most important trade fairs for 

digital technology and consumer electronics. For the intelligent air 

filter monitor Senzit, MANN+HUMMEL was nominated for the CES 

2018 Innovation Award. In November 2018, it was also announced 

that the Fine Dust Eater and qlair (air quality manager) technology 

platforms have been nominated for the CES 2019 Innovation Award. 

 MANN+HUMMEL presented a number of new digital solutions at CES 

2018, including the OurAir product range from our portfolio. 

OurAir is our brand for intelligent filtration solutions for indoor air 

in buildings. The solution comprises three components, which enable 

indoor air quality to be measured, improved and controlled using dig

ital solutions: 

•  Firstly, there are the OurAir air quality sensors, which continuous

ly measure the quality of the indoor air, taking various contami

nation parameters into account. This ensures transparency with 

regard to the status quo. 

•  Secondly, we have the OurAir app and connected web portal, 

which reliably monitor this data virtually in real time. They pro

vide uptodate reports on the air quality inside and outside a 

building.

•  Thirdly, we have highquality HVAC filters (HVAC: Heating, Ven

tilation, Air Conditioning) and indoor air purification systems, 

which clean poorquality indoor air by removing pollutants, aller

gens, bacteria, formaldehyde and other substances. 

OurAir is suitable for office buildings, hotels, schools as well as oth

er public or commercial buildings. With solution packages such as 

OurAir we are expanding our traditional customer base. We therefore 

also offer OurAir as a Platform as a Service (PaaS) – for intelligent air 

management including the appropriate hardware, software, applica

tions and Big Data Analytics. 

Water Solutions

Our worldwide development activities in water filtration are coordi

nated by MICRODYNNADIR in Wiesbaden. The global manufacturer 

of membranes and modules for water filtration has been a member of 

the MANN+HUMMEL Group since early 2015. Its activities are focused 

on water filtration and wastewater treatment as well as on processes 

and special applications, for example in the food sector. 

Recycling and wastewater treatment are among the greatest 

challenges facing us today. We use advanced products and innovative 

technologies in our efforts to achieve the goal of sustainable water 

management in industry and at municipal level. 

During the year under review, we introduced our new MICRODYN 
BIO-CEL® L MBR module (membrane bioreactor). It offers 360de

gree access, making the module easier to clean and maintain. With the 

open design of the flat sheet membrane laminate, MICRODYNNADIR 

is once again setting new standards for the handling of MBR modules. 

Thanks to this new design, the module offers more effective cleaning 

and thus guarantees a longer service life and consistent performance 

that won’t diminish over time. Along with its “selfhealing properties”, 

easier servicing, stability and reliability help set the BIOCEL L apart 

from competitor MBR products. BIOCEL modules are also easier and 

safer to access for operators when performing regular maintenance.
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There is growing awareness of the problem of micro plastics and 

multiresistant germs in wastewater. Given the prospect of a legal 

regulation governing microcontaminants and multiresistant germs 

in sewage treatment plants, wastewater associations in Germany are 

increasingly taking an interest in this issue.

One solution example is our BIO-CEL® activated carbon process. 

It is currently in development and offers a costeffective retrofitting 

option for existing conventional sewage treatment plants. 

In this context, we initiated a project together with the waste man

agement services of the state capital Wiesbaden (ELW), engineering 

firm UNGER Ingenieure, Darmstadt University of Applied Sciences 

and the IWAR Institute of TU Darmstadt. We have started testing the 

BIOCEL® activated carbon process in the main sewage treatment 

plant of ELW and at the same time are conducting a scientific review 

to determine whether multiresistant germs and microcontaminants 

are being removed effectively. Once testing is completed, we intend 

to upgrade the sewage treatment plant with our BIOCEL technology. 

Our current activities are limited to testing in Germany. In the long 

term we will market our product worldwide. 

Corporate Ventures
In 2018, MANN+HUMMEL Corporate Ventures expanded its portfo

lio with the acquisition of two further stakes – in Gigabase, Inc. and  

Get Spiffy, Inc. These investments reflect the wide range of areas in 

which MANN+HUMMEL can support startups on the path to growth. 

Gigabase, Inc. (GIGA) is an international organization that com

bines the development of building standards with cloud technology 

to improve access to and the efficiency of healthy buildings world

wide. GIGA develops and manages the RESET standardization and 
certification program. RESET is first and foremost a standard for data 

quality, particularly with respect to sensor and cloud technology. As 

part of this cooperation, MANN+HUMMEL became one of the first 

accredited RESET providers and supports developers in achieving 

certification.

In June 2018, MANN+HUMMEL Ventures invested in Get Spiffy, 

Inc. (Spiffy), a provider of mobile car care services based in Raleigh, 

USA. Spiffy grew by almost 100 percent compared with the previous 

year. This shows that customers will be proactive when it comes to 

vehicle care and maintenance as long as it is both easy and conve

nient for them. Spiffy’s core product is an environmentally friendly 

car wash. Owners can have their cars washed while they are at work, 

for example. Spiffy reclaims all of the water used, making the service 

completely environmentally friendly. In 2018, Spiffy had locations in 

five US cities and continues to grow. Spiffy recorded its biggest growth 

in the mobile oil change business. In the USA, MANN+HUMMEL intends 

to engage in joint marketing with Spiffy under the IAM product brand 

Purolator.
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Overall economic and industry- 
specific conditions
Global economic development 2018
There was a noticeable slowdown in global economic performance over 

the course of 2018. The economic mood was generally gloomy. Con

tributing factors were, on the one hand, uncertainty caused by escalat

ing conflict in the area of trade policy and, on the other, a tightening of 

monetary policy in the USA. The global economy grew by 3.7 percent 

over the year as a whole – similar to the previous year.  1

The economic situation in the USA was positive throughout the 

year, and the economy grew by 2.9 percent. The growth rate of the 

Chinese economy in 2018 was 6.5  percent on the previous year. In 

Brazil, the economic outlook is positive. In the year under review, the 

economy grew by 1.2 percent. The Russian economy grew by 1.7 per

cent. The Central Bank and oil prices supported the ruble. The German 

economy grew by 1.8 percent in 2018. Economic research institutes 

estimated growth within the euro zone as a whole to be at 2.0 per

cent. 2

Automotive market situation
Growth 3 in automotive markets worldwide varied in 2018. The Euro

pean passenger car market maintained the high level achieved in the 

previous year, with a total of 15.6 million new passenger cars regis

tered. The USA recorded a slight increase in the year under review. 

The market for light vehicles ended the year with 17.2 million vehicles 

sold, slightly more than the previous year. Specifically, passenger car 

sales fell by 13 percent, whereas sales in the light truck segment rose 

by 8 percent. In China, the passenger car market volume fell by almost 

4 percent to 23.3 million new vehicles in 2018 – the first decline in de

cades. The country’s trade dispute with the USA was a major factor. In 

India, sales grew by 5 percent in 2018, with 3.4 million units sold. The 

market in Russia continued to recover in 2018 with sales of 1.8 million 

new vehicles recorded, representing an increase of 13  percent over 

the volume for the previous year. The Brazilian market for light vehi

cles grew strongly in the year 2018 as a whole. Sales of new vehicles 

increased by 14 percent to just under 2.5 million vehicles.

Non-automotive air filtration market situation
The global market for nonautomotive air filtration grew by 4 percent 

in 2018, with the largest growth push coming from the AsiaPacific 

region. The drivers of growth were increasing demand for energyef

ficient products on the one hand, and global interest in indoor and 

outdoor air quality on the other. On the customer side, the market 

continued to consolidate and is dominated by facility management 

companies operating large facilities.  

Water filtration market situation
In the year under review, the global water filtration market grew by 

7 percent. AsiaPacific was again the fastestgrowing region. Demand 

for water filtration products is being driven by a number of factors: 

a growing urban population, increasing water pollution, increasing 

health awareness, stricter regulations for drinking water and waste

water treatment and more consistent enforcement of new regula

tions.  

ECONOMIC REPORT

 1  https://www.ifwkiel.de/fileadmin/Dateiverwaltung/IfWPublications/ifw/ 
Konjunktur/Prognosetexte/deutsch/2018/KKB_49_2018Q4_Welt_DE.pdf 

2 VDA Economic Barometer, VDA (Berlin), December 2018

3  https://www.vda.de/de/presse/Pressemeldungen/20190116internationale 
automobilkonjunktur2018mitrobusterjahresbilanz.html
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4  https://de.statista.com/infografik/16546/entwicklungderpkw 
neuzulassungenindeutschland/

5  http://carsalesbase.com/globalcarsales2018/

Business trends  

Transportation

Original Equipment

In 2018, we increased sales in the Original Equipment business unit in 

comparison to the previous year. Although we recorded a sales slump 

in the AsiaPacific region (APAC), sales growth in the other regions 

offset this decline. In Europe we achieved satisfactory sales growth, 

while the trend in the American market was very positive. Broken 

down by segment, there was a slight increase in the Passenger Car 

business area, while sales in Heavy Duty OffRoad/Industrial were en

couraging and HeavyDuty OnRoad performed very well.  

In the Passenger Car business area, we recorded slight growth 

compared to the previous year, The target figures for 2018 were 

achieved. There was a slump in diesel markets in Europe and there 

were signs of a clear trend toward vehicles with gasoline engines 

along with the first indicators of growth for hybrid vehicles. Despite 

the negative market dynamics, there was no significant decline in the 

overall passenger car market (under six tons). There was no sign of a 

“Brexit effect” on our business in 2018 due to the United Kingdom’s 

impending withdrawal from the European Union, but this can be ex

pected in 2019.  

There were compliance issues following the introduction of the new 

Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicle Test Procedure (WLTP), but 

these were largely resolved by the end of the year under review. This 

did not have any influence on MANN+HUMMEL sales.

The German automotive market remained stable throughout 

2018 4. Some of our German plants experienced very high capacity 

utilization due to the very large number of new products as well as 

increased demand for the existing product range. Supply could be 

guaranteed thanks to excellent cooperation in our international pro

duction network. Due to significant market demand, we stepped up 

our business activities in emobility products and brake dust particle 

filters in 2018.  

Our business in Asia was dominated by the slight downward 

trend in the Chinese market, which affected mainly manufacturers 

of minivans and classic passenger cars under six tons. Manufactur

ers of Sport Utility Vehicles (SUVs), on the other hand, saw demand 

increase sharply compared with the previous year. Our Indian plant 

recorded very weak sales in the Passenger Car business area in 2018 5.

In the USA, the shift from classic Passenger Car to SUV continued 

in 2018. Two major US automakers responded by reducing passen

ger car production and deciding to cease production of a number of 

passenger car models. Apart from deliveries for a vehicle model, we 

will be largely unaffected by this planned restructuring. In the year 

under review, as in previous years, we further expanded our air filter 

business. Sales for our plant in Brazil continued to recover.  

Our Heavy Duty (HD) OnRoad segment performed well in 2018 and 

recorded a positive sales increase. Along with the market launch and 

startup of new products in Europe, we benefited from the positive 

economic situation in the European market and America. There was 

a decline in business in Asia, characterized by a slowdown or leveling 

off of the principal market, China, after a strong year in 2017.  

Oil filter modules and air filters continue to dominate our HD 

OnRoad business area. In the year under review 2018, we launched 

complex and highly efficient fuel filter modules for the protection of 

modern injection systems.

In the HD OffRoad/Industrial business area we recorded 

aboveaverage growth in 2018. The driving forces were, along with 

the continued positive economic situation, the launch of new prod

ucts and applications as well as the additional sales achieved thanks 

to new customers. Europe remains our most important market, with 

the rest of our sales divided equally between the markets in the Amer

icas and Asia. We will continue to balance this regional distribution in 

the future with orders from new customers, primarily in Asia and the 

USA. These orders will secure the growth of HD OffRoad/Industrial.  

Filters for construction and agricultural machinery as well as 

compressors will remain the pillars of our HD OffRoad/Industrial 

business area. While there was significant sales growth for products 

for construction and agricultural machinery in 2018, there was a slight 

decrease in the compressor business compared to 2017.  
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6  https://www.ihknord.de/produktmarken/maritimewirtschaftinfrastruktur 
seeverkehr/konjunkturmaritimewirtschaftherbst_2018/4286726

The Industrial and Large Engines sector remained stable overall 

 despite our business in Asia not performing as well as expected.  

This was due to the transfer of a major liquid filter project to a com

petitor company. Industrial Applications, which includes the Machine 

Tool, Railway Applications and Custom Applications segments, per

formed well. The market environment for Marine Applications was 

challenging in 2018. There was a slowdown in economic activity 

compared with the previous year. While the business climate in the 

shipping industry deteriorated significantly, declines in shipbuilding 

were limited 6.

We also received a number of customer awards in the year under 

review. We received the Supplier of the Year Award from a major US 

customer for the 26th time for our performance in the area of air in

take systems. We also received the Supplier Innovation Award from 

one of our industrial customers for a new spinon filter concept.  

Aftermarket

In the Independent Aftermarket (IAM) business area, we successfully 

expanded our business for the MANNFILTER, WIX Filters and FILTRON  

product brands, despite continuing market consolidation in Europe. 

However, sales were still below expectations. In Asia, we achieved 

growth with MANNFILTER and WIX Filters in the respective curren

cies. However, this positive trend was adversely affected by negative 

exchange rate effects. In the MEA region (Middle East and Africa), 

we recorded modest growth despite political crises and an embargo 

on Iran.

Our MANNFILTER product range was expanded to include 200 new 

types, thus consolidating the market coverage of over 97 percent for 

the European vehicle segment.  

In the USA, we entered into a partnership with Febreze, a Procter 

& Gamble brand, creating a cabin air filter range with triplelayer pro

tection under the Purolator BOSS product brand.

The Aftermarket business with automotive manufacturers (OES) 

performed well during the last fiscal year, particularly in Europe. This 

development is the result of the success enjoyed by MANN+HUMMEL 

in the Original Equipment business in recent years. In China, the gen

eral economic trend in the automotive sector also had an impact on 

the OES business, resulting in significantly lower growth rates com

pared to previous years. Business remained stable in North America, 

while in South America there were signs of recovery, particularly in 

Brazil in the aftermath of the economic crisis. Business in India per

formed very well, with significant increases in sales thanks to the se

curing of a number of orders.

Life Sciences & Environment   
In the year under review, the Life Sciences & Environment segment 

recorded an aboveaverage increase in sales. This significant increase 

can be attributed primarily to the acquisition of the TriDim Filter Cor

poration, but also to the organic growth of this segment.  

The acquisition of US air filter company Tri-Dim Filter Corpora-
tion by MANN+HUMMEL was a significant milestone in 2018. TriDim 

specializes in air filtration solutions for a variety of commercial and 

industrial applications such as hospitals, schools, automobile plants 

and paint shops, data centers as well as the food and beverage indus

try. The Group is thus extending its range of innovative air filtration 

solutions in order to exploit new opportunities for growth beyond the 

automotive industry.

In the area of air filtration we are focusing on our key customers 

and on winning major projects. Our close relationships with our cus

tomers are often the decisive factory when it comes to being selected 

as a supplier.  

In 2018, we were awarded the contract for Scandinavia’s largest 

service company, which has provided our company with a major con

tract for the next two years.

In the energy generation business segment, we continue to gen

erate significant sales outside of Europe through partnerships and ex

ports. As one of the leading providers of filtration solutions for energy 

generation, we received orders for two major power generation proj

ects in Asia. These made a significant contribution to our total sales. 

“Protecting life where it is most vulnerable” is our motto when it 

comes to cleanrooms, particularly in operating rooms. This year we 

won two major projects in Germany for laminar flow operation room 

ceilings, including our biggest ever contract in this area.

In the year under review, MICRODYNNADIR acquired the compa

ny OLTREMARE based in Fano, Italy. OLTREMARE is a leading Euro

pean manufacturer of customized spiralwound membrane elements 

and markets products for reverse osmosis and ion exchange. With 

this acquisition we are expanding our range of membrane filtration 
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products. We can now offer our global customer base even more 

product options. This will enable us to expand our market share in 

the water, wastewater, process applications and special applications 

segments in the medium to long term and accelerate our growth in 

the water filtration industry – in a future market offering enormous 

opportunities.  

In April 2018, MICRODYNNADIR was awarded the contract to 

supply a membrane surface of over 2.1  million square feet (almost 

200,000 m²) for a membrane bioreactor wastewater plant with 

 BIOCEL technology in Chengdu, China. In May 2018, MICRODYN 

NADIR established a new BIOCEL production line in Austin, Texas, 

and launched the next generation of the BIOCEL L module, which 

has a membrane surface of 5,166 square feet (480 m²).

In June 2018, MICRODYNNADIR successfully consolidated its 

production locations for spiral wound modules from four to three. 

MICRODYNNADIR now has one location in the USA, one in Europe 

and one in Asia. As a result, customers worldwide can be served 

from local production locations. In the third quarter of 2018, further 

strategic steps were defined with a view to driving growth over the 

coming years and merging the expanded organization. In the fourth 

quarter, new machinery was acquired to increase production capacity 

worldwide and at the same time guarantee a global standard. MICRO

DYNNADIR ended the year with record sales.

Finances 

Results of operation of the MANN+HUMMEL Group 
In the year under review, our sales increased slightly by 1.6 percent to 

EUR 3,955.3 million (previous year EUR 3,892.1 million). Exchange rate 

effects had a negative impact on sales growth. Adjusted for these ef

fects – and valued at the previous year’s rates – our Group sales would 

have been 5.4 percent higher yearonyear at EUR 4,100.9 million and 

therefore in line with our forecast for the previous year. The inclusion 

of the TriDim companies (four months from the date of acquisition) 

led to an increase in sales of EUR 42.4 million. Furthermore, the in

clusion of Oltremare in Italy for the first time led to sales growth of 

EUR 20.6 million.

Our EBIT – operating profit or loss – deteriorated significantly 

compared to the previous year. It fell by EUR 91.5 million or 49.4 per

cent to EUR  93.6  million.  The result was influenced by major one

off effects: extraordinary impairments on intangible assets amount

ing to EUR 40 million as well as provisions for the reorganization of 

production plants and other restructuring measures amounting to 

EUR  13.6 million. We were therefore unable to achieve our forecast 

from the previous year of an operating margin in the midsingledigit 

range.

In addition to EBIT, ROCE (Return on Capital Employed) also serves 

as a key performance indicator for the Group. ROCE is defined as the 

return on capital employed to generate the reported EBIT. In the year 

under review, the calculated return on capital employed amounted to 

4.2 percent (previous year 8.2 percent) and was also lower as a result 

of the aforementioned oneoff effects. ROCE also fell short of the pre

vious year’s forecast for 2018.  

As a consequence of the unsatisfactory earnings situation, the 

Management Board decided to implement a EUR 60 million cost re

structuring program in 2019.  

The backlog of outstanding orders amounts to approximately 

EUR 1,058 million and is thus EUR 441 million lower than the previous 

year.  

The cost of sales increased by EUR  133.9  million yearonyear; 

viewed as a percentage, this represents an increase from 76.1 percent 

to 78.2 percent. For this reason, the percentage gross margin on sales 

worsened in 2018, decreasing to 21.8 percent (previous year 23.9 per

cent). There are three reasons for the deterioration in the gross mar

gin: changes in the product mix, increasing material prices and oper

ating inefficiencies at various production locations.    

Research and development costs amounted to EUR 139.8 million 

in the year under review; they increased slightly in relation to sales 

from 3.4 percent to 3.5 percent. This illustrates the importance of in

vesting in new technologies and the associated strategic alignment of 

our company – despite virtually no change in sales.  
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Selling expenses amounted to EUR 402.9 million, which is almost on 

a par with the previous year (previous year: EUR 399.7 million). Gen

eral administrative expenses, however, increased to EUR 180.5 million 

(previous year: EUR  164.1  million). The MANN+HUMMEL Group will 

counter this increase in the 2019 fiscal year with sustainable costre

ducing measures. The change in the total amount of other operating 

income and expenses contributed EUR  5.5  million to the improve

ment in earnings. Both items fell in relation to sales from 1.3 percent 

to 1.1 percent. This reduction can be attributed to realized and nonre

alized exchange rate effects as well as reduced project costs. In the 

year under review, the Group also generated earnings from the sale of 

land and buildings in the amount of EUR 5.4 million.

The net financial result in 2018 was down EUR 20.6 million com

pared with the previous year. This results primarily from negative fluc

tuations in the value of the existing securities portfolio. Expenditure 

for interest from the granting of loans and for interest from factoring 

relations also increased.  

Tax expenses increased significantly compared with the previous 

year. This was due primarily to the writedown of deferred tax assets 

on temporary differences and existing loss carryforwards.

Financial position of the MANN+HUMMEL Group  
Taking into account the capital economically attributable to the 

shareholders, MANN+HUMMEL has an equity ratio of 21.6 percent. It is 

planned to gradually increase the equity ratio over the coming years.  

The Group is conservatively financed with financial instruments that 

have a long term and fixed interest rates. Loans are denominated 

mainly in euros. We have also taken out foreign currency loans in 

US dollars.  

Most of the loans are set to mature over the next six years. Ad

ditional instruments that we use – our green promissory note loan 

(Green SSD) as well as registered bonds (NSV) – have substantial 

amounts and terms up to 2034. The interest rates are predominantly 

fixed.  

In 2018, a tranche of our Green SSD in the amount of approxi

mately EUR  65  million was due for repayment. We also took out a 

fiveyear bilateral loan in the amount of USD 50  million, which we 

used to finance the acquisition of US air filter company TriDim Filter 

Corporation.  

In the year under review, we increased our credit lines from 

EUR 500 million to EUR 853 million in order to secure the tranches of 

our Green SSD amounting to EUR 350 million that are set to mature in 

2020. As at the balance sheet date, EUR 832 million of the committed 

credit lines had not been utilized. There were no further significant 

changes in main lending conditions compared to the previous year.  

There was no significant change in offbalancesheet liabilities 

and contingent liabilities in comparison to the previous year. The indi

vidual items of the other financial liabilities are presented under arti

cle 34 in the notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

Investments in tangible assets in the past fiscal year amounted 

to EUR 154.1 million, EUR 9.4 million lower than the previous year. The 

Group thus invested 3.9 percent of its sales in tangible assets. Fur

thermore, EUR 12 million was invested in intangible assets (previous 

year EUR 6.1 million). Major investments were made in the Europe

an region and related primarily to the procurement of production 

equipment for customer projects. Investments aimed at increasing 

efficiency at the production locations of the MANN+HUMMEL Group 

were also made. In addition to the investments in Europe, significant 

investments were also made in the America and Asia regions.

During the year under review, there was sufficient liquidity for our 

investments in new customer projects. We financed them with oper

ational cash flow.  

Cash flow from operating activities fell by EUR  96  million to 

EUR 233 million compared with the previous year and was due main

ly to the lower operating result. Higher investments in net current 

assets also contributed to a deterioration. Cash outflows for invest

ment activities also increased yearonyear from EUR 165 million to 

EUR 270 million. While overall investment in tangible and intangible 

assets was almost on a par with the previous year, payments for com

pany acquisitions rose significantly to EUR 127.2 million. This was due 

primarily to the acquisition of TriDim in the USA. The Free Cashflow 

as at the end of the fiscal year amounted to EUR 37.2 million (previ

ous year EUR 163.9 million).  

In contrast, the cash flow for financial activities fell from 

EUR 220.3 million to EUR 25.56 million. This is largely the result of 

reduced cash outflows from the raising and repayment of loans as 

well as financial assets.  
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There were no liquidity shortfalls in the year under review and none 

are expected in the future. MANN+HUMMEL has a stable, adequate 

liquidity position. The Group also has access to sufficient credit lines 

to completely fulfill financial liabilities on their maturity.  

There are no early repayment obligations. These would only arise 

in the event of a breach of contractual provisions, which thus involves 

no risk for MANN+HUMMEL.  

In our view, there are currently no constraints with respect to the 

availability of capital.  

For additional information, we refer to the details in the notes.  

Net assets and cash flows of the MANN+HUMMEL Group
Total assets increased slightly by 0.4 percent or EUR 17 million; as at 

the balance sheet date they amounted to EUR 3,938 million (Decem

ber 31, 2017: EUR 3,921 million).  

Intangible assets rose overall by EUR 20.6 million to EUR 1,060 mil

lion.

This includes the values for goodwill derived from the purchase 

price allocation of the TriDim Filter Corporation as well as the oth

er acquired intangible assets in the amount of EUR 91.6 million. The 

planned depreciations arising from the acquisition of WixFiltron as 

well as the planned depreciations arising from extraordinary impair

ment assets led to a reduction in intangible assets. 

Tangible assets increased slightly by EUR  28.2  million to 

EUR 963.1 million, with a total volume of investment in tangible assets 

of EUR 154.1 million.

Inventories also rose by EUR  54.4  million as a result of further 

business development. However, it should be taken into account that 

inventories in the amount of EUR  17.6 million were acquired by the 

Group within the IFRS main business combinations. In addition, it was 

necessary to build up inventories at the US locations due to an im

pending system changeover.  

Trade receivables also increased by EUR 45.8 million. Of this fig

ure, EUR 25.3 million is attributable to the addition of the companies 

newly acquired in the fiscal year. Given the increased level of the net 

current assets, the MANN+HUMMEL Group has taken appropriate ac

tion to counteract further increases in the long term.

2018 saw reallocations to securities portfolios in order to opti

mize the existing risk portfolio. This resulted in, among other things, a 

EUR 84.1 million decrease in the noncurrent and current financial as

sets. The financial assets of the MANN+HUMMEL Group in the amount 

of EUR  283  million (previous year EUR  295  million) are invested in 

a special fund. This includes stocks, investment funds, derivatives 

and selected bonds in the amount of EUR 66 million as well as other 

bonds in the amount of EUR 132 million.

The cash of the MANN+HUMMEL Group decreased by 

EUR 65.9 million. This was mainly due to the purchase price payments 

for newly acquired companies, capital expenditures, tax payments 

and the change in the net current assets. This includes cash in the 

existing special fund in the amount of EUR 85 million. During the fiscal 

year, there was a reallocation to cash in the amount of EUR 51.7 mil

lion.

As of January 1, 2016, MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & 

Co. KG became the ultimate parent company of the MANN+HUMMEL 

Group. Here, in accordance with German commercial law, there exist 

nonexcludable termination rights for shareholders who do not ful

fill the prerequisites for disclosure as shareholders’ equity under the 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). Consequently, 

this item, as already in the previous year, is now shown in borrowed 

capital under “Capital economically attributable to the sharehold

ers.” The equity reported in the balance sheet includes the shares 

of other shareholders of MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. 

KG during the year under review, who have a direct participation of 

16.67 percent in MANN+HUMMEL Holding GmbH, but without voting 

rights. This includes the noncontrolling interests of the companies 

 MANN+HUMMEL BA J.S.C., Tesanj, BosniaHerzegovina, CHANGCHUN  

MANN+HUMMEL FAWER FILTER CO. LTD., Changchun/PR of China, 

and the US shareholder totaling EUR  149.6  million (previous year: 

EUR 176.2 million).  

The increase in other noncurrent and current provisions is due 

to the increase in operating provisions for warranty issues, onerous 

contracts, legal disputes and staffrelated provisions. Adequate pro

visions have been recognized.
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In addition, provisions for current pension obligations increased only 

slightly by EUR 0.4 million to EUR 452.6 million.  

Trade payables rose significantly by EUR  61.5  million. This was 

mainly due to the increasing purchasing volume as a result of growth 

in business volume. The increase is also attributable to the inclusion 

of new subsidiaries in the Group (EUR 16.8 million).  

Consolidated balance sheet structure
Overall, the MANN+HUMMEL Group has a stable balance sheet struc

ture. The existing financing obligations can be serviced with the exist

ing cash and the available credit lines. The Group has an equity ratio 

of 21.6  percent. In addition to improving the operating margin, the 

company’s main focus over the coming fiscal years will be on improv

ing the net current assets and strengthening the equity ratio.

Overall statement on business trends
Neither the operating result nor the consolidated net income achieved 

met the Management Board’s expectations for the year 2018. Fur

thermore, currency effects meant that the expected midsingledigit 

growth could not be achieved.  

Operational problems at various Group locations significantly 

weakened the result. Furthermore, factors such as rising costs for the 

purchase of raw materials, shifts in the product mix for the Aftermar

ket business unit as well as the audit of the value of the intangible 

assets from company acquisitions had a negative impact on the op

erating result.  

For this reason, the Management Board introduced key measures 

to reduce the general cost level in 2019.  
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There were no events of special significance after the end of the fis

cal year. Upon publication of the preliminary figures on February 5, 

2019, the Management Board announced the implementation of a 

EUR 60 million cost restructuring program.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
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General conditions

The global economic situation is characterized by unsteady markets 

and structural risks. As a globally operating company, we counter 

these risks through diversification – in other words, a diverse range 

of products – on the one hand, and by continuously improving our 

products and processes on the other.  

We create opportunities by continuously enhancing our com

petitiveness. We continuously develop our products, expand our de

velopment expertise and drive the establishment and expansion of 

new locations. In addition, we develop new and pioneering products 

– such as the Fine Dust Eater.  

We created synergy effects and new market access through the 

acquisitions that we made in the Life Sciences & Environment (LS&E) 

segment. With such acquisitions we are preparing ourselves for this 

future market.  

Corporate growth in recent years has led to increasing complex

ity in internal processes. With the PACE project, we simplified both 

the Groupwide business model and the decisionmaking and control 

processes.  

Sustainability is a key driver of our business. Through our core 

competence in filtration, we are contributing to cleaner air, cleaner 

water and cleaner mobility. With the publication of the first Corporate 

Responsibility Report in 2018, we elaborated a strategic approach to 

sustainable corporate action. Our sustainability report signals our in

tention to consistently align our vision of “Leadership in Filtration” 

and our mission of “Separate the useful from the harmful” with appli

cations in the LS&E segment in the future.

In the course of political discussions about alternative drives, var

ious opportunities have resulted; but there are risks too. The Group 

must prepare for these developments through various scenarios and 

precautions. The product portfolio in the Transportation segment is 

focused mainly on the drivetrain of the combustion engine. The re

placement of combustion engines with alternative drive technologies 

would mean a risk of lost sales and market share. We are therefore 

investing in the development of innovative filtration solutions for new 

drive systems. This opens up opportunities for providing new prod

ucts for future technologies and for tapping into this market, and has 

the potential to compensate or even overcompensate for the expect

ed decline in sales in the area of combustion engines. Increased en

vironmental awareness – supported by the new drive systems – also 

opens up opportunities for providing new products beyond the drive 

or powertrain segment. These include, for example, all products that 

can be categorized under the Fine Dust Eater concept: brake dust 

particle filters, particulate filters for vehicle interiors or stationary 

particulate and nitrogen oxide filter columns. These innovative prod

ucts are opening up new market segments and customers and offer 

enormous growth potential.  

Trade tensions between the USA and China pose a major risk, as they 

no longer affect only these two parties. Increased tariffs on both sides 

are having a negative impact on the global economy. Uncertainty and 

worry among the population weakens consumption and in turn eco

nomic development. Companies today are connected globally with 

complex supply and production chains. Companies that operate 

globally are therefore also suffering. We are using these scenarios to 

draw up compensation measures. 8 

According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF), the Unit

ed Kingdom’s planned exit from the European Union (Brexit) could 

slow down growth in the global economy 9 in the event of a nodeal 

scenario (“hard” Brexit). This would hit German exporters hard, par

ticularly in the automotive industry, and would therefore also affect 

MANN+HUMMEL.   

7  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2019/01/11/weoupdate 
january2019 

8  https://www.tagesspiegel.de/wirtschaft/usachinaeuropawasimhandelskrieg
aufdemspielsteht/22778234.html

9  https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/WEO/Issues/2019/01/11/weoupdate 
january2019 

OPPORTUNITIES AND RISK REPORT
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Risk management

MANN+HUMMEL’s risk management aims to recognize all major risks 

for the Group at an early stage, to evaluate these and to assess their 

consequences. To ensure a comprehensive overview of the risk sit

uation, we have integrated risk management and its processes into 

the existing MANN+HUMMEL organization. We report to the com

pany owners and the Supervisory Board regularly in this regard. All 

functions are supported by a companywide planning, reporting and 

controlling system. Risks are classified according to two criteria: the 

probability of occurrence and the extent of the risk. The risk structure 

of our company has not changed significantly compared to the pre

vious year.

The extent of the risk was divided into three categories – clas

sified on the basis of possible effects on the operating result within 

three years: significant risk (threatening the existence of the com

pany, possible costs in excess of EUR 100 million), high risk (discern

ible effect on business activity, possible costs between EUR 50 and 

99 million), and low risk (possible costs between EUR 20 and 49 mil

lion).

Financial risks

For our Group, the financial risks include exchange rate fluctuations 

and interest rate changes. We continuously monitor currency risks, 

evaluate them and hedge them using derivative financial instruments, 

taking into account a risk limit. We generally use derivative financial 

instruments to cover underlying transactions resulting from the oper

ating activity of the Group. We continuously review the interest rate 

risk and minimize it with as high a proportion as possible of financial 

liabilities with longterm fixed interest rates.  

The MANN+HUMMEL Group Treasury department is responsible 

for limiting financing and liquidity risks. The external financing re

quired for our business activity includes the inherent risk of having to 

pay higher interest expenses for future loans. In the short to medium 

term, we do not expect any interest rate adjustment risk on the mar

ket side.  

Along with currency and interest risks, we regularly review the 

default risks of financial partners and derive appropriate measures.  

The adequate provision of financial resources will be the foun

dation upon which MANN+HUMMEL can drive its future strategic di

rection.  

Our financial risks are low thanks to solid financing, a stable liquidity 

position and sufficient reserve liquidity. With regard to our liquidity, 

consistent monitoring of cash is an effective risk minimization tool. 

We continuously monitor receivables, liabilities and inventories. We 

implement necessary measures for risk avoidance at short notice.  

We continuously monitor the tiedup current assets and adapt 

them to sales performance if required. The increase in current assets 

is due primarily to business combinations.  
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Operating opportunities and risks

Market environment
We have predefined scenarios for responding to a weakening or de

cline in economic development in relevant markets. We use these 

scenarios to draw up measures for adapting the cost level to falling 

sales as far as possible to prevent even greater erosion of profits. This 

adjustment reduces the significant market risks to an acceptable lev

el. The continuing high dependence on the automotive industry that 

has evolved over the years also entails risks. We are experiencing par

ticularly intense cost pressure in production as a Tier 1 supplier. This is 

partly due to the advance of alternative drives such as electric motors 

and concerns with regard to the end of the combustion engine. How

ever, with this risk we also see opportunities for our company: we are 

applying our core expertise to new business sectors to diversify our 

product range and thus open up new markets.  

In the digital age, change and transformation are faster and 

more farreaching than ever before. This is equally challenging for  

MANN+HUMMEL as a company, for our management and for all of 

our employees.  

Transport solutions beyond the combustion engine, the digital 

transformation of the economy and society, as well as growing re

quirements for sustainable business are presenting us with new chal

lenges. At the same time, this is opening up great opportunities. Our 

core competence in filtration from over 78 years of experience gives 

us a competitive advantage when it comes to the development of in

novative products in new business areas. The best example of this is 

the Fine Dust Eater.  

Purchasing
In our procurement markets, price fluctuations for raw materials and 

other materials are particular risks that we must take into account. 

We offset the risk of cost increases for the most part with longterm 

contracts, global, strategically diverse suppliers as well as our Group

wide Category Management. Our central purchasing controlling also 

contributes to transparency, control and risk minimization.  

Quality
Product quality and customer satisfaction are key goals for our com

pany. Quality problems and the ensuing customer complaints and 

warranty claims would represent a significant risk with consequences 

for the reputation and financial situation of our company.

To counter this, high quality standards are applied within the 

framework of the IATF 16949 certified MANN+HUMMEL manage

ment system – for product and process development as well as for 

production at all of the plants. We are already utilizing the greatest 

opportunity to identify and prevent errors through balanced and con

scientious planning.

Moreover, customer quality and warranty teams work closely with 

our customers, development departments and production plants. We 

thereby assure the quality of our products and can respond swiftly in 

the event of warranty claims.

We also cover warranty risks by setting aside appropriate finan

cial provisions. Furthermore, we have relevant insurance cover for 

possible losses owing to recalls and for product liability claims.

We regard the renowned high quality of our products as an opportu

nity because it gives us a decisive competitive edge over other man

ufacturers.

Information technology
The worldwide digital networking of our organization forms the basis 

of our Group’s global presence. Fast and secure data provides op

portunities to continuously optimize processes and improve coopera

tion with customers and suppliers. However, the need for permanent 

availability of secure data also places high demands on our informa

tion technology. To rule out the high risks posed by interruptions to 

the data supply, there is a secondary data center in Ludwigsburg, in 

addition to the primary one. With the annual “Data Center” emergen

cy drill, we ensure that the emergency measures are effective in the 

event of an incident and that the existing risks are minimized as far 

as possible.  
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Fraud and breach of code of conduct
Increasingly, antitrust authorities are conducting investigations in 

many countries. This can result in penalties due to competition law in

fringements or other unlawful conduct. Our company guidelines and 

the Code of Conduct regulate the correct procedure with respect to 

antitrust issues, export control, corruption and other violations of the 

law. We are making all employees worldwide aware of these topics 

through ongoing training. Through this training we can reduce the 

risk, though not avoid it entirely.  

Economic performance risks  
The economic performance risks include possible damage due to op

erational interruptions and possible damage due to and loss of tan

gible assets.  

Natural disasters, terrorist activities or other disruptions in the 

production facilities or within the supply chains – at customers and 

suppliers – can cause significant damage and losses. To limit these 

risks, we have taken out insurance cover on a scale appropriate from 

a commercial perspective.

Taxes
As an international Group, MANN+HUMMEL operates in a large num

ber of different countryspecific tax systems. This represents a high 

level of complexity within the Group. Compliance with the respective 

local tax regulations is ensured through the additional appointment 

of local tax consultants at the individual subsidiaries. In addition, the 

Group is optimizing its Groupwide internal tax control systems, for 

example in the area of indirect taxation and crossborder relations. 

The optimization of tax processes and the adjustment of ongoing 

controls form a key element in the early detection and reduction of 

potential tax risks. We constantly update Groupwide established 

guidelines, for example on the transfer pricing system, and imme

diately inform our employees worldwide. In addition, in the area of 

transfer pricing documentation, the Group is pursuing a Groupwide 

approach in order to meet the increased requirements of the tax au

thorities worldwide.  

Default by key customers  
As a Tier 1 Supplier and in the aftermarket business, our company 

has always focused on longterm cooperation with its customers. We 

continuously monitor our risks and adapt our credit limits dynamical

ly to the payment behavior and credit rating of our customers. If one 

of our major customers were to default, this would in all likelihood 

hamper the development of our Group, but would not jeopardize its 

future. Even though we may not have any cause for concern at pres

ent, a small risk remains.  

We are in the process of reducing such dependencies by means 

of our diversification strategies and the broad range of products on 

different filtration markets.  

Preparation for Brexit
The ongoing political discussions surrounding Brexit – the United 

Kingdom’s withdrawal from the European Union – mean continued 

uncertainty and increasing complexity for companies. To reduce the 

risk posed by the impending Brexit, MANN+HUMMEL put together a 

project team a few months ago. This team is working on measures 

to prepare the company for a hard Brexit (withdrawal without an 

agreement). A hard Brexit would slow down economic growth in 

the United Kingdom and in Europe and result in a decline in sales for 

MANN+HUMMEL.  

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 28

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Consolidated financial statements Auditor’s reportGroup status report



Overall statement regarding the 
 opportunity and risk situation

We continuously monitor and assess opportunities and risks in an it

erative process to minimize risks and identify opportunities at an ear

ly stage. No risks that could jeopardize the future of the Group can be 

identified at present.
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For the German economy, experts are forecasting growth of 1.7 per

cent in 2019 – a decline of 0.2 percent compared to the year under 

review 2018. 10 

Economic growth is expected to be on a par with 2018 in the USA 

(2.7  percent), Europe (1,7  percent), Brazil (1.7  percent) and Russia 

(1.5 percent). Growth of 6.3 percent has been forecast for China for 

the year 2019 as a whole. 11

The German automotive industry is expected to grow, albeit at a 

similar rate to the previous year. 12

For the HVAC sector (Heating, Ventilation, Air Conditioning), 

annual growth rates of 2.9 percent for Europe, 2.3 percent for North 

America and 5.1 percent for Asia are expected. 

For the sectors connected with water filtration, global growth 

rate forecasts for membranes are based on annual growth of 8 per

cent (reverse osmosis), 10  percent (ultra filtration) and 12  percent 

(membrane bioreactors). 

Despite an increasingly difficult market environment, we still 

expect to see slight growth for 2019 in the Original Equipment and 

Aftermarket business areas, which together form the Transportation 

segment.  

Furthermore, the Life Sciences & Environment segment is still in the 

startup phase, and we expect to see significant growth in this area. 

However, this growth is still at a low level in relation to total sales for 

the MANN+HUMMEL Group.

For the fiscal year 2019, we are forecasting a slight decrease in the 

number of employees for MANN+HUMMEL Group compared to the 

previous year. We are also expecting high singledigit sales growth 

in the 2019 fiscal year. The positive sales trend and the costreducing 

measures already initiated will result in positive development com

pared with 2018, with the EBIT margin in the midsingledigit range 

and ROCE in the low doubledigit range. 

Ludwigsburg, May 3, 2019

MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG

The Management Board

Werner Lieberherr
Emese Weissenbacher

FORECAST REPORT

10  https://www.ifwkiel.de/fileadmin/Dateiverwaltung/IfWPublications/ifw/ 
Konjunktur/Prognosetexte/deutsch/2018/KKB_49_2018Q4_Welt_DE.pdf

11  VDA Konjunkturbarometer [VDA Economic Barometer], VDA (Berlin),  
November 2018

12  http://www.fmmmagazin.de/handelskonfliktrisikenin2018und2019 
fuerdeutschlandfinanzenmm_kat52_id8921.html#
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MANN+HUMMEL CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
IN ACCORDANCE WITH IFRS1

1 All figures are rounded. This may lead to minor discrepancies when totaling sums and when determining percentages.
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CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT  
JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

EUR million Notes 2018 2017

Sales 3,955.3 3,892.1

Cost of sales (10) 3,093.9 2,960.0

Gross margin on sales (11) 861.4 932.1

Research and development costs 139.8 133.0

Selling expenses (11) 402.9 399.7

General administrative expenses (11) 180.5 164.1

Other operating income (11) 53.1 35.4

Other operating expenses (12) 97.7 85.6

Operating profit or loss (13) 93.6 185.1

Share in the result from associates 0.5 0.4

Financial expenses (14) 135.3 91.4

Financial income (14) 56.8 33.6

Net financial result – 78.0 – 57.4

Net profit or loss before income tax and changes in capital economically attributable to the shareholders 15.6 127.7

Income taxes (15) 81.8 25.5

– 66.2 102.2

Changes in capital economically attributable to the shareholders – 45.3 85.3

Consolidated net income – 20.9 16.9

Result attributable to non-controlling interests – 20.9 16.9
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  
JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

EUR million Notes 2018 2017

Consolidated net income – 20.9 16.9

thereof attributable to non-controlling interests – 20.9 16.9

Items that may be reclassified to profit/loss

Exchange rate differences from the conversion of foreign business operations

Exchange rate differences occurring during the fiscal year – 13.5 – 45.9

Financial assets available for sale

  Changes in fair value of financial assets available for sale 0.0 4.7

Equity and borrowing instruments

Changes in fair value of financial assets available for sale – 1.7 0.0

Cashflow hedge (currency hedging)

Gains/losses recorded during the fiscal year 0.5 – 0.1

Income taxes attributable to these components 0.2 – 2.0

Items that will not be reclassified to profit/loss

Revaluation of defined benefit obligations and similar commitments 3.7 3.8

Income taxes attributable to these components – 20.3 – 1.5

Changes in other income attributable to shareholders 25.3 35.9

Other comprehensive income – 5.9 – 5.1

Total consolidated comprehensive income – 26.8 11.8

thereof attributable to non-controlling interests – 26.8 11.8

The Mann+Hummel Group adopted the new IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 standards on January 1, 2018.
For the transition to the new regulations the modified, retrospective method was adopted,  
according to which the previous year’s figures are not adjusted. 
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET  
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2018

EUR million Notes 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Assets

Non-current assets

Intangible assets (17) 1,060.2 1,039.6

Tangible assets (19) 963.1 934.9

Investments in associates (20) 3.6 3.0

Trade receivables (24) 0.7 0.7

Financial assets (21) 21.0 33.2

Income tax receivables 0.4 0.4

Other assets (22) 18.4 6.1

Deferred tax assets (15) 67.0 87.6

2,134.4 2,105.5

Current assets

Inventories (23) 555.3 500.9

Trade receivables (24) 641.8 596.0

Financial assets (25) 228.3 300.2

Income tax receivables 24.5 21.1

Other assets (22) 91.2 69.8

Cash 262.0 327.9

1,803.1 1,815.9

3,937.5 3,921.4

EUR million Notes 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Liabilities

Equity  

Non-controlling interests (26) 149.6 176.2

149.6 176.2

Non-current liabilities

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders (26) 700.4 762.7

Other non-current liabilities

Financial liabilities (28) 1,348.1 1,365.6

Pension provisions (31) 452.6 452.2

Other provisions (30) 28.4 33.7

Trade payables 0.1 0.1

Other liabilities (29) 5.3 3.3

Income tax liabilities 1.5 3.1

Deferred tax liabilities (15) 81.0 59.7

2,617.4 2,680.4

Current liabilities

Financial liabilities (28) 226.9 209.1

Trade payables 613.5 552.0

Other liabilities (29) 182.6 179.9

Other provisions (30) 120.6 94.3

Income tax liabilities 26.9 29.5

1,170.5 1,064.8

3,937.5 3,921.4
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

EUR million Notes 2018 2017

1. Cash flow from operating activities

Consolidated net income – 20.9 16.9

Changes in capital economically attributable to the shareholders – 45.3 85.3

Income tax expense 81.8 25.5

Net profit or loss before income tax and changes in capital economically attributable to the shareholders 15.6 127.7

Paid (–)/refunded (+) taxes on income – 65.8 – 122.5

Depreciation (+) of fixed assets 236.9 200.8

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in non-current provisions 0.6 4.4

Other expenditure (+)/income (–) not affecting payments 81.8 50.9

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in non-current provisions 26.5 10.8

Profit (−)/loss (+) from disposal of assets – 5.5 4.6

Increase (−)/reduction (+) in inventories, trade debtors and other assets – 89.6 – 119.9

Increase (+)/reduction (−) in trade creditors and other liabilities 32.5 171.8

Cash flow from operating activities (32) 233.0 328.6

2. Cash flow from investment activities

Receipts (+) from the disposal of tangible assets 15.1 9.5

Payments (–) for investment in tangible assets – 154.1 – 160.6

Receipts (+) from the disposal of intangible assets 0.3 0.1

Payments (–) for investment in intangible assets – 12.0 – 6.1

Receipts (+) from the disposal of non-current financial assets 1.0 0.2

Payments (–) for investment in non-current financial assets – 3.3 – 3.8

Payments (–) for the acquisition of consolidated companies, less cash and cash equivalents acquired – 127.2 – 16.9

Receipts (+) from loans granted 4.9 0.0

Payments (–) for loans granted – 3.6 – 0.5

Interest received (+) 8.7 13.4

Cash flow from investing activities (32) – 270.2 – 164.7

Free cash flow – 37.2 163.9

Continued on page 36
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT  
JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018 (CONTINUED)

EUR million Notes 2018 2017

3. Cash flow from financial activities

Receipts (+) from equity increases 0.0 0.0

Payments (–) to company shareholders – 9.9 – 6.2

Receipts (+) from acceptance of (financial) credits and sale of monetary financial assets 116.6 411.9

Repayment (–) of (financial) credits and payments to acquire monetary financial assets – 77.5 – 569.1

Interest paid (–) – 54.7 – 56.9

Cash flow from financing activities (32) – 25.5 – 220.3

4. Cash funds at end of period

Payment-effective change to cash funds (subtotal 1-3) – 62.7 – 56.4

Changes in cash funds from exchange rate movements, valuation differences and changes in Group structure – 3.2 – 10.0

Cash funds at the beginning of period 327.9 394.3

Cash funds at end of period 262.0 327.9

5. Composition of cash funds

Cash (32) 262.0 327.9

Cash funds at end of period 262.0 327.9
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CONSOLIDATED CHANGES IN EQUITY  
JANUARY 1 TO DECEMBER 31, 2018

Parent company
Non-controlling 

interests Total equity

Revenue reserves
Total other share-

holders’ equity

Total equity of the 
partners of M+H 

International GmbH & 
Co. KG Total

EUR million
Financial assets 

available for sale
Equity and borrow-

ing instruments

Fair value  
measurement of 

cash flow hedges
Actuarial gains  

and losses

Difference from 
foreign currency 

translation

As at 1/1/2017 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 165.9 165.9

Changes in capital economically attributable to 
the shareholders attributable to the shareholders 83.6 2.2 2.0 – 40.0 47.8 47.8

Reclassification to borrowed capital – 83.6 – 2.2 – 2.0 40.0 – 47.8 – 47.8

Other comprehensive income – 5.1 – 5.1

Consolidated net income 16.9 16.9

Total consolidated comprehensive income 11.8 11.8

Paid dividends – 1.1 – 1.1

Changes in consolidated Group – 0.4 – 0.4

As at 12/31/2017 176.2 176.2

First-time adoption effect from IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 9.5 – 2.6 1.1 8.0 1.7 9.7

Reclassification to borrowed capital – 9.5 2.6 – 1.1 – 8.0 – 8.0

Adjusted 1/1/2018 177.9 177.9

Changes in capital economically attributable to  
the shareholders attributable to the shareholders – 46.2 – 1.2 0.4 – 13.3 – 11.1 – 71.4 – 71.4

Reclassification to borrowed capital 46.2 1.2 – 0.4 13.3 11.1 71.4 71.4

Other comprehensive income – 5.9 – 5.9

Consolidated net income – 20.9 – 20.9

Total consolidated comprehensive income – 26.8 – 26.8

Paid dividends – 1.4 – 1.4

Changes in consolidated Group – 0.9 – 0.9

Other 0.8 0.8

As at 12/31/2018 149.6 149.6
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FUNDAMENTAL PRINCIPLES

1. Corporate structure

MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG (hereinafter also referred to as “company”, “parent” or “MH International Holding”) has the legal 

form of a partnership. The company is based at Schwieberdinger Straße 126, 71636 Ludwigsburg, Germany, and is registered under commer

cial register number HRA 730217 in the commercial register of Stuttgart district court. The company has been the highestlevel parent of the  

MANN+HUMMEL Group (hereinafter also “Group”, “MANN+HUMMEL” or “MANN+HUMMEL Group”) since January 1, 2016.

The product portfolio includes filtration solutions for automotive and industrial applications, clean indoor and outdoor air and sustainable 

water use. 

The products manufactured by the MANN+HUMMEL Group include air filter systems, intake systems, liquid filter systems, plastic compo

nents, filter media as well as cabin air filters and industrial filters. 

In the areas of process engineering, industrial applications and water filtration, we are expanding our portfolio with highperformance 

membranes, membrane bioreactors as well as reverse osmosis technologies. Stationary and mobile systems for the filtration of particulate 

matter and nitrogen dioxide further expand the product offering for improving outdoor air quality. 

Increasingly, the Group is also offering digital services and intelligent solutions that meet the specific needs of our customers.

The MANN+HUMMEL Group is represented at more than 80 locations on five continents. 

2. General information

The items in the consolidated profit and loss statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated balance sheet, 

the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of changes in equity are listed or explained in the notes to the consoli

dated financial statements. 

The Group currency is the euro. Unless noted otherwise, all amounts are stated in millions of euros (EUR million). 
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The Management Board of the company approved the consolidated financial statements for referral to the Supervisory Board on April 23, 2019. 

The consolidated financial statements prepared as at December 31, 2018 and the Group status report are announced in the Federal Gazette. 

The consolidated balance sheet is structured in accordance with terms. Balance sheet items are broken down into noncurrent and current 

assets or liabilities if they have a remaining term of more than one or up to one year respectively. 

Assets and debts belonging to a disposal Group that is classified as held for sale or assets held for sale are reported separately from the 

other assets and debts in the balance sheet. 

The assets and debts are recognized in accordance with the historical cost convention. Excluded from this are derivative financial instru

ments, securities and investments in holdings that were recognized at fair value, if it can be reliably determined.

3. Application of IFRS

As a nonpublicly listed company, the business uses the option under Section 315e(3) HGB (German Commercial Code) to prepare the consol

idated financial statements in accordance with the IFRS.

The consolidated financial statements are consistent with the standards and interpretations of the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB), London, valid at the end of the reporting period and as applicable in the European Union (IFRS) and additionally in accordance 

with the commercial law regulations applicable under Section 315e(1) HGB. 

4.  Adjustment of the accounting methods as well as new standards and  
interpretations

The applied accounting policies correspond to the methods used in the previous year, with the following exceptions. In the current fiscal year, 

the following new and amended standards were to be applied for the first time.  

• IFRS 9 Financial Instruments,

• IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers and the associated explanations,

• Changes to IFRS 2 Classification and measurement of sharebased payment transactions,

• Improvements to IFRS 20142016,

• Changes to IAS 40,

• IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration.

IFRS 9 was used for the first time without the adjustment of comparative figures. IFRS 15 was applied for the first time in accordance with the 

modified retrospective methods. The reclassifications and adjustments arising from the new regulations are therefore recognized in the open

ing balance as at January 1, 2018.
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The following tables show the adjustments that were recognized for each individual item. 

Consequences for the consolidated balance sheet
All figures EUR million 12/31/2017 Reporting change Effects of IFRS 9 Effects of IFRS 15 1/1/2018

Assets 

Intangible assets 1,039.6 – 4.3 1,035.3

Non-current financial assets 33.2 – 2.9 30.3

Non-current other assets 6.1 8.6 14.7

Inventories 500.9 4.3 4.8 510.0

Trade receivables 596.7 – 1.9 594.8

Current financial assets 300.2 – 0.1 300.1

Current other assets 69.8 3.8 73.6

Cash and short-term deposits 327.9 – 0.8 327.1

Deferred tax assets 87.6 – 0.5 87.1

Deferred tax liabilities 59.7 2.2 61.9

The effects on the revenue reserves of the Group were as follows as at January 1, 2018:

Retained earnings as of December 31, 2017
EUR million

IFRS 9 

Reclassification of AFS to revenue reserves 3.0

Change in fair value for non-current financial assets – 2.9

Increase in impairments for trade receivables – 1.9

Impairments for current financial assets – 0.1

Impairments on cash and short-term deposits – 0.8

Deferred taxes on IFRS 9 adjustments – 0.5

IFRS 15 

Capitalization of contractual assets and inventories for development services 15.0

Specifically, the first-time application of IFRS 9 leads to an equityreducing effect after deferred taxes in the amount of EUR 6.2 million.  

A reconciliation of the values reported in accordance with IAS 39 and the values to be applied in accordance with IFRS 9 is presented below.
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Financial assets and liabilities
EUR million Measurement category Carrying amounts Change in carrying amounts Reference

IAS 39 (12/31/2017) IFRS 9 (1/1/2018)
IAS 39 

(12/31/2017)
IFRS 9  

(1/1/2018)
Due to the 

revaluation

Due to the 
reclassifi-

cation

Due to the 
impair-

ment

Cash and short-term 
 deposits

Loans and receivables (LaR) Valued at cost (AC)
327.9 326.6 – 0.8 A

Trade receivables Loans and receivables (LaR) Valued at cost (AC) 596.7 594.8 – 1.9 B

Other financial assets Loans and receivables (LaR) Valued at cost (AC) 39.0 38.9 – 0.1 C

Holdings Financial assets available for 
sale (AfS)

Valued at fair value 
through other compre-

hensive income (FVOCI) 6.5 3.6 – 2.9 0.0 D

Securities Financial assets available for 
sale (AfS)

Valued at fair value 
through other compre-

hensive income (FVOCI) 261.6 211.5

Valued at fair value 
through profit or loss 

(FVPL) 50.1

Derivative 
financial instruments

Part of a hedging 
relationship

Derivative financial 
 instruments with a hedge 

relationship (n.a)

Derivative financial 
instruments with a hedge 

relationship (n.a) 25.3 25.3

Freestanding Financial assets held for 
trading (FAHfT)

Valued at fair value 
through profit or loss 

(FVPL) 1.1 1.1

Capital economically 
attributable to the 
shareholders

Financial liabilities at cost 
(FLAC)

Valued at cost (AC)

762.7 762.7

Trade payables Financial liabilities at cost 
(FLAC)

Valued at cost (AC)
552.1 552.1

Liabilities to banks Financial liabilities at cost 
(FLAC)

Valued at cost (AC)
1,345.8 1,345.8

Other financial liabilities Financial liabilities at cost 
(FLAC)

Valued at cost (AC)
210.8 210.8

Payables from finance 
leasing

n.a. n.a.
15.2 15.2

Derivative financial 
instruments

Part of a hedging 
relationship

Derivative financial instru-
ments with a hedge relation-

ship (n.a)

Derivative financial 
instruments with a hedge 

relationship (n.a) 2.0 2.0

Freestanding Derivative financial instru-
ments (FLAFVTPL)

Valued at fair value 
through profit or loss 

(FVPL) 0.9 0.9
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A and C: The cash and shortterm deposits to be accounted for at amortized cost and the other financial assets under IAS 39 satisfy the cash 

flow criterion under IFRS 9 and can continue to be accounted for at amortized cost. The reductions in the carrying amounts result from the 

value adjustment calculated for the first time. The expected credit losses are calculated via a statistical model here.

B: The receivables to be accounted for at amortized cost under IAS 39 satisfy the cash flow criterion under IFRS 9 and can continue to be 

accounted for at amortized cost. The reductions in the carrying amounts result from the newly calculated value adjustment.

The increase in the impairment results primarily from the move to the impairment model based on the expected credit losses.

D: The investments in nonconsolidated companies that are also reported at amortized cost under IAS 39 are valued under IFRS 9 at fair 

value. The changes in fair value with the exception of dividends are reported in other comprehensive income within equity.

In the context of the first-time adoption of IFRS 15, contractual assets as well as inventories before taking into account deferred taxes in the 

amount of EUR 15.0 million were to be recognized as at January 1, 2018, which are disclosed under the item “Other assets”. The revenue reserves 

have increased accordingly. The contractual assets are based on customer contracts for development services. In the past fiscal year, the sales 

revenue, which due to IFRS 15 was to be realized in addition, amounts to EUR 11.0 million. 

The following new or revised standards and interpretations did not yet have to be applied on a mandatory basis for the fiscal year starting 

January 1, 2018 and were not applied prematurely:

IFRS 9 Financial instruments - Repayment clause with negative compensation 1

IFRS 16 Leases 1

IFRS 17 Insurance contracts 3, 4

Amendments to IFRS 3 Definition of a business operation 2, 4

Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Amendment of the definition of materiality 2, 4 

Amendments to IAS 19 Plan amendments, curtailments, settlements 1, 4

Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term investments in associates and joint ventures 2, 4 

Annual improvements to the IFRS 2015-2017 cycle 1, 4

Amendments to the framework concept Amendments to references to the framework concept for accounting 2, 4

IFRIC 23 “Tax risk items from income taxes” 1

1 To be applied for fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2019.

2 To be applied for fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2020.

3 To be applied for fiscal years starting on or after January 1, 2021.

4 An EU endorsement is still pending.
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IFRS 16 Leases will include regulations on the balance sheet recognition of lease agreements and replace IAS 17 and the associated interpre

tations of IFRIC 4, SIC 15 and SIC 27. For lessees, the new standard requires a completely new approach to the balancesheet recognition of 

lease agreements. Whereas, under IAS 17, the transfer of material opportunities and risks with respect to the leased property was decisive for 

the balancesheet recognition of leases for the lessee, in the future, every lease must in principle be recognized by the lessee in the balance 

sheet as a financing transaction. For lessors, the accounting regulations remain largely unchanged. The date of first application of IFRS 16 is 

January 1, 2019.

The analysis of the first application of IFRS 16 revealed that this standard will have the following effects on the components of the consol

idated financial statements and on the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations:

For lessees, IFRS 16 introduces a uniform approach to the balancesheet recognition of lease agreements, according to which assets are 

to be recognized in the balance sheet for the usage rights to the leased property and liabilities for the payment obligations entered into, for all 

leases. For leased property of a low value or for shortterm leases (less than 12 months), recognition exemptions are utilized. The accounting 

regulations for lessors remain largely unchanged however, in particular with respect to the continued requirement to classify leases according 

to IAS 17. For leases that were previously categorized as “operating leases” in accordance with IAS 17, the lease liability is recognized at the cash 

value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate of interest at the time of first application. The 

usage right to the leased property is in principle valued at an amount equivalent to the lease liability plus initial direct costs. Furthermore, ad

vance payments and liabilities that relate to the past fiscal year are taken into consideration. The analysis performed as part of the Groupwide 

project on the first application revealed that as at January 1, 2019 there is likely to be a balance sheet extension arising from the changeover in 

the high doubledigit million range. At the time of first application, the revenue reserves will reduce only slightly.

In contrast to the previous disclosure of expenses arising from operating leases, in the future depreciation on usage rights and interest 

expenses from the accrued interest of the leasing liabilities will be recognized.

As a result of the changed disclosure of the lease expenses arising from operating leases, the cash flow from operating activities will im

prove accordingly and the cash flow from financial activities will deteriorate.

The other amended standards published but not yet adopted by the EU will likely not have any major impact on the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations of the MANN+HUMMEL Group. If these standards, which will only become mandatory in later fiscal years, are 

accepted by the EU, no early application of these standards is planned.

5. Consolidated Group

Within the framework of the rearrangement of the corporate structure, MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG was established on 

January 1, 2016 as the managing holding company. It holds 83.3% of the shares in MANN+HUMMEL HOLDING GMBH and, as the highest level 

parent company, prepares the consolidated financial statements for the MANN+HUMMEL Group as of fiscal year 2016.

Included in the consolidated financial statements were 19 domestic and 74 foreign Group companies. The consolidated Group includes, in addi

tion to the parent, all domestic and foreign companies that the parent company controls directly or indirectly or on which it has a major influence. 

Subsidiaries are companies where the parent company controls the business and financial policies thanks to the actual or constructive majority of 
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votes in order to benefit from its activities, meaning that it has the possibility to control. In addition, the parent company is exposed to fluctuating 

returns from its investments in holdings and has the ability to influence the returns. Associated companies are businesses where the parent company 

has a major influence on the business and financial policies, but which are neither subsidiaries nor joint ventures.

1/1/2018
First-time 

consolidations
Legal  

changes Deconsolidations 12/31/2018

Group companies 95 6 – 6 – 2 93

of which in Germany 21 0 – 2 0 19

of which abroad 74 6 – 4 – 2 74

Associates 1 0 0 0 1

1/1/2017
First-time 

consolidations
Legal  

changes Deconsolidations 12/31/2017

Group companies 92 6 – 2 – 1 95

of which in Germany 21 0 0 0 21

of which abroad 71 6 – 2 – 1 74

Associates 1 0 0 0 1

Changes to the consolidated Group
In the current fiscal year, MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Canada L.P., Calgary, Alberta, Canada and MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technol

ogy Australia Ltd., Brighton, Australia were deconsolidated. There was no result from these deconsolidations.

Furthermore, the following companies dropped out of the consolidated Group through merger:

in % Equity interest

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Canada GP Corp., Calgary, Alberta, Canada 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Group Inc., Gastonia, NC, USA 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Netherlands Holdings BV, Ijsselstein, Netherlands 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Russia LLC, Moscow, Russian Federation 83.3

Company acquisitions
As at January 1, 2018, 100% of Oltremare S.p.A., Fano, Italy (Oltremare) was acquired. This was renamed MICRODYNNADIR Oltremare S.p.A. 

in 2018.

With this acquisition, the MANN+HUMMEL Group has expanded its range of membrane filtration products. Oltremare is renowned for 

manufacturing customized special membrane elements and for marketing products for reverse osmosis and ion exchange. Its addition to the 

MANN+HUMMEL Group signals our increased commitment to the water and wastewater, and the process and special applications market seg

ments. With this company on board, the MANN+HUMMEL Group is improving the support it can provide to customers around the globe and 

accelerating its own growth in the water treatment industry.
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Goodwill amounting to EUR 10.4 million and net assets of EUR 10.8 million were acquired. This includes the disclosure of hidden reserves of 

EUR 5.1 million, which essentially comprises the takeover of the existing customer base and patents. 

With effect from September 1, 2018, 100% of the TriDim Filter Corporation, Louisa, USA (TriDim) was acquired. 

With the takeover of TriDim, the MANN+HUMMEL Group has expanded its product range, primarily in the area of HVAC filters (HVAC = heating, 

ventilation, and air conditioning). The companies acquired specialize in air filtration for a variety of commercial and industrial applications such 

as hospitals, schools, automobile plants and paint shops, data centers as well as the food and beverage industry. The competencies and client 

relationships of TriDim and the MANN+HUMMEL Group are complementary, particularly in the USA and Canada. TriDim offers products and 

services in the area of HVAC filtration, including air and liquid filtration, heating/airconditioning systems, cleanroom filtration, air purification 

systems, gas phase filtration as well as air testing and decontamination.

In addition to the acquired goodwill amounting to EUR 72.1 million, net assets of EUR 46.4 million were acquired. This includes the disclo

sure of hidden reserves of EUR 18.5 million, which essentially include the takeover of the existing customer base. 

The following overview presents the fair values of the purchase price allocation prior to consolidation:

EUR million Previous carrying 
amount

Fair value

Intangible assets 0.0 18.5

Tangible assets 6.9 6.9

Financial assets 2.0 1.5

Other assets 0.3 0.3

Inventories 12.3 13.5

Trade receivables 22.5 22.5

Cash 11.1 11.1

Trade payables 14.0 14.0

Other liabilities 13.6 13.6

Deferred tax liabilities – 0.1 0.4

Net assets acquired 46.3

Goodwill 72.2

Purchase price 118.5

For tax purposes, goodwill amounts to EUR 90.2 million, which will be written off over the coming 15 years. Deferred taxes were formed on 

the difference between the IFRS balance sheet and the tax balance sheet, which were offset with the deferred tax liabilities from the purchase 

price allocation.

MANN+HUMMEL expects that the goodwill actually acquired consists of the expected synergy potentials and employee knowhow. The 

following pro forma key financial indicators represent the consolidated sales and consolidated operating profit or loss of the MANN+HUMMEL 

Group in such a way as if TriDim had already been acquired at the start of the 2018 fiscal year.
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EUR million 2018

Pro forma sales (Group) 4,044.5

Pro forma consolidated operating profit or loss 95.5

In fact, the acquired TriDim contributed to the Group sales and consolidated net income 2018 as follows:

EUR million 2018

Sales (Group) since acquisition due date 42.4

Operating profit or loss since acquisition due date – 4.0

In the 2018 fiscal year, the following companies were included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time due to the acquisition 

of Oltremare and TriDim.

 

in % Equity interest

MICRODYN-NADIR Oltremare S.p.A., Fano, Italy 83.3

LS+E HOLDINGS INC. 83.3

Tri-Dim Filter Corporation 83.3

Tri-Dim Canada Inc. 83.3

BVCA Breton, Verrechia, Goyetta, Env. Inc. 83.3

In the 2018 fiscal year, the following company was also included in the consolidated financial statements for the first time; it had previously been 

irrelevant for the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the MANN+HUMMEL Group:

in % Equity interest

MANN AND HUMMEL AUSTRALIA (PTY) LTD., Arndell Park NSW, Australia 83.3

6. Principles of consolidation

The capital consolidation is carried out in accordance with the purchase method. The subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the time of pur

chase, i.e. from the time of the parent company obtaining a controlling influence. The inclusion in the consolidated financial statements ends as 

soon as the parent loses its controlling influence. At the time of obtaining control, the newly measured assets and liabilities of the subsidiary as 

well as contingent liabilities, unless dependent on a future event, are offset against the fair value of the return consideration provided for the 

shares. Contingent considerations are carried as a liability at fair value.

Subsequent adjustments to contingent considerations are recognized in income. The ancillary costs incurred during the purchase are rec

ognized as an expense at the time of being incurred.
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Any debt difference remaining after capital consolidation is capitalized as goodwill and recognized under the intangible assets. The goodwill 

is verified for its value on the balance sheet date within the framework of an impairment test. A verification is carried out during the year if 

there are indications of an impairment. Negative debt differences arising during capital consolidation are recognized under other income in the 

consolidated profit and loss statement, unless the new audit of the valuations yields a different result.

If not all shares are purchased during a company acquisition, noncontrolling interests can be applied in the amount of the pro rata newly 

measured net assets or at their total pro rata company value, including the business or company value made up by them. The option can be 

newly exercised for every company acquisition. Thus far, all noncontrolling interests have, in principle, been recognized with the pro rata net 

assets (partial goodwill approach). In 2016, the noncontrolling interests associated with the acquisition of Affinia were nevertheless recog

nized at the fair value of the interests (full goodwill approach).

In the event of a gradual purchase of shares, the already existing shares in the company to be consolidated are newly measured at the fair 

value at the time of obtaining control. The difference to the equity holding’s carrying amount is recognized in income.

The purchase of additional shares of already preconsolidated subsidiaries is accounted for as an equity capital transaction. In this process, 

the difference between the acquisition costs of the shares and the carrying amount of the noncontrolling stake is offset against the revenue 

reserves. The effects of share sales, which do not result in the loss of control of a subsidiary, are recognized directly in equity by offsetting the 

capital gains or losses against revenue reserves and increasing the noncontrolling interests in the amount of the pro rata net assets.

The deconsolidation of subsidiaries takes place at the time of losing control or the time of liquidation. The result of the deconsolidation is 

recognized in the net financial result. Remaining shares are capitalized at fair value under the investments in holdings.

Receivables, liabilities, provisions, sales revenue and other income and expenses between the companies included in the consolidated 

financial statements are consolidated. Interim profits from internal transactions that were not realized from the sale to external third parties are 

excluded from the calculation. Internal sureties and guarantees are eliminated. 

 

7. Foreign currency translation

The conversion of the annual financial statements prepared in foreign currency of the Group companies included is carried out on the basis of 

the concept of the functional currency using the modified spot rate on reporting date method in EUR. As the subsidiaries conduct their business 

independently from a financial, economic and organizational perspective, the functional currency is identical to that of the company’s relevant 

national currency as a rule. For that reason, the expenses and income from financial statements of subsidiaries, which are prepared in a foreign 

currency, are converted in the consolidated financial statements at the annual average rate of exchange, while assets and liabilities are convert

ed at the spot rate on the reporting date. The currency difference resulting from the conversion of equity at historic rates and the conversion 

differences resulting from the conversion of the consolidated profit and loss statement at the annual average rate of exchange are recognized 

in the accumulated other equity without affecting income.
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In the individual financial statements, foreign currency receivables and payables are measured on firsttime recognition at the rate valid on 

the transaction date. The balance sheet date rate is used for subsequent measurement. Currency gains and losses from the due date valuation 

of the trade receivables and trade payables are recognized in other income and expenses. Currency gains and losses, which are made up of 

financial assets and liabilities, are recognized in other financial income and financial expenses. The underlying exchange rates for the currency 

conversion with a major impact on the consolidated financial statements have changed in relation to the euro as follows:

Spot rate on reporting date Annual average rate of 
exchange

12/31/2018 12/31/2017 2018 2017

Argentine peso [ARS] 43.16270 22.44970 34.25559 19.12617

Brazilian real [BRL] 4.43830 3.96820 4.32328 3.64937

Renminbi yuan [CNY] 7.84730 7.80340 7.81410 7.65574

Czech koruna [CZK] 25.72500 25.54000 25.67667 26.28917

Pound sterling [GBP] 0.89593 0.88713 0.88640 0.87628

Indian rupee [INR] 79.83300 76.62500 80.62325 73.80608

Yen [JPY] 125.83750 134.90300 129.98700 127.29942

South Korean won [KRW] 1,277.06000 1,279.21000 1,296.14000 1,275.56000

Mexican peso [MXN] 22.65270 23.55620 22.66994 21.40203

Russian ruble [RUB] 79.46050 68.86680 74.06108 66.03271

Singapore dollar [SGD] 1.55823 1.60180 1.59031 1.56127

Baht [THB] 37.12520 39.02725 38.11886 38.35134

US dollar [USD] 1.14420 1.19914 1.17967 1.13716

8. Accounting policies

The financial statements of the companies included in the consolidated financial statements are prepared as at December 31 of each fiscal year 

in accordance with accounting policies that are standard across the Group in line with the IFRS.

Realization of expense and income
Sales revenue is realized when control of delimitable goods or services transfers to the customer, i.e. when the customer is able to determine 

how to use the goods or services transferred and essentially to exploit the remaining benefit arising from them. The prerequisite for this is that 

a contract exists setting out enforceable rights and obligations and, inter alia, that the receipt of a return consideration – taking into account 

the creditworthiness of the customer – is likely. The sales revenue corresponds to the transaction price, to which the Group is expected to be 

entitled. Variable return considerations are included in the transaction price if it is highly unlikely that there will be a significant redemption of 

sales revenue as soon as the uncertainty relating to the variable return consideration no longer exists. The amount of the variable return consid

eration is determined using either the expected value method or the probably amount, depending on which value most accurately assesses the 

variable return consideration. If the period between the transfer of the goods or services and the time of payment exceeds twelve months and 

a significant benefit results from the financing for the customers or the MANN+HUMMEL Group, the return consideration is adjusted by the fair 
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value of the money. If a contract encompasses several delimitable goods or services, the transaction price is distributed to the performance ob

ligations on the basis of the relative individual sales prices. If individual sales prices cannot be observed directly, the Group assesses them at an 

appropriate level. For every performance obligation, sales revenue is realized either at a specific point in time or over a specific period of time.

Sales revenue from the sale of goods is realized at the point in time at which the control of the goods transfers to the acquiring party, generally 

on delivery of the goods. Invoices are issued at this time; in these, the payment conditions generally require payment within thirty days of the 

invoice date.

For license agreements, which grant the customer a right to use the intellectual property of the MANN+HUMMEL Group, invoices are issued 

in accordance with the contractual conditions; here the payment conditions generally require payment within thirty days of the invoice date.

Sales revenue from the provision of services is realized in a linear fashion over a specific period or – if the performance of services is not 

linear – in accordance with the performance of services, i.e. using the percentageofcompletion method. Invoices are issued in accordance with 

the contractual conditions; in these, the payment conditions generally require payment within thirty days of the invoice date.

The cost of sales includes the cost of making the products and the initial costs of the merchandise sold. In addition to the directly attrib

utable costs for materials and production, they also include the indirect, productionrelated overheads, including the depreciations on the 

tangible assets used and amortizations on intangible assets. The costs of sales also contain expenses from the depreciation of inventories to 

the lower net revenue. 

The research costs and the development costs that cannot be capitalized are recognized immediately in income. 

Borrowing expenses that can be attributed directly to the purchase or production of an asset, for which a considerable amount of time is 

required to put it into the intended usable or sellable status, are capitalized as part of the costs of procurement or production. All other bor

rowing expenses are immediately recognized as expenditure.

Interest income is recognized in income at the time of generation. 

Dividend income is recognized on the occurrence of the legal entitlement.

Income taxes
The actual income tax receivables and income tax liabilities for the current and previous periods are measured with the sum in whose amount 

a refund from or a payment to the tax authorities is expected. The calculation of the amount is based on the tax rates and tax laws valid at the 

time of the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are formed on temporary differences between the recognition of tax rates and the IFRS carrying 

amounts. The deferred tax assets also include tax reduction entitlements that result from the expected use of existing loss carryforwards and 

tax credits in the subsequent years. The deferred taxes are determined on the basis of tax rates that apply according to the current legal situ

ation in the individual countries at the time of realization or are expected with sufficient likelihood.

Deferred tax assets on temporary differences and on tax loss carryforwards are only recognized if there is sufficient likelihood that the 

resulting tax reductions will actually occur in the future.
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The carrying amount of the deferred tax assets is audited on every balance sheet date and reduced to the extent to which it is no longer likely 

that a sufficient result to be reported for tax purposes will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized at least partially. 

Nonrecognized deferred tax assets are audited on every balance sheet date and recognized to a degree to which it has become likely that a 

future result to be reported for tax purposes will enable the realization of the deferred tax asset.

Furthermore, no deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized if they result from the initial recognition of goodwill, an asset or a liability 

within the framework of a business case that is not a company merger and if this initial recognition influences neither the balance sheet net 

profit or loss before income tax nor the result to be reported for tax purposes.

Deferred taxes that relate to items that are recognized in equity capital directly are also recognized in equity capital and not in the consol

idated profit and loss statement.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset against one another if the MANN+HUMMEL Group has a claimable entitlement to 

offsetting the actual tax rebate claims against actual tax liabilities and these refer to income taxes of the same taxpayer, which are levied by 

the same tax authority.

Intangible assets
Acquired and internally generated intangible assets are capitalized if it is likely that a future economic benefit is associated with the use of the 

asset and the costs of the asset can be determined reliably.

As regards the accounting and measurement of goodwill, reference is made to the explanations of the principles of consolidation and the 

impairment tests. 

The intangible assets, that were identified within the framework of the material company acquisitions, comprise primarily customer re

lationships and brand names. The fair values of the customer lists/relationships were determined using the residual value method based on 

corporate planning with a usage period of 6 to 15 years. 

Tooling cost contributions made to suppliers are recognized if they constitute a right granted by the supplier or a remuneration to be 

provided for the service of the supplier. Tooling cost contributions received are written off over a period of one to six years.

Development costs are capitalized at cost given the requirements of IAS 38 if, in addition to other criteria, the technical feasibility and mar

keting are ensured. Furthermore, the development activities must generate a future economic benefit with sufficient likelihood. The capitalized 

development costs include all costs directly attributable to the development process. Capitalized development costs are written off as planned 

over an expected product lifecycle of five years from the start of production.

Other intangible assets are recognized at cost and written off in linear fashion as planned, applying the following usage periods:
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in years

Independently developed software 4

Software – general (individual licenses) 4

Software – version change, e.g. product data management (PDM) and CAD (CATIA, ProEngineer, NX, etc.) 8

Patents 10

Intangible assets with an uncertain usage period are only available as at the balance sheet date in the form of goodwill.

Tangible assets
All tangible assets are subject to operational use and are measured at cost or manufacturing cost, less planned usagerelated depreciation. The 

depreciations on the tangible assets are made using the linear method. The planned depreciations are based on the following usage periods 

throughout the Group:

in years

Buildings 20 to 40

Components 20 to 25

Building parts 15 to 33

Outdoor facilities 20 to 33

Machines 8 to 20

Operating equipment 12 to 20

Vehicles 6 to 10

Tools 5

Machines/devices general 8 to 15

Tools and equipment 6 to 10

For machines used in multiple shifts, the depreciations are increased by shift additions accordingly.

The residual values, depreciation methods and usage periods of the assets are verified annually and adjusted as applicable.

According to the regulations on accounting for lease agreements, the economic property is attributed to the lessee if it largely bears all 

opportunities and risks associated with ownership. Lease agreements that fulfill these requirements are classified as financial leases. The 

leased property is capitalized at the time of concluding the agreement at fair value or the lower cash value of the minimum lease payments. 

The amortizations are made as planned in a linear fashion over the planned usage period or over the shorter agreement term. The discounted 

payment obligations resulting from the future lease rates are recognized as a liability under financial liabilities. The lease payments are broken 

down into a repayment and an interest portion in the following periods. The interest portion is recognized in income in the net financial result. 

The repayment portion reduces the financial liabilities.

Lease rates or rents that result from operating lease agreements are generally recognized in a linear fashion over the term of the lease 

as expenses in the consolidated profit and loss statement. The future encumbrance from operating leases is presented under other financial 

liabilities.
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Government grants
Government grants are only recognized if there is sufficient security that the associated terms will be met and the grants extended. Investment 

subsidies are deducted from the assets in the period they occurred. Cost subsidies are recognized as earnings over the same period in which 

the expenses, for whose compensation they were granted, are incurred.

Standard market interest rates are used for the measurement of noninterestbearing and lowinterestbearing loans from the state. The dif

ference between the deducted amount and repayment amount is deferred and recognized under other liabilities. The deferred amount is 

dissolved over the term of the loan agreement, which largely corresponds to the usage period of the asset, and is recognized in the interest 

expense. 

Investments in associates and joint ventures
Investments in associates and joint ventures are generally accounted for using the equity method with the pro rata equity capital and initially 

with the acquisition costs, including transaction costs. If there are objective indications of an impairment of the shares on the balance sheet 

date, an impairment test is carried out. The share of the Group in the net profit or loss for the period of the associates or joint ventures is rec

ognized separately as part of the net financial result in the consolidated profit and loss statement. Earnings and expenses recognized directly 

in the equity capital of the associates or joint ventures are also recognized in equity at the MANN+HUMMEL Group and presented separately in 

the statement of comprehensive income. The accumulated changes after the time of purchase increase or reduce the equity holding’s carrying 

amount of the associate/joint venture accordingly. Profits and losses from transactions between the MANN+HUMMEL Group and associates/

joint ventures are eliminated in accordance with the holding share.

Impairment tests
For shares in equity holdings, for already used intangible assets and for tangible assets it is verified as at the balance sheet date whether 

there are any indications of a possible impairment. In the event of such indications, the value is verified (impairment test). Intangible assets not 

yet ready for use and intangible assets with undefined usage periods are subjected to an impairment test every year.

To carry out the impairment test, the recoverable amount is determined. This is the higher amount from the fair value of the asset or the 

smallest cashgenerating unit less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable amount is determined for the individual asset or, if no cash 

flows can be attributed to the individual asset, for a cashgenerating unit. The smallest units whose cash flows are forecasted within the frame

work of the corporate planning are defined as cashgenerating units. 

The recoverable amount corresponds to the fair value less disposal costs (level 3) and was determined as the cash value of future cash 

flows. The future cash flows were derived from the planning of the Group. The calculation of the cash value of the estimated future cash flows 

is based largely on assumptions regarding future sales prices or quantities and costs, taking into account changed economic framework con

ditions, if applicable. Net cash flows beyond the detailed planning phase are determined by applying individual growth rates derived from 

the relevant market information on the basis of longterm business expectations. The planning for the Original Equipment and Aftermarket 

business units is based on a detailed planning period for the 2019 to 2021 fiscal years and for the Life Sciences & Environment – Air and Water 

business units for the 2019 to 2026 fiscal years. 
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The estimate of the fair value after deduction of the disposal costs for tangible assets is carried out on the basis of discounted cash flows as 

well as a costbased approach for comparable assets, which are normally not based on parameters observable in the market (level 3). An im

pairment is recognized if the recoverable amount falls below the carrying amount of the asset or the cashgenerating unit. 

The carrying amount of each business unit is determined by assigning the assets and liabilities, including attributable goodwill and in

tangible assets. An impairment must always be performed if the recoverable amount of a business unit is less than its carrying amount. The 

recoverable amount is determined as the fair value less disposal costs or the value in use of a cashgenerating unit, whichever is higher. 

If the grounds for an impairment carried out earlier no longer apply, an addition takes place; however this shall be no greater than the 

amortized acquisition or manufacturing costs. Impairments and reversals of impairments of intangible assets and tangible assets are allocated 

to the functional areas of the consolidated profit and loss statement.

Goodwill from company mergers is allocated to those groups of cashgenerating units that benefit from the mergers. 

In accordance with IAS 36, goodwill is not written off as planned over its usage period, but is instead subject to a value test once yearly at 

the end of the year, in accordance with the abovedescribed methods, which can lead to an impairment (impairmentonly approach).

Impairments on goodwill are recognized if the recoverable amount of the corresponding cashgenerating unit is below its carrying amount. 

Impairments on goodwill are reported in other expenses. An addition to goodwill is not carried out.

In order to comply with the regulations of IFRS 3 in conjunction with IAS 36 and to determine any impairments of goodwill, cashgener

ating units were stipulated in accordance with the internal reporting. Previously in the MANN+HUMMEL Group, these were the legal units. In 

the current fiscal year, the Management Board amended the internal planning and reporting processes, following a Groupwide realignment 

of the control model towards the business units. This led to a change to the cashgenerating units in the Group, as the monitoring and control, 

including of goodwill, have been performed by the primary decisionmakers at the level of the business units since the 2018 fiscal year. As of 

this fiscal year, these are allocated to the Original Equipment, Aftermarket, Life Sciences & Environment – Air as well as Life Sciences & Environ

ment – Water business units. To audit the value, the carrying amount of each business unit is determined by assigning the assets and liabilities, 

including attributable goodwill and intangible assets. An impairment must always be performed if the recoverable amount of a business unit is 

less than its carrying amount. The recoverable amount is determined as the fair value less disposal costs or the value in use of a cashgenerating 

unit, whichever is higher. The impairment tests to be performed for fiscal year 2018 determine the recoverable amount on the basis of the value 

in use of the relevant cashgenerating unit.

Up to December 31, 2017, the financial assets under IAS 39 (Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement) were accounted for in 

accordance with the following principles:

Financial assets
Short and longterm financial assets are broken down into the following categories:

• Loans and receivables

• Financial assets available for sale

• Financial assets held for trading
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The Loans and receivables category includes cash, financial assets and trade receivables. Lending and loans as well as bank balances and 

overnight cash are recognized under financial assets. They are recognized at cost less depreciation using the effective interest rate. Trade 

receivables are recognized at the invoice amount 

In the event of objective indications that point toward an impairment on the loans and receivables, the impairment loss is determined as 

the difference between the cash value of the expected future cash flow and the carrying amount and recognized in income on a later allowance 

account. If there is a risk of uncollectibility, a direct valuation allowance takes place.

The Financial assets available for sale category includes, as a rule, all securities for which entry in this category is permissible as well as 

holdings. After the recognition, financial assets available for sale are measured at their fair value as a rule. Holdings for which no active market 

exists and whose fair values are to be determined in lack of planning data are recognized at cost. A sale of these shares is currently not planned; 

there is no information about impairments.

Profits and losses from changes to the fair value of the financial assets available for sale are recognized in the revenue reserves in the eq

uity capital without any impact on result. A transfer into the consolidated profit and loss statement is carried out as soon as an impairment is 

detected, at the latest on disposal of the financial assets.

In the event of objective indications of a sustainable impairment, such as a permanent fall in the fair value of the financial asset or a major 

worsening of the issuer’s credit rating, the accumulated net loss is removed from the equity capital and recognized in the net financial result. 

The accumulated net loss is the difference from the cost and the current fair value, if applicable less any impairment loss of the financial asset 

recognized previously in income. Later reversals of impairment losses for equity capital instruments are recognized in equity. For borrowing 

instruments, reversals in income are made in the amount of the impairments previously recognized. If there are indications of an impairment 

for holdings measured at cost, this is recognized in income. A reversal of these shares is not carried out.

Financial assets held for trading and liabilities relate to derivative financial instruments for which the option of hedge accounting is not 

exercised or the criteria of which are not fulfilled.

The capitalization of financial assets is carried out on the date of fulfillment as a rule. 

A financial asset is derecognized on the date of fulfillment if the contractual rights to cash flows from the assets have expired or all risks 

and opportunities have been largely assigned. Derecognition before the date of fulfillment is carried out as soon as the uncollectibility of trade 

receivables as well as financial assets is confirmed.
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Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is recognized in the consolidated balance sheet if there is a legal claim at the cur

rent moment in time to offset the amounts recognized against one another and if it is intended to bring about the offsetting on a net basis or 

to replace the associated liability at the same time as the realization of the relevant asset.

Hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are used at the MANN+HUMMEL Group for hedging purposes in order to reduce currency and interest risks 

as well as risks from equities. According to IAS 39, all derivative financial instruments are accounted for at market value.

Inasmuch as the MANN+HUMMEL Group opts for the balancesheet representation of hedging relationships in accordance with the regula

tions of hedge accounting on a casebycase basis, the accounting is carried out as a cash flow hedge or fair value hedge. If no hedge account

ing is applied, the derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value and the changes in fair value recognized in income.

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge against risks of changes in the value of future cash flows. In the event of changes to the market value 

of financial instruments used within the framework of cash flow hedges, the unrealized profits and losses in the amount of the effective portion 

are initially recognized in the revenue reserves without an impact on income. A transfer to the consolidated profit and loss statement takes 

place at the same time as the impact on results from the hedged item. The noneffective portion of the changes in market value is recognized 

directly in the consolidated profit and loss statement.

Fair value hedges are used to hedge against risks of changes in the value of balance sheet items. In the event the criteria are fulfilled, the 

results from the fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments are recognized in income at the same time as the associated un

derlying transactions.

Effects with an impact on results arising from hedging transactions concluded to hedge against risks from commodity price changes, are 

recognized in the cost of sales. The profits and losses from currency hedging transactions are recognized in other income and expenses or as 

part of the acquisition costs. Profits and losses from derivative financial instruments that serve to hedge against interestchange risks and price 

risks from securities are recognized in other net financial result.

With the introduction of IFRS 9 (Financial Instruments), accounting is carried out in accordance with the following regulations as of fiscal 

year 2018. 

Financial instruments
The financial assets are categorized according to IFRS 9 into three measurement categories: 

(1) financial assets that are valued at amortized cost (AC), 

(2) financial assets that are valued at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and 

(3) financial assets that are valued at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

Financial assets are classified in accordance with the underlying business model and the contractual cash flows of the financial assets. The 

fundamental business model of MANN+HUMMEL comprises holding financial assets in order to collect the contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets are valued at amortized cost (AC) if they correspond to the “Hold” business model and their contractual cash flows com

prise exclusively payments of principal and interest. 

Financial assets, the cash flows of which do not exclusively comprise payments of principal and interest, such as for example in the case 

of shares in investment funds and derivatives, are valued at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL). At the MANN+HUMMEL Group, equities, 

investment funds and derivatives not included in hedge accounting do not satisfy the cash flow characteristic criterion and are valued at fair 
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value through profit or loss. Further information is provided under Item 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. For sharehold

ers’ equity instruments, IFRS 9 optionally permits valuation at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The MANN+HUMMEL 

Group makes use of this option to value at fair value through other comprehensive income for its investments.

The impairment model under IFRS 9 incorporates expectations regarding the future and provides for expected losses, whereas under 

IAS 39 only incurred losses were recorded as an impairment on financial assets. The impairment model under IFRS 9 provides for three levels 

and is applicable to all financial assets (debt instruments), which are valued either at amortized cost or at fair value through other comprehen

sive income (FVOCI). 

Level 1: Contains all contracts without a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. The impairment is measured on the basis 

of the expected credit losses within the next twelve months. 

Level 2: Contains financial assets that have experienced an increase in the credit risk, but whose creditworthiness has not yet been impact

ed. The impairment is measured on the basis of the expected credit losses over the remaining lifetime. The Group considers a deterioration 

in rating by at least two rating grades compared to the forward rating and a rating that is no longer in the investment grade range to be an 

increase in credit risk.

Level 3: Contains financial assets that display objective indications of an impairment or hold a default status. A value adjustment is recog

nized for the expected credit losses over the entire lifetime of the financial asset, along with other qualitative information that indicates material 

financial difficulties on the part of the debtor. 

The MANN+HUMMEL Group makes use of the simplified approach (loss rate approach) for trade receivables. Accordingly, these receivables 

are assigned to level 2 on firsttime application as at January 1, 2018. Thereafter, assets are assigned, according to their rating, to level 2 or level 

3. A grouping or reallocation to level 3 takes place if the rating is no longer in the investment grade range, or if there are objective indications 

of an impairment of creditworthiness. 

MANN+HUMMEL applies a uniform impairment model that takes into consideration the probability of the failure of the business partner or 

of a group of comparable business partners.

Determination using the credit risk parameter approach:

The expected credit loss (ECL) is determined by multiplying the credit risk parameters, exposure at default (EAD), probability of default (PD) 

and the loss given default (LGD). The parameters are determined so that they reflect relevant events in the past, the current situation and 

futureoriented information. In principle, this can be done using an economic model that contains all the information listed or by amending ex

isting parameters so that the current economic environment and forecasts as to how it might change in the future are taken into consideration. 

This information encompasses macroeconomic factors, e.g. growth in gross domestic product, unemployment rate and forecasts of future 

economic framework conditions. 

In the simplified approach for receivables, the impairment is determined using external default probabilities according to customer group. 

In the general approach, the determination is based on the credit ratings of the relevant business partners.

A financial instrument is derecognized, if according to an appropriate assessment it cannot be assumed that a financial asset is realizable 

in whole or in part, e.g. after the end of insolvency proceedings or after court decisions. Currently, insignificant modifications are made to a 

minor extent only. In these cases, the contract amendment does not lead to a derecognition of the asset. The difference determined between 

the gross carrying amount of the original and the cash value of the modified contract is recognized in income in the profit and loss statement.
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Financial liabilities are, in principle, valued after first recognition using the effective interest method with the amortized acquisition costs. 

Profits or losses are recognized in profit and loss, during derecognition and within the framework of amortization. Financial liabilities valued 

at fair value through profit or loss are measured after their first recognition at their fair value. Profits or losses arising from the change in fair 

value are recognized in income.

Hedge accounting
Derivative financial instruments are used at the MANN+HUMMEL Group for hedging purposes in order to reduce currency and interest risks. 

According to IFRS 9, all derivative financial instruments are accounted for at market value.

Hedging relationships are presented in accordance with the hedge accounting regulations. Accounting is carried out as a cash flow hedge 

or a fair value hedge.

Cash flow hedges are used to hedge against risks of changes in the value of future cash flows. In the event of changes to the market value 

of financial instruments used within the framework of cash flow hedges, the unrealized profits and losses in the amount of the effective portion 

are initially recognized in the revenue reserves without an impact on income. A transfer to the consolidated profit and loss statement takes 

place at the same time as the impact on results from the hedged item. The noneffective portion of the changes in market value is recognized 

directly in the consolidated profit and loss statement.

Fair value hedges are used to hedge against risks of changes in the value of balance sheet items. In the event the criteria are fulfilled, the 

results from the fair value measurement of derivative financial instruments are recognized in income at the same time as the associated un

derlying transactions.

Effects with an impact on results arising from hedging transactions concluded to hedge against risks from commodity price changes are 

recognized in the cost of sales. The profits and losses from currency hedging transactions are recognized in other income and expenses or as 

part of the acquisition costs. Profits and losses from derivative financial instruments that serve to hedge against interestchange risks and price 

risks from securities are recognized in other net financial result.

Inventories
Materials and supplies as well as trading goods are measured at their average cost in observance of lower net sales values as at the balance 

sheet date as a rule. Work in progress and finished goods are recognized at cost of production in observance of lower net sales values and 

 taking into account consumption as at the balance sheet date. Cost of production includes all costs directly attributable to the production 

process as well as appropriate portions of the productionrelated overheads. They include productionrelated depreciations, pro rata adminis

tration costs and pro rata expenses of the social area.

Cash
Cash in hand as well as bank balances currently available and shortterm overnight cash are recognized under cash.
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Assets held for sale and disposal groups
Assets and liabilities are recognized as disposal groups if they are to be sold as a group in a transaction that is highly likely. Individual assets 

are recognized in the balance sheet as assets held for sale. The relevant assets and liabilities are reported in the balance sheet within current 

assets and liabilities as assets of asset groups held for sale or liabilities of disposal groups. The earnings and expenses of the affected assets and 

liabilities are included in the result from continued activities until sale if they do not fulfill the definition of a discontinued operation.

On initial classification of the disposal group, the measuring is initially carried out in accordance with the relevant IFRS standards; the resulting 

carrying amount of the disposal group is then compared with the fair value less sales costs in order to determine the lower value to the applied.

Financial and other liabilities
The capital economically attributable to the shareholders is shown within the noncurrent liabilities. In accordance with German commercial 

regulations, exclusive termination rights for shareholders do not arise in business partnerships like MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. 

KG. According to IAS 32.16, an equity instrument only exists for the most subordinate class of shareholders however if and only if a company 

has neither an unconditional nor a conditional obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset. On the basis of the regulations in the articles 

of incorporation pertaining to the compensation of shareholders, the shares in MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG do not meet 

the requirements of IAS 32.16A for the disclosure of puttable shares as equity; they are thus disclosed within noncurrent liabilities as “Capital 

economically attributable to the shareholders”. Insofar as the IFRS demand a presentation of the facts under other comprehensive income, this 

also applies to partnerships which do not have equity according to the IFRS. Such facts are therefore not disclosed in the result of the relevant 

period, even for the MANN+HUMMEL Group.

The capital economically attributable to the shareholders is measured based on the fair value of the obligation. In this case, this corre

sponds to the pro rata carrying amount of the respective shareholder in the IFRS Group equity.

The financial and other liabilities are applied on the initial recognition at cost, which corresponds to the fair value of the return services 

received. Transaction costs are also taken into account in this process. Subsequently, the liabilities are evaluated with the amortized acquisition 

costs under application of the effective interest method. If financial liabilities have not yet been claimed, the transaction costs are deferred within 

other assets. Collection in income takes place within other financial expenses. Derecognition of financial liabilities and other liabilities takes place 

as soon as the underlying liabilities have been fulfilled, canceled or expired.

For financial guarantees given by the company, the risk of being claimed is assessed as best possible inasmuch as such exist as at the 

balance sheet date. In so far as their being claimed is likely, a liability in the amount of the cash outflow to be expected is recognized under 

financial liabilities. 

The application of the fair value option, to categorize financial assets and liabilities on their initial recognition in the “at fair value through 

profit or loss” category, is not utilized at the MANN+HUMMEL Group as a rule.
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Tooling cost contributions received
Tooling cost contributions received constitute the return consideration for rights granted to the subsidizing party or services to be provided. 

The subsidies are deferred as tooling cost contributions received under other liabilities. The dissolution is carried out over the project period.

Other provisions
Other provisions are formed if a liability toward a third party exists from a past event which will likely be claimed and the expected amount of the 

necessary provision amount can be reliably assessed.

When measuring the provisions from the sale area, in particular for guarantees and expected losses from open transactions, all cost compo

nents are integrated that are also capitalized in the inventories as a rule. The measurement is carried out at the amount of the best possible 

estimate of the expenses required to fulfill the liability on the balance sheet date. The measurement of the guarantee provisions is carried out 

on the basis of the guarantee expenses actually incurred, taking into account guarantee periods and periods of grace as well as sales perfor

mance of the products affected in the period considered.

The staffrelated liabilities relate, in particular, to anniversary benefits and partial retirement working hours obligations. Provisions for 

anniversaries of years of service are determined in accordance with actuarial principles. The provisions for partial retirement working hours 

obligations include the amounts set aside for the pension insurance under individual or payscale agreements as well as the remuneration 

payments to be made during the release phase. The accumulation takes place pro rata from the start of the obligation.

The partial retirement working hours obligations are hedged against insolvency via a trust model. To this end, shares in a special fund were 

assigned to a trustee. The shares in the special fund are measured at fair value. The assets used exclusively for the fulfillment of the partial 

retirement working hours obligations and removed from the access of all other creditors are offset against the provisions (plan assets). If they 

exceed the provision value, the excess amount is recognized in the noncurrent other financial assets. The earnings from the plan assets are 

recognized as offset against the expense from the accrued interest of the provisions in the income statement.

Longterm provisions with a remaining term of more than one year are recognized at their fulfillment amount discounted on the balance 

sheet date. Discounting is carried out at an interest rate that corresponds to the risk and the maturity of the fulfillment inasmuch as the interest 

effect is relevant.

Pension provisions
The provisions for pensions are formed in accordance with the projected unit credit method. In this method, not only the pensions known as at 

the balance sheet date and the unit credits known, but also increases in expected pensions and current withdrawals are considered. The calcu

lation is based on actuarial expert reports taking into account current biometric calculation bases. Actuarial profits and losses are recognized in 

the period of being generated in the full amount in other comprehensive income. The expenses from accrued interest and the expected earn

ings from fund assets are offset and recognized in interest expense. All other expenses from the allocation of pension obligations are allocated 

to the affected functional areas in the consolidated profit and loss statement.
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9. Judgments and uncertainties in connection with estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires that assumptions are made and estimates used that have an effect on the 

amount and reporting of the recognized assets and liabilities, earnings and expenses as well as the contingent liabilities. Key assumptions and 

estimates that are used when recognizing and measuring the balance sheet items are explained below.

The capital economically attributable to the shareholders is shown within noncurrent liabilities. On the basis of the regulations in the arti

cles of incorporation pertaining to the compensation of shareholders, the shares in MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG do not meet 

the requirements of IAS 32.16A for the disclosure of puttable shares as equity; they are thus disclosed within noncurrent liabilities as “Capital 

economically attributable to the shareholders”. The capital economically attributable to the shareholders is measured based on the fair value 

of the obligation. In this case, this corresponds to the pro rata carrying amount of the respective shareholder in the IFRS Group equity.

When capitalizing costs of development (Item 17 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements), assessments of the management 

regarding the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the development projects are included in the recognition decision. The measure

ment of the capitalized development costs depends on assumptions about the amount and period of the inflow of the expected future cash 

flow and on the discounting rates to be applied. 

When accounting for other intangible assets and tangible assets (Items 17 and 19 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements), 

assumptions and estimates largely relate to the definition of usage periods. With respect to intangible assets that are being recognized for the 

first time within the framework of a company acquisition (Item 5 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements), (e.g. customer base), 

the fair value of these assets is determined as part of a purchase price allocation according to IFRS 3. If a market price oriented method cannot 

be applied, the Group shall in principle determine the fair value of the intangible assets using capital value oriented methods. The value of an 

asset results, in this case, from the sum of the cash values of the cash flows achievable in the future as at the measurement date. The forecast of 

measurementrelevant cash flows and the derivation of the capital cost rates that reflect the risk of the respective intangible asset have a sig

nificant influence on the measurement. As part of the capital value oriented method, the Group has essentially applied the relieffromroyalty 

method (e.g. for brand names) and the residual value method (inter alia for the customer base).

Intangible assets were identified within the framework of purchase price allocations. With respect to the newly acquired companies, these 

essentially include knowhow and customer relationships. The fair values of the identified customer lists/relationships were determined using 

the residual value method and corporate planning with a usage period of 6 to 15 years. The brands were measured using the relieffromroyalty 

method. The expected brand sales and the expected license rates were key assumptions here. The usage period was set at 10 years.

Within the framework of the impairment tests (Item 18 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements), assumptions and estimates 

are used to determine the expected future cash flow and to define the discounting rates. In particular in the area of intangible assets and liabil

ities, an influence on the relevant value may occur.

For the realization of sales, assumptions are made and discretion exercised when an assessment must be made as to whether these are 

sales specific to a time frame or a point in time. Furthermore, the determination of the amount of the sales revenue in the case of variable 

transaction prices is discretionary and is subject to certain assumptions (Items 10 and 22 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements).

The assessment of the value of trade receivables (Item 24 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) is subject to a judgment about 

the assessment of the future solvency of the debtors.
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The determination of the fair value of the securities (Item 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) allocated to level 3 of the 

fair value hierarchy are based on basic data that cannot be observed in the market. The calculation carried out in accordance with the discount

ed cash flow method is based on estimates about the expected cash flow and discounting rates used.

When recognizing the deferred tax assets (Item 15 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements), the assumptions and estimates 

refer to the likelihood of the expected tax reductions actually occurring in the future.

The actuarial measurement of the provisions for pensions (Item 31 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) is carried out, in 

particular, on the basis of assumptions on the discounting rates, future pension performance, age deferral and the performance of the general 

living expenses. 

The determination of warranty provisions (Item 30 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) is subject to assumptions and 

estimates that refer to the period between time of delivery and entry of the warranty event, warranty period and period of grace as well as the 

future warranty charges.

The determination of longterm provisions for onerous contracts (Item 30 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) is subject 

to judgments about the interpretation of supply agreements. Significant decisionmaking criteria here include the binding definition of the 

period, quantities and prices of delivery.

The amount of the impairment expenses for financial assets (Item 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements) is influenced 

by judgments, e.g. regarding the assessment as to whether the price losses are significant or longerlasting and about the assessment of the 

issuer’s credit rating.

For tax risks arising from current company audits, provisions were formed insofar as the facts are sufficiently concrete and their occurrence 

is probable.

Further material judgments and estimates were not made.

The actual values may differ from the assumptions and estimates made in individual cases. Changes are considered in income when better 

information comes to light. 

At the time of preparing the annual financial statements the underlying estimates were not exposed to any significant risks, for which rea

son no major adjustment to the assets and liabilities recognized in the consolidated financial statements is to be expected in the subsequent 

fiscal year.
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Hyperinflation
Argentina is classified as a hyperinflationary economy with effect from July 1, 2018. The IAS 29 regulations therefore apply to our subsidiaries in 

Argentina. Accordingly, the financial statements of an entity whose functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, whether 

they are based on a historical cost approach or a current cost approach, must be stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the balance 

sheet date. Certain methods must be applied for the restatement of financial statements. Balance sheet amounts not already expressed in 

terms of the measuring unit current at the balance sheet date are restated by applying a general price index. Monetary items are not restated, 

as they are already stated in the monetary unit current at the balance sheet date. Monetary items are money held and items to be received or 

paid in money. Assets and liabilities linked by agreement to changes in prices, such as index linked bonds and loans, are adjusted in accordance 

with the agreement in order to ascertain the amount outstanding at the balance sheet date. These items are carried at this adjusted amount in 

the restated balance sheet. All other assets and liabilities are nonmonetary. Some nonmonetary items are carried at amounts current at the 

balance sheet date, such as net realizable value and market value, so they are not restated. All other nonmonetary assets and liabilities are re

stated. Most nonmonetary items are carried at cost or cost less depreciation; hence they are expressed at amounts current at their date of ac

quisition. The restated cost, or cost less depreciation, of each item is determined by applying to its historical cost and accumulated depreciation 

the change in a general price index from the date of acquisition to the balance sheet date. Hence, tangible assets, inventories of raw materials 

and merchandise, goodwill, patents, trademarks and similar assets are restated from the dates of their purchase. Inventories of partlyfinished 

and finished goods are restated from the dates on which the costs of purchase and of conversion were incurred. The restated amount of a 

nonmonetary item is reduced accordingly when it exceeds the recoverable amount. Hence, in such cases, restated amounts of tangible assets, 

goodwill, patents and trademarks are reduced to recoverable amount and restated amounts of inventories are reduced to net realizable value.

All items in the profit and loss statement must be expressed in terms of the measuring unit current at the balance sheet date. Therefore all 

amounts need to be restated by applying the change in the general price index from the dates when the items of income and expenses were 

initially recorded in the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT

The consolidated profit and loss statement is prepared using the cost of sales method.

10. Sales

EUR million 2018 2017

Europe 1,953.9 1,876.8

America 1,367.1 1,382.3

Asia 562,6 598.6

Rest of the world 71.7 34.4

3,955.3 3,892.1

Of the sales revenues, EUR 3,921.9 million (previous year EUR 3,879.1 million) is attributable to the sale of goods and EUR 33.4 million (previous 

year EUR 13.0 million) to the provision of services. All sales revenues are revenue from contracts with customers.

11. Cost of sales and other costs

EUR million 2018 2017

Material costs 2,275.0 2,140.7

Personnel costs 572.2 531.7

Depreciation and amortization 183.5 160.6

Other operating expenses 63.2 127.0

3,093.9 2,960.0

The research and development costs include expenses for the inhouse research department and expenses for external research and develop

ment services and test activities. The activities in this area serve to develop products to generate revenues.

The selling expenses largely include expenses for outbound logistics, advertising and customer support as well as for commissions and 

licenses. 

The general administration expenses largely include the expenses for information technology, finance and controlling, taxes, legal and 

for human resources. 
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12. Other operating income
 

EUR million 2018 2017

Income from foreign currency translation 18.5 14.5

Income from sale of tangible assets 7.4 3.5

Other 27.2 17.4

53.1 35.4

13. Other operating expenses 

EUR million 2018 2017

Expenditure from restructuring 4.1 8.3

Expenditure from foreign currency translation 22.9 26.6

Expenditure from sale of tangible assets 2.0 2.2

Guarantee expenditure 8.4 5.5

Other 60.3 43.0

97.7 85.6

Other expenses include impairments on goodwill in the amount of EUR 20.7 million (previous year EUR 9.0 million), costs in relation to various 

consultancy services in the amount of EUR 17.1 million (previous year EUR 14.7 million) and costs in relation to increased provisions for onerous 

contracts in the amount of EUR 7.1 million (previous year EUR 6.2 million).
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14. Net financial result

EUR million 2018 2017

Share in the result from associates 0.5 0.4

Interest and similar income 13.4 7.2

Currency gains 34.5 10.9

Income from lending, financial assets and securities 8.1 13.6

Income from sale of financial assets, securities and hedging transactions 0.8 1.9

Financial income 56.8 33.6

Accrued interest of non-current items 8.6 8.2

Distribution from "Capital economically attributable to the shareholders" 5.3 5.1

Interest and similar expenses 72.0 55.1

Currency losses 30.1 12.8

Depreciation on lending, financial assets and securities 0 2.2

Losses from sale of financial assets, securities and hedging transactions 19.3 8.0

Financial expenses 135.3 91.4

Net financial result – 78.0 – 57.4

The restatement of the balance sheet and profit and loss statement of our subsidiary in Argentina due to hyperinflation had a negative effect 

on earnings in the amount of EUR 2.5 million in the fiscal year, which was recognized in the net financial result.

15. Income taxes
 

EUR million 2018 2017

Current tax expenses 68.4 50.2

Tax revenues previous years – 0.3 – 11.0

Tax expenses previous years 1.1 3.6

Deferred taxes from temporary differences – 3.6 – 30.7

Deferred taxes from loss carryforwards and tax credits 16.2 13.4

81.8 25.5

For the MANN+HUMMEL Group, a weighted Group tax rate was calculated based on the profit contributions and tax rates of the individual 

Group companies. The Group tax rate remains unchanged at 24.0% (previous year 24.0%). This income tax rate is used as the applicable tax 

rate for the tax reconciliation account. The tax rates applicable abroad in the fiscal year are unchanged at between 9% and 37.1% (previous year 

9% and 35%). 
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The inventory of deferred tax assets and liabilities results from the following balance sheet items:

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Intangible assets 10.0 71.5 17.3 89.2

Tangible assets 0.0 25.1 2.9 45.2

Financial assets 0.5 1.3 0.3 2.1

Inventories 9.8 2.1 7.1 2.0

Trade receivables 8.9 0.0 11.2 1.2

Other current assets 3.1 3.3 2.6 0.5

Pension provisions 5.5 0.2 57.3 0.8

Other provisions 19.2 0.3 26.7 0.2

Current financial liabilities 0.0 0.1 0.8 0.0

Trade payables 1.2 0.0 0.4 0.1

Other liabilities 9.4 0.1 7.5 1.1

Deferred taxes related to shares in subsidiaries 0.0 3.9 0.0 8.2

Other 0.4 0.4 2.1 0.1

68.0 108.3 136.2 150.7

Tax losses and tax credits carried forward 26.3 42.4 0.0

Offsetting – 27.3 – 27.3 – 91.0 – 91.0

67.0 81.0 87.6 59.7

From the fair value measurement of securities and cash flow hedges, as at the balance sheet date deferred tax liabilities of EUR 0.8 million 

(previous year EUR 1.9 million) and EUR 0.1 million respectively are recognized directly in equity. The recognition of the actuarial profits and 

losses for pension obligations directly in equity results in a deferred tax asset of EUR 7.0 million (previous year EUR 27.3 million). 

The firsttime adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in deferred tax assets of EUR 0.5 million as well as deferred tax liabilities from the implementa

tion of IFRS 15 of EUR 2.2 million.

In addition, all other changes, with the exception of changes due to firsttime consolidations, were recognized in income. 

The amount for the deductible temporary differences and the tax losses and tax benefits not yet utilized, for which no deferred tax assets 

were recognized in the balance sheet, amount to EUR 152.4 million (previous year EUR 140.8 million). Of this figure, EUR 23.1 million (previous 

year EUR 13.0 million) consists of loss carryforwards, which can be utilized with a time limitation (in the period from 5 to 20 years). As regards 

the measurement of deferred tax assets, the expected future business performance at the time of preparing the consolidated financial state

ments is, as a rule, based on the corporate planning for the following three fiscal years. In the fiscal year, the deferred tax expense due to the 

use of previously nonconsidered tax losses, tax benefits or as a result of a temporary difference of a previous period previously not utilized was 

reduced by the amount of EUR 3.3 million (previous year EUR 1.2 million). As at the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets of EUR 2.8 million 

(previous year EUR 3.1 million) were recognized for Group companies, which had suffered losses in the reporting period or the previous period.
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The retained profits at foreign subsidiaries amounting to EUR 1,872.6 million (previous year EUR 2,533.5 million) should remain reinvested 

based on the current planning. On distribution, profits would be subject to German taxation at 5%; where applicable, foreign withholding tax 

would be levied. In addition, on distribution of the profits of a foreign subsidiary to a foreign intermediate holding, further income tax conse

quences would need to be considered. Distributions would therefore result in an additional tax burden as a rule. Determining the deferred tax 

liabilities attributable to the taxable temporary differences would be associated with a disproportionately high level of effort.

Reconciliation from expected to actual income tax expense recognized:

EUR million 2018 2017

Net profit or loss before income tax and changes in capital economically attributable to the shareholders 15.6 127.7

Expected income tax expense 3.7 30.5

Tax effects due to different national tax rates and Group taxation systems – 2.4 0.2

Effects of tax rate changes 2.3 – 19.6

Usage of foreign tax credits from the US tax reform 0.0 – 17.7

Tax burden resulting from the US tax reform 0.0 17.2

Tax effects due to the non-application and value adjustment due to deferred taxes or their reversal 60.2 8.7

Tax effects due to permanent differences 19.0 13.3

Tax effects due to facts of past periods – 0.4 – 5.4

Tax effects related to shares in subsidiaries – 4.4 – 2.1

Deductible taxes 3.3 0.9

Other tax effects 0.5 – 0.5

Recognized income tax expense 81.8 25.5

16. Other disclosures to the consolidated profit and loss statement

The consolidated profit and loss statement includes the following material expenses:

EUR million 2018 2017

Expenditure on raw materials, consumables, supplies and trading goods 2,146.8 2,003.0

Expenditure on purchased services 62.9 41.6

2,209.7 2,044.6
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The staff costs break down as follows:  

EUR million 2018 2017

Direct and indirect remuneration 788.6 769.7

Social duties and expenses for support 151.6 146.6

Expenses for pension provisions 23.1 24.4

963.3 940.7

The staff costs include amounts for contributionoriented plans in the amount of EUR 29.6 million (previous year EUR 33.3 million). The ex

penses included in it for state plans in the amount of EUR 28.8 million (previous year EUR 32.7 million) include predominantly the employer 

contributions to the pension insurance, which are included in the social dues.

The planned and extraordinary amortizations on intangible assets and tangible assets are included in the following items of the consolidated 

profit and loss statement:

EUR million 2018 2017

Cost of sales 183.5 160.6

Research and development costs 7.3 7.1

Selling expenses 5.1 4.9

Administrative expenses 16.3 19.4

Other operating expenses 20.9 8.8

233.1 200.8

The expenses recognized in the fiscal year for research and development amount to EUR 139.8 million (previous year EUR 133.0 million).  

In the fiscal year, payments from operating leases or tenancies in the amount of EUR 45.5 million (previous year EUR 31.2 million) were recog

nized in income in the consolidated profit and loss statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

17. Intangible assets
 

EUR million Goodwill

Patents, licenses, 
software and 

similar rights and 
values

Development 
costs

Down payments 
made Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as at 1/1/2018 636.3 673.1 11.7 0.1 1,321.2

Exchange rate effects 4.5 8.2 0.1 0.0 12.8

Changes in consolidated Group 82.5 24.9 0.0 0.0 107.4

Additions 0.0 10.0 2.0 0.0 12.0

Transfers 0.0 7.9 0.0 0.0 7.9

Disposals 0.0 – 15.2 – 5.3 0.0 – 20.5

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as at 12/31/2018 723.3 708.9 8.5 0.1 1,440.8

Accumulated depreciation as at 1/1/2018 37.3 239.6 4.7 0.0 281.6

Exchange rate effects 0.3 2.0 0.1 0.0 2.4

Changes in consolidated Group 0.0 1.3 0.0 0.0 1.3

Additions 0.0 71.6 1.1 0.0 72.7

Impairment 20.7 17.7 0.0 0.0 38.4

Transfers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Disposals 0.0 – 15.2 – 0.6 0.0 – 15.8

Accumulated depreciation as at 12/31/2018 58.3 317.0 5.3 0.0 380.6

Carrying amount as at 12/31/2018 665.0 391.9 3.2 0.1 1,060.2
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EUR million Goodwill

Patents, licenses, 
software and 

similar rights and 
values

Development 
costs

Down payments 
made Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as at 1/1/2017 636.7 693.1 19.6 0.1 1,349.4

Exchange rate effects – 17.4 – 32.8 0.0 0.0 – 50.2

Changes in consolidated Group 10.4 6.3 0.0 0.0 16.7

Additions1 6.6 7.2 2.4 0.0 16.2

Transfers 0.0 1.6 0.1 0.0 1.7

Disposals 0.0 – 2.3 – 10.4 0.0 – 12.7

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as at 12/31/2017 636.3 673.1 11.7 0.1 1,321.2

Accumulated depreciation as at 1/1/2017 28.9 177.1 14.0 0.0 220.0

Exchange rate effects – 0.3 – 7.4 – 0.1 0.0 – 7.8

Changes in consolidated Group 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0 0.1

Additions 0.0 71.8 1.0 0.0 72.8

Impairment 8.7 0.3 0.0 0.0 9.0

Transfers 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Disposals 0.0 – 2.3 – 10.2 0.0 – 12.5

Accumulated depreciation as at 12/31/2017 37.3 239.6 4.7 0.0 281.6

Carrying amount as at 12/31/2017 599.0 433.5 7.0 0.1 1,039.6

1 Of which EUR 10.1 million nonpaymenteffective additions from an asset deal.

The intangible assets include customer relationships in the amount of EUR 306.9 million (previous year EUR 357.3 million), which have a re

maining usage period of between 5 and 17 years.

In the context of the impairment tests performed, the value of the intangible assets acquired within the framework of company acquisitions, 

such as customer relationships, brands and existing technology, was also determined. This resulted in a writedown requirement for individual 

assets. This is distributed as follows to the cashgenerating units and was recognized in the cost of sales:

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Original Equipment 0.0 0.0

Aftermarket 0.0 – 0.3

Life Sciences & Environment – Air – 15.7 0.0

Life Sciences & Environment – Water – 1.7 0.0

– 17.4 – 0.3
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Goodwill
The goodwill from company acquisitions is reported as follows:

 

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Original Equipment 4.6 4.6

Aftermarket 587.0 584.0

Life Sciences & Environment – Air 73.4 10.4

Life Sciences & Environment – Water 0.0 0.0

665.0 599.0

In the context of the impairment tests performed on the cashgenerating units, an impairment requirement was identified for individual types 

of goodwill due to adjusted expectations of longterm earnings prospects. This was taken into consideration in the other operating expenses 

of the profit and loss statement of fiscal year 2018:   

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Life Sciences & Environment – Air 10.4 0.0

Life Sciences & Environment – Water 10.4 8.8

20.8 8.8

18. Impairment tests

The goodwill included in the consolidated financial statements relates to the differences in the respective purchase prices for the newly mea

sured net assets of the acquired business operations, which arose within the framework of the company mergers. 

In each case, the goodwill is to be assigned in full to the smallest cashgenerating unit.

The respective achievable amount is determined in all cases by determining the value in use, using the discounted cash flow method. 

When conducting the impairment tests, the Group performed various sensitivity analyses for changes to the WACC or to the planned sales 

performance considered to be possible. 

For this process, cash flows from the threeyear plan (2019 to 2021) prepared by the responsible management for the Original Equipment 

and Aftermarket business units and from the eightyear plan (2019 to 2026) for the Life Sciences & Environment – Air and Water business units 

are used as a basis. For the calculation of the impairment tests, assumptions were made about the sales performance, among other things. The 

average sales increases assumed over the detailed planning period were between 5.3% and 21.7% (previous year 2.5% and 29.9%).
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To measure perpetuals, growth rates of 1.3% to 1.5% (previous year: 1.0% to 3.0%) form the basis. The cash flows determined were discounted 

at weighted capital cost rates after tax of 9.3% to 10.5% (previous year 8.6% to 12.5%); before tax, the figure was 9.6% to 10.7% (previous year 

9.0% to 12.8%). The weighting of the equity capital and borrowing costs was carried out with a capital structure that was derived from a Group 

of comparable companies. For the determination of the equity and borrowing costs, capital market data and data of comparable companies 

were applied as the basis. 

EUR million 2018 2017

Weighted capital costs Growth rate Weighted capital costs Growth rate

Original Equipment 9.8 1.3 9.4 1.0

Aftermarket 10.1 1.4 9.3 2.0

Life Sciences & Environment – Air 9.3 1.3 8.9 1.0

Life Sciences & Environment – Water 9.4 1.5 8.7 1.0

As a result of the impairment test performed, the goodwill assigned to the various cashgenerating units was to be adjusted on the basis of 

changes to the longterm business performance.

For the Original Equipment cashgenerating unit, the value in use exceeds the carrying amount by EUR 2 million. If the WACC increases by 

0.03 percentage point or the sustainable EBIT margin reduces by 0.02 percentage point, the value in use corresponds to the carrying amount. 

If the WACC increases by 0.5 percentage point or the sustainable EBIT margin reduces by 0.5 percentage point, there would be an additional 

writedown requirement of EUR 29.7 million and EUR 63.4 million respectively. 

For the Life Sciences & Environment – Air cashgenerating unit, the value in use corresponds to, after recognition of impairment in the fiscal 

year, the carrying amount. If the WACC increases by 0.5 percentage point or the sustainable EBIT margin reduces by 0.5 percentage point, there 

would be an additional writedown requirement of EUR 43.0 million and EUR 40.7 million respectively.

For the Life Sciences & Environment – Water cashgenerating unit, the value in use corresponds to, after recognition of impairment in the 

fiscal year, the carrying amount. If the WACC increases by 0.5 percentage point or the sustainable EBIT margin reduces by 0.5 percentage point, 

there would be an additional writedown requirement of EUR 17.1 million and EUR 17.5 million respectively. 

For the cashgenerating unit Life Sciences & Environment – Air, the recoverable amount is EUR 169.0 million, while for the cashgenerating 

unit Life Sciences & Environment – Water, the recoverable amount is EUR 58.3 million.
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19. Tangible assets
 

EUR million 
Land and  
buildings

Land  
and buildings 
finance leases

Technical equip-
ment, plant and 

machinery

Other equipment, 
operational and 

office equipment

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as 
at 1/1/2018 512.9 17.3 1.286.5 201.8 120.3 2,138.8

Exchange rate effects 0.6 0.3 6.1 – 1.7 0.1 5.4

Changes in consolidated Group 7.1 2.8 12.0 3.0 0.2 25.1

Additions 4.0 0.0 55.6 11.1 83.4 154.1

Transfers 6.7 0.0 64.5 8.5 – 87.6 – 7.9

Disposals – 7.7 0.0 – 21.0 – 5.9 – 0.1 – 34.7

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as 
at 12/31/2018 523.6 20.4 1.403.7 216.8 116.3 2,280.8

Accumulated depreciation as at 1/1/2018 207.9 7.2 858.3 130.5 0.0 1,203.9

Exchange rate effects 0.4 0.1 4.3 – 1.0 0.0 3.8

Changes in consolidated Group 2.4 0.6 8.1 1.9 0.0 13.0

Additions 16.8 1.6 80.8 19.1 0.0 118.3

Impairments 2.0 0.0 1.4 0.2 0.0 3.6

Transfers – 0.1 0.1 0.1 – 0.1 0.0 0.0

Disposals – 4.0 0.0 – 15.6 – 5.3 0.0 – 24.9

Accumulated depreciation as at 
12/31/2018 225.4 9.6 937.4 145.3 0.0 1,317.7

Carrying amount as at 12/31/2018 298.2 10.8 466.3 71.5 116.3 963.1
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EUR million 
Land and  
buildings

Land and 
buildings finance 

leases

Technical equip-
ment, plant and 

machinery

Other equipment, 
operational and 

office equipment

Advance 
payments and 

construction in 
progress Total

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as 
at 1/1/2017 511.8 19.1 1.278.3 199.0 89.4 2,097.6

Exchange rate effects – 12.6 – 1.2 – 48.9 – 4.6 – 5.0 – 72.3

Changes in consolidated Group 5.4 0.0 1.9 0.9 0.3 8.5

Additions1 7.2 0.0 42.7 14.4 99.2 163.5

Transfers 5.1 0.0 47.8 6.8 – 61.4 – 1.7

Disposals – 4.0 – 0.6 – 35.3 – 14.7 – 2.2 – 56.8

Acquisition and manufacturing costs as 
at 12/31/2017 512.9 17.3 1.286.5 201.8 120.3 2,138.8

Accumulated depreciation as at 1/1/2017 193.6 5.1 841.1 128.7 0.0 1,168.5

Exchange rate effects – 4.8 – 0.2 – 29.2 – 3.1 0.0 – 37.3

Changes in consolidated Group 0.9 0.0 0.6 0.3 0.0 1.8

Additions 17.0 1.7 76.8 18.3 0.0 113.8

Impairments 3.3 0.0 1.8 0.1 0.0 5.2

Transfers – 0.7 0.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Disposals – 1.4 – 0.1 – 32.8 – 13.8 0.0 – 48.1

Accumulated depreciation as at 
12/31/2017 207.9 7.2 858.3 130.5 0.0 1,203.9

Carrying amount as at 12/31/2017 305.0 10.1 428.2 71.3 120.3 934.9

1 Of which EUR 2.9 million nonpaymenteffective additions from an asset deal.

Tangible assets includes leased land and buildings in the amount of EUR 10.8 million (previous year EUR 10.1 million) that are to be attributed to 

the MANN+HUMMEL Group as the commercial owner (finance lease), due to the design of the lease agreements. The lease agreements partly 

include purchase rights. 

Tangible assets include tools and equipment in the amount of EUR 1.9 million (previous year EUR 1.9 million), which were classified as 

finance leases. 

Also in tangible assets, impairments were performed on land and buildings in the amount of EUR 2.0 million and on technical equipment, 

plant and machinery in the amount of EUR 1.4 million and on other equipment, operational and office equipment in the amount of EUR 0.2 mil

lion. These related to the Life Sciences & Environment business unit and were determined in the value test performed.
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The disclosures for the minimum lease payments of the relevant lease agreements are as follows:

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Sum of the future minimum lease payments

due within one year 4.7 4.4

due between one and five years 9.7 12.2

due after more than five years 5.5 1.7

19.9 18.3

Interest share included in the future minimum lease payments

due within one year 1.1 1.2

due between one and five years 1.7 1.7

due after more than five years 2 0.2

4.8 3.1

Cash value of the future minimum lease payments

due within one year 3.6 3.2

due between one and five years 8 10.5

due after more than five years 3.5 1.5

15.1 15.2

20. Investments in associates  

The MANN+HUMMEL Group holds a share of 25% in ABC S.A., Cordoba, Argentina. The pro rata annual profit attributable to the  

MANN+HUMMEL Group is EUR 0.7 million (previous year EUR 0.2 million). Furthermore, a dividend payout of EUR 0.1 million (previous year 

EUR 0.2 million) was received on the investment.
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21. Non-current financial assets
 

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Other holdings 4.8 6.5

Other financial assets 5.7 4.7

Derivative financial instruments 10.5 22.0

21.0 33.2

The derivative financial instruments are in the form of an interest currency swap, which was concluded in the context of longterm financing. 

The reduction in Other holdings is due essentially to the amendment to the accounting regulations governing the measurement of holdings.  

22. Other assets

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current

Other assets 78.1 5.2 72.9 63.1 4.6 58.5

Contractual assets 17.6 12.9 4.7 –  –  – 

Deferred income 12.2 0.3 11.9 11.0 1.5 9.5

Other 1.7 0.0 1.7 1.8 0.0 1.8

109.6 18.4 91.2 75.9 6.1 69.8

The other assets contain predominantly sales tax refund entitlements and down payments made. The other assets do not contain any overdue 

amounts that are not impairments. 

The MANN+HUMMEL Group has capitalized the following contractual assets arising from contracts with customers for the first time on appli

cation of IFRS 15 in the consolidated financial statements in the balance sheet items:

EUR million Total Of which non-current Of which current 

Carrying amount, previous year 0.0 0.0 0.0

Effects of IFRS 15 12.4 8.6 3.8

Carrying amount as at 1/1 12.4 8.6 3.8

Exchange rate effects 0.0 0.0 0.0

Additions 9.9 6.1 3.8

Consumption -4.7 -1.8 -2.9

Carrying amount as at 12/31 17.6 12.9 4.7
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In the fiscal year, there was no sales revenue that was realized in 2018 and based on performance obligations fulfilled in previous years (pre

vious year EUR 0.0 million). There were no costs capitalized arising from the fulfillment or initiation of contracts with customers. There was 

no adjustment of the return considerations by the fair value of the financing component, as the period between the transfer of goods and the 

time of payment was less than 12 months. Furthermore, there were no significant takeback obligations or warranty obligations exceeding the 

minimum period as required by law.

23. Inventories

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Raw materials, consumables and supplies 167.9 158.5

Unfinished products 88.2 82.2

Finished products and goods 295.7 257.1

Down payments made 3.5 3.1

555.3 500.9

In fiscal year 2018, additional impairments in the inventories totaling EUR 8.7 million were performed and recognized (previous year: addition 

of EUR 0.1 million). 

24. Trade receivables

The trade receivables had the following age structure in the previous year:

EUR million Carrying 
amount

Of which 
current

neither  
impaired nor 

overdue

not impaired or overdue since

1 to 30  
days

31 to 60  
days

61 to 360 
days

more than  
360 days 

12/31/2017 596.7 596.0 521.9 43.0 13.4 16.9 0.8

In the current fiscal year, the trade receivables were EUR 642.5 million (previous year: EUR 596.7 million).
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The value adjustments on current and noncurrent trade receivables developed as follows:

EUR million 2018 2017

Carrying amount, previous year 5.9 6.4

Effects of IFRS 9 1.9 0.0

Carrying amount as at 1/1 7.8 6.4

Exchange rate effects – 0.2 – 0.6

Changes in consolidated Group 0.5 0.0

Additions 3.9 2.9

Consumption 0.2 – 2.3

Reversals 1.0 – 0.5

Carrying amount as at 12/31 10.7 5.9

The increase in impairments on trade receivables is attributable on the one hand to the changes in the calculation based on IFRS 9. Moreover, 

the impairment item was increased as a result of changes in the customer structure and changes in the consolidated Group.

In fiscal year 2018, there was no restructuring of trade receivables between level 2 and level 3 of the impairment model. 

There were no impaired financial assets for which enforcement proceedings were performed. 

Trade receivables with a carrying amount of EUR 0.0 million in total (previous year EUR 61.4 million) were sold on the basis of factoring 

agreements in fiscal year 2018. 

25. Current financial assets

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Derivative financial instruments 3.4 4.4

Receivables and loans 28.5 34.2

Securities 196.4 261.6

228.3 300.2

The securities are equities, loans and fund units. For further information, see Item 36 of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.  

The financial assets do not contain any overdue amounts that are impaired.
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26. Equity

Accumulated other equity
The accumulated other equity essentially includes the following components that are described below:

Difference from foreign currency translation

The item contains the differences from the foreign currency translation directly in equity of financial statements of foreign subsidiaries  

(noneurozone) from the time of the firsttime adoption of IFRS. 

Fair value measurement of securities and cash flow hedges

This item includes the effects of measuring directly in equity financial instruments and cash flow hedges after tax.  

Equity and borrowing instruments

This item includes the effects of measuring directly in equity investments in nonconsolidated components and securities after tax.

Actuarial profits and losses

This item contains the actuarial profits and losses from pension obligations after tax recognized directly in equity.

Deferred taxes on items recognized directly in equity 

EUR million 2018 2017

Before 
 income taxes Income taxes After taxes

Before 
 income taxes Income taxes After taxes

Difference from foreign currency translation – 13.5 0.0 – 13.5 – 45.9 0.0 – 45.9

Fair value measurement of securities 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.7 – 2.0 2.7

Equity and borrowing instruments – 1.7 0.3 – 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Fair value measurement of cash flow hedges 0.5 – 0.1 0.4 0.0 0.0 0.0

Actuarial profits and losses 3.7 – 20.3 – 16.6 3.8 – 1.5 2.3

Other income   – 11.0 – 20.1 – 31.1 – 37.4 – 3.5 – 40.9

The deferred tax effects from the firsttime application of the new IFRS 9 and IFRS 15 standards are not presented in other comprehensive 

income but offset against the other effects from the firsttime application in the revenue reserves.
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Non-controlling interests
The noncontrolling interests share of equity amounted to EUR 149.6 million (previous year EUR 176.2 million).

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders
As the shares in MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG do not meet the requirements of IAS 32.16A for the disclosure of puttable shares 

as equity, they have been disclosed as borrowed capital in “Capital economically attributable to the shareholders” since fiscal year 2016. This 

item amounted to EUR 700.4 million as at the end of the fiscal year (previous year EUR 762.7 million).

In the annual financial statements, prepared subject to German commercial law, of MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG, the 

equity, in the amount of EUR 395.4 million (previous year EUR 323.9 million), comprises capital shares of the limited partners and reserves. 

27. Capital management disclosures

Group management primarily pursues the aim of ensuring stable capital backing to support the continuation of the business activities and 

maintain the benefit of the shareholders. To determine the ratio of the capital economically attributable to the shareholders and the equity to 

total assets, the economic equity is used. This encompasses the balance sheet equity and the capital economically attributable to the share

holders disclosed within noncurrent liabilities.  

 

12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders and equity in millions of euros 850.0 938.9

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders and equity relative to total assets 21.6 % 23.9 %

The MANN+HUMMEL Group is not subject to any charterlike capital requirements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fundamental principles

Notes to the consolidated profit  
and loss statement

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
17. Intangible assets
18. Impairment tests
19. Tangible assets
20. Investments in associates
21. Non-current financial assets
22. Other assets
23. Inventories
24. Trade receivables
25. Current financial assets
26. Equity
27. Capital management disclosures
28. Financial liabilities
29. Other liabilities
30. Other provisions
31. Pension provisions

Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement

Other disclosures

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 80

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Group status report Auditor’s reportConsolidated financial statements



28. Financial liabilities
 

EUR million Carrying amount as at 12/31/2018 Carrying amount as at 12/31/2017

Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current

Liabilities to banks 1,334.7 1,234.7 100,0 1,345.7 1,253.1 92.6

Bonds 98.3 98.3 0.0 98.2 98.2 0.0

Payables from finance leasing 15.1 14.1 1.0 15.2 14.3 0.9

Derivative financial instruments 4.3 0.5 3.8 2.9 0.0 2.9

Other 122.6 0.5 122.1 112.7 0.0 112.7

1,575.0 1,348.1 226.9 1,574.7 1,365.6 209.1

The other financial liabilities consist largely of customer bonuses and exchange rate liabilities. The increase in other financial liabilities is due to 

the increase in liabilities from customer bonuses and exchange rate liabilities.

The repayment rates of the longterm loans are reported in the shortterm financial debts. Furthermore, the liabilities that serve shortterm 

financing are recognized in this item. The countryspecific interest rate on these shortterm loans ranges from 0.90% (previous year 1.36%) to 

5.18% (previous year 4.75%).

The countryspecific interest rate on the loans recognized in the noncurrent financial liabilities ranges from 1.00% (previous year 1.00%) 

to 5.26% (previous year 5.26%). More than 90% of the loans have a fixed interest rate. The loans are predominantly due at the end of the term. 

Some of the loan agreements include clauses relating to the calculation of key financial indicators. One of these involves the degree of debt 

that is defined as the ratio of the net financial position to the EBITDA. A change to the degree of debt has an impact on the risk premium to be 

newly defined annually for some of the loans. 

No contractual repayment obligations result based on the calculation of the key financial indicators.

29. Other liabilities

EUR million Carrying amount as at 12/31/2018 Carrying amount as at 12/31/2017

Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current

Staff liabilities 90.0 0.0 90.0 99.9 0.0 99.9

Down payments received 11.8 0.5 11.3 10.2 0.0 10.2

Taxes 38.9 0.0 38.9 33.2 0.0 33.2

Other 47.2 4.8 42.4 39.9 3.3 36.6

187.9 5.3 182.6 183.2 3.3 179.9

The tax liabilities largely contain sales tax liabilities. Other liabilities contain, among other things, outstanding charges, accrued liabilities for 

legal and proceedings costs as well as license and commission liabilities.
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30. Other provisions
  

EUR million Carrying amount as at 12/31/2018 Carrying amount as at 12/31/2017

Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current Total
Of which 

non-current
Of which 

current

Liabilities from the operating area 86.5 4.0 82.5 76.0 4.5 71.5

Liabilities from the staff area 40.3 23.3 17.0 39.6 28.1 11.5

Other liabilities 22.2 1.1 21.1 12.4 1.1 11.3

149.0 28.4 120.6 128.0 33.7 94.3

EUR million 1/1/2018
Exchange 

rate effects Addition

Changes in  
consolidat-

ed Group

Unwind-
ing the 

discount Transfers
Offsetting 

plan assets Utilization Reversal 12/31/2018

Liabilities from 
the operating 
area 76.0 – 0.4 51.6 0.0 0.0 – 0.1 0.0 – 36.1 – 4.5 86.5

Liabilities from 
the staff area 39.6 – 0.4 27.9 0.0 0.1 – 0.1 – 1.5 – 22.4 – 2.9 40.3

Other liabilities 12.4 0.1 14.9 0.1 0.0 0.2 0.0 – 4.8 – 0.7 22.2

128.0 – 0.7 94.4 0.1 0.1 0.0 – 1.5 – 63.3 – 8.1 149.0

EUR million 1/1/2017
Exchange 

rate effects Addition

Changes in  
consolidat-

ed Group

Unwind-
ing the 

discount Transfers
Offsetting 

plan assets Utilization Reversal 12/31/2017

Liabilities from 
the operating 
area 61.7 – 1.6 55.5 0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 – 33.7 – 6.0 76.0

Liabilities from 
the staff area 43.3 – 1.0 21.4 0.2 0.0 0.0 – 1.3 – 22.3 – 0.7 39.6

Other liabilities 17.9 – 1.2 7.7 0.0 0.0 – 0.1 0.0 – 9.9 – 2.0 12.4

122.9 – 3.8 84.6 0.2 0.0 0.0 – 1.3 – 65.9 – 8.7 128.0

The provisions for obligations from the operating area predominantly include provisions for warranty obligations and for potential losses from 

delivery obligations as well as to a small degree provisions for litigation risks. 
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The liabilities from the staff area largely contain profit sharing, restructuring measures, oldage parttime working hours agreements and anni

versary expenses. The provisions for restructuring measures contain above all expenses for severance payments, which will be incurred within 

the framework of site closures and relocations. According to IAS 37.72 et seq., the requirements for the formation of a provision for restructur

ing costs (i.e. existence of a corresponding restructuring plan) are given.

The other liabilities include other individual risks and uncertain liabilities. 

The shortterm liabilities are expected to be consumed over the period of the next 12 months.

Usage of about 92% of the longterm liabilities from the operating area is expected within the coming five years. Furthermore, about 78% 

of the reserves in noncurrent liabilities from the staff area and about 98% of the reserves in other noncurrent liabilities will likely be used over 

the coming five years.

31. Pension provisions

Provisions for pensions are formed for liabilities from entitlements and from current benefits and former employees of the MANN+HUMMEL 

Group as well as their survivors. According to legal, economic and tax circumstances of the relevant country, there are different systems of old 

age provisions that are based on the duration of employment and remuneration as a rule. Contribution and benefitoriented provision systems 

must be distinguished for occupational pension provision.

For defined contribution plans, the MANN+HUMMEL Group does not enter into any obligations in addition to the payment of contributions 

to specialpurpose funds or private pension providers. 

For defined benefit plans, the obligation of the MANN+HUMMEL Group is to fulfill the promised benefits to active and former employees, 

whereby a distinction is made between provision and fundfinanced pension systems. 

Approx. 98% of the defined benefit obligations of the MANN+HUMMEL Group are based on pension plans for the active and former em

ployees of the German sites. The active employees were and are given indirect pension promises in different pension schemes. Depending on 

the type of the pension scheme, the promises stipulate oldage, incapacity for work and widow/widower pensions, the payment of a promised 

lump sum or benefits in the form of a lump sum with an annuity option. The amount of the benefits depends, in particular, on the salary and 

length of service of the employee.

There are no legal or regulatory minimum endowment obligations in Germany.

The main risks for the company are in the actuarial parameters, in particular the interest rate and the pension trend, the risk of long life 

expectancy and the development of the general cost of living (inflation). 

The changes to the cash value of the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of the fund asset can be based on actuarial profits and 

losses. Their causes can, among other things, be changes to the calculation parameters, changes in estimates regarding the risk profile of the 

pension obligations and deviations between the actual and the expected income from the fund assets. 
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The amount of the pension obligations (entitlement cash value of the pension promises or defined benefit obligation) was calculated using 

actuarial methods, for which the estimates are unavoidable. In addition to the assumptions on life expectancy, fluctuation, the following as

sumptions have a major impact on the amount of the liability:

  

in % 2018 2017

Discount factor 1.75 1.75

Pensions dynamics 1.48 1.48

Pay rises 3.00 3.00

The assumptions on life expectancy are based on the Heubeck 2018 G mortality tables (previous year: 2005 G).

In the fundfinanced pension system, the pension obligations resulting from the projected unit credit method are offset against the fund 

assets measured at fair value. If the pension obligations exceed the fund assets, a liability item results that is recognized in the provisions for 

pensions.

The pension promises have the following financing status:    

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Cash value of the provision-financed pension entitlements 435.7 439.0

Cash value of the fund-financed pension entitlements 52.7 48.3

Benefit cash value of the fund-financed pension entitlements 488.4 487.3

Fund assets 35.8 35.1

Net liabilities 452.6 452.2

The fund assets consist of the following:

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Cash 0.4 1.4

Securities 25.1 23.9

Shareholders’ equity instruments 2.9 3.3

Debt instruments 10.3 9.1

Fund shares 11.9 11.5

Other 10.3 9.8

35.8 35.1

The securities are rated at prices listed in active markets.
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The balance sheet performance of the entitlement cash value of the pension promises and the fair value of the fund assets is as follows:

 

EUR million 2018 2017

Initial inventory of defined benefit obligations (DBO) 487.3 486.9

+/– Exchange rate effects from abroad 0.0 – 0.5

+ Company acquisitions 1.1 0.0

+ Current service costs 14.6 14.5

+ Past service costs to be calculated 0.3 0.2

+ Interest expense 9.0 8.6

– Settlements/curtailments 0.0 0.0

+/–  Actuarial gains and losses from the change in demographic assumptions – 3.3 0.0

+/– Actuarial gains and losses from the change in financial assumptions – 0.4 – 2.4

+/– Actuarial gains and losses from experience-based adjustments – 0.3 – 1.7

+ Contributions from the participants of the plan

– Pension payments made – 19.8 – 17.9

+/– Other changes – 0.1 – 0.4

End inventory of defined benefit obligations (DBO) as at 12/31 488.4 487.3

Initial inventory of fair value of fund assets 35.1 34.9

+/– Exchange rate effects from abroad – 0.1 – 0.4

– Settlements/curtailments 0.0

+ Expected income from the fund assets 0.8 0.8

+/– Actuarial gains and losses from the change in financial assumptions – 0.4 – 0.2

+ Contributions made by the participants of the plan 0.1 0.1

+ Contributions made by the employer to the plan 2.9 1.2

– Pension payments made – 1.8 – 1.2

– Effects of the asset ceiling – 0.8

+/– Other changes

Fair value of fund assets as at 12/31 35.8 35.1

Pension provisions as at 1/1 452.2 452.0

Pension provisions as at 12/31 452.6 452.2

The pension obligations yield expenses recognized in income from pension obligations in the amount of EUR  22.8  million (previous year 

EUR 22.5 million), which consist of the following components: 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fundamental principles

Notes to the consolidated profit  
and loss statement

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet
17. Intangible assets
18. Impairment tests
19. Tangible assets
20. Investments in associates
21. Non-current financial assets
22. Other assets
23. Inventories
24. Trade receivables
25. Current financial assets
26. Equity
27. Capital management disclosures
28. Financial liabilities
29. Other liabilities
30. Other provisions
31. Pension provisions

Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement

Other disclosures

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 85

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Group status report Auditor’s reportConsolidated financial statements



EUR million 2018 2017

Current service costs 14.6 14.5

Past service costs to be calculated 0.3 0.2

Accrued interest of the net liabilities 7.9 7.8

22.8 22.5

With the exception of the interest portions, all components of the pension expenses recognized in income are included in the functional areas.

The actuarial losses (gains) in the amount of EUR (3.7) million (previous year EUR (3.9) million) are recognized directly in the accumulated 

other equity. 

In reality, the fund assets posted a profit of EUR 0.3 million (previous year EUR 0.5 million). The difference between the actual and the 

expected income of the external pension fund is recognized in equity within the framework of the actuarial gains and losses. 

The contributions to external pension funds will be EUR 1.3 million in the following year, according to the best estimates. The estimate in 

the previous year for the 2018 fiscal year amounted to EUR 2.6 million. 

The pension payments of subsequent years are as follows:      

EUR million 2018 2017

within the next fiscal year 18.0 18.1

between 2 and 5 fiscal years 82.4 83.4

between 5 and 10 fiscal years 132.8 129.5

due after more than 10 years 1,334.5 1,278.0

For calculation purposes, the actual pension payments were presented and not only the pension components earned, i.e. the pension com

ponents to be allocated in the future have also already been considered. It was also assumed that the number of active employees remains 

unchanged. The same parameters were used for the other calculation assumptions as used for determining the defined benefits obligation.

The average term of the defined benefits obligations ranges between 3 and 24 years.
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The effect of a change to the key assumptions on the defined benefits obligation is presented below:

Change to pension 
entitlement cash value

EUR million 2018

Discount factor

– 1.0% - points 83.7

+ 1.0% - points – 64.5

Pensions dynamics

– 0.5% - points – 6.5

+ 0.5% - points 7.1

Life expectancy

– 1 year – 16.7

+ 1 year 18.1

The parameters for the sensitivity of the discount factor as well as the pensions dynamics of the entitlement cash value were adjusted in com

parison to the previous year.

Change to pension 
entitlement cash value

EUR million 2017

Discount factor

– 1.0% - points 38.5

+ 1.0% - points – 32.1

Pensions dynamics

– 0.5% - points – 2.2

+ 0.5% - points 0.9

Life expectancy

– 1 year – 12.0

+ 1 year 13.7

The pension obligations were newly determined for the sensitivity analysis. In this process, it was assumed that the other factors remain 

unchanged. When calculating the sensitivity of life expectancy, it was assumed that the average life expectancy of a 65yearold person is 

shortened or extended by one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

32. General

In the year under review, the MANN+HUMMEL Group has at its disposal credit lines worth EUR 853.4 million (previous year EUR 546.3 million), 

which were not utilized in the amount of EUR 832.3 million (previous year EUR 532.6 million) as at the end of the fiscal year.

The fund considered in the consolidated cash flow statement includes cash recognized in the consolidated balance sheet, i.e. cash on hand 

and in bank accounts, inasmuch as the Group can dispose of these freely.

Other expenditure and income not affecting payments includes financial income of EUR 56.8 million (previous year EUR 33.6 million) as 

well as financial expenses of EUR 135.3 million (previous year EUR 91.4 million).

Dividends received and interest are allocated to the cash flow from investment activities. Interest and transaction costs paid to raise finan

cial debt are reported in the cash flow from financial activities.

Within the framework of the indirect determination, the changes to balance sheet items considered are adjusted for effects from foreign 

currency translation and from changes to the consolidated Group in connection with the current business activities. The changes to the rele

vant balance sheet item can therefore not be aligned with the corresponding values on the basis of the consolidated balance sheet published.

 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fundamental principles

Notes to the consolidated profit  
and loss statement

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement

32. General

Other disclosures

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 88

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Group status report Auditor’s reportConsolidated financial statements



OTHER DISCLOSURES

33. Contingent liabilities

For the contingent liabilities applied below at nominal rates, no provisions were formed because it is considered unlikely that they would be 

used:   

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Guarantees 1.3 0.4

Other 1.6 3.0

2.9 3.4

The sureties are due in full within one year on being claimed. Other contingent liabilities relate predominantly to potential liabilities to tax 

authorities. 

34. Other financial liabilities

In addition to liabilities, provisions and contingent liabilities, other financial liabilities exist, in particular from tenancy and lease agreements, 

from initiated investment plans and acquisition agreements.

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Renting and leasing 104.4 83.8

Purchase obligations 70.9 87.2

175.3 171.0

The purchase obligation is EUR 54.0 million (previous year EUR 55.9 million) for inventories, EUR 13.7 million (previous year EUR 31.3 million) 

for tangible assets and EUR 3.2 million (previous year EUR 0.0 million) for other services.
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The sum of future minimum lease payments from noncancelable tenancy agreements and operating lease consists of the following by due 

date:

EUR million 12/31/2018 12/31/2017

Nominal sum of the future minimum lease payments

due within one year 23.2 17.8

due between one and five years 62.6 46.9

due after more than five years 18.6 19.1

104.4 83.8

The key tenancy agreements relate to production, warehouse and office buildings as well as land plots with terms of up to 30 years. Some 

agreements contain price adjustment clauses that specify a fixed percentage increase annually. Some agreements contain extension options, 

termination options, automatic agreement extensions or purchase options. 

Other lease agreements relate to the vehicle fleet, machines, hardware and software as well as other tools and equipment with terms of up 

to five years. For some of these agreements, extension options or automatic agreement extensions as well as options to purchase the rental 

properties at the end of the agreement term at market value exist. The lease rates are partly linked to the service used.  

35. Legal disputes

The MANN+HUMMEL Group is confronted with claims and court proceedings within the framework of its usual business activities, which re

late largely to labor law, product liability and warranty law, tax law and to intellectual property. Provisions for such cases are formed in which 

it is likely that an obligation exists that arose from an event in the past, that can be reliably estimated and whose fulfillment will likely result 

in the outflow of resources with a commercial benefit. For all legal disputes pending as at December 31, 2018, a provision of EUR 7.5 million 

(previous year EUR 9.0 million) was formed. The Management Board of the MANN+HUMMEL Group believes that the outcome of all claims 

and proceedings brought against the MANN+HUMMEL Group, both individually and in aggregate, will not have any major detrimental impact 

on the business activities, the asset position, results of operation and the cash flow. The results of currently pending or future proceedings are 

nevertheless not foreseeable, for which reason expenses may be incurred due to court or official rulings or under agreement of settlements that 

are not covered or not fully covered by insurance and that may have major impacts on the business of the MANN+HUMMEL Group or its results.
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36. Disclosures on financial instruments

Carrying amounts of the financial instruments by categories
The balance sheet items for financial instruments are broken down into classes and categories. Due to the reorganization of the Group structure 

in 2016, MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG was installed as the new parent company in that year. Insofar as the shares in this busi

ness partnership do not meet the requirements of IAS 32.16A, these amounts which had previously been disclosed in equity were reclassified 

as “Capital economically attributable to the shareholders”. This item was thus included in the notes to the carrying amounts of the financial 

instruments.

The financial assets and financial liabilities are categorized according to IFRS 9 into the following categories based on a uniform model:  

• financial assets that are valued at amortized cost (AC),

• financial assets that are valued at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) and

• financial assets that are valued at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

• Financial liabilities that are valued at amortized cost (AC),

• financial liabilities that are valued at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL).

The carrying amounts for each category are presented in the following table:

Carrying amounts of financial assets  

12/31/2018 
EUR million

(Amortized) 
acquisition costs

Fair value recognized 
directly in equity with 

recycling (FVOCI)

Fair value recognized 
directly in equity 
without recycling 

(FVOCI)
Fair value recognized 

in income (FVPL)

Cash and short-term deposits 262.0

Trade receivables 642.5

Trade receivables (factoring) 0.0

Other financial assets 34.3

Securities

of which debt instruments of the category FVOCI with  
recycling 132.3

of which debt instruments of the category FVPL 28.8

of which shareholders' equity instruments of the  
category FVOCI without recycling 0.0

of which shareholders' equity instruments of the  
category FVPL 35.3

Holdings 4.8

Derivative financial instruments

   Part of a hedging relationship 12.2

   Freestanding 1.7
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Carrying amounts of financial liabilities

12/31/2018 
EUR million

(Amortized) 
acquisition costs

Fair value  
recognized in income 

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders 700.4

Trade payables 613.5

Liabilities to banks 1,334.7

Other financial liabilities 221.0

Payables from finance leasing 15.1

Derivative financial instruments

Part of a hedging relationship 2.6

Freestanding 1.7

The impairments on cash and shortterm deposits developed as follows in the fiscal year:

EUR million 2018

Carrying amount, previous year 0.0

Effects of IFRS 9 0.8

Carrying amount as at 1/1 0.8

Reversals – 0.5

Carrying amount as at 12/31 0.3

The MANN+HUMMEL Group holds its equity instruments for strategic reasons in order to expand operational business activities. The focus is 

not on achieving significant shortterm proceeds from disposals.

In the current fiscal year, the fair value of equity instruments whose changes are reported in other comprehensive income was EUR 4.8 mil

lion (previous year: EUR 3.6 million). Dividends from these investments in the amount of EUR 0.1 million were distributed to MANN+HUMMEL 

companies. There were no reclassifications to Other comprehensive income or dividend payouts from investments that were sold in the fiscal 

year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fundamental principles

Notes to the consolidated profit  
and loss statement

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement

Other disclosures
33. Contingent liabilities
34. Other financial liabilities
35. Legal disputes
36. Disclosures on financial instruments
37. Risks from financial instruments
38. Government grants
39. Related party disclosures
40.  Remuneration of the Management and 

Supervisory Boards
41. Staff
42. Fees of the auditor
43. Indication of Section 264b(3) HGB
44. Events after the balance sheet date
45. List of shareholdings

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 92

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Group status report Auditor’s reportConsolidated financial statements



The carrying amounts for each category and class and the fair value for each class are presented for the 2017 fiscal year in the following table:

Carry amount balance sheet in accordance  
with IAS 39

12/31/2017 
EUR million

Carrying 
amount

(Amortized) 
acquisition 

costs

Fair value 
recognized 

directly in 
equity

Fair value 
recognized 

in income Fair value

ASSETS

Loans and receivables (LaR)

Cash and short-term deposits 327.9 327.9 0.0 0.0 327.9

Trade receivables 596.7 596.7 0.0 0.0 596.7

Other financial assets 39.0 39.0 0.0 0.0 39.0

Financial assets available for sale (AfS)

Holdings 6.5 6.5 0.0 0.0 6.5

Securities 261.6 0.0 261.6 0.0 261.6

Financial assets held for trading (FAHfT)

Derivative financial instruments 1.1 0.0 0.0 1.1 1.1

Derivative financial instruments with a hedge relationship (n.a) 25.3 0.0 25.3 0.0 25.3

LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities at cost (FLAC)

Capital economically attributable to the shareholders 762.7 762.7 0.0 0.0 762.7

Trade payables 552.1 552.1 0.0 0.0 552.1

Liabilities to banks 1,345.8 1,345.8 0,0 0,0 1,570.9

Other financial liabilities 210.8 210.8 0.0 0.0 243.5

Payables from finance leasing (n.a.) 15.2 15.2 0.0 0.0 15.2

Derivative financial instruments (FLAFVTPL) 0.9 0.0 0.0 0.9 0.9

Derivative financial instruments with a hedge relationship (n.a) 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
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The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are assigned to the three levels of the fair value hierarchy depending on the input parameters 

used for measurement. The rating and requirement to make reclassifications are audited on the balance sheet date. Level 1 includes the finan

cial instruments for which prices listed on active markets are available for identical assets and liabilities. An assignment to level 2 takes place 

if input parameters are used for the measurement of the financial instruments that can be observed directly (for instance prices) or indirectly 

(derived from prices for instance) in the market. Financial instruments whose measurement is based on information that cannot be observed 

in the market are recognized in level 3. 

Due to the shortterm maturities of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other shortterm financial assets, their carrying 

amount generally corresponds to nearly the fair value at the end of the reporting period.

The market values of the noncurrent financial assets, trade receivables, liabilities to banks and other financial liabilities were calculated 

using the present value techniques. The future payments were discounted with the current maturitycongruent riskfree interest rates, plus a 

standard market credit risk surcharge. The allocation is made to level 2.

Financial liabilities from financial lease agreements are applied in observance of the contractual agreed interest rate. The fair value was 

determined in observance of the standard market interest rate (level 2). 

The fair values of the financial instruments measured at fair value are allocated to the three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

   

EUR million 12/31/2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Holdings 0.0 0.0 4.8 4.8

Securities

Shares 35.3 0.0 0.0 35.3

Bonds 107.6 18.4 10.0 136.0

Fund shares 25.1 0.0 0.0 25.1

Derivative financial instruments 0.0 13.9 0.0 13.9

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 0.0 4.3 0.0 4.3
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EUR million 12/31/2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Securities

Shares 27.2 0.0 0.0 27.2

Bonds 193.4 10.5 11.1 215.0

Fund shares 19.4 0.0 0.0 19.4

Derivative financial instruments 1.1 25.3 0.0 26.4

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments 0.7 2.2 0.0 2.9

The fair values of the financial instruments measured at amortized cost are allocated to the three levels of the fair value hierarchy as follows:

EUR million 12/31/2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks 0.0 1,358.8 0.0 1,358.8

Other financial liabilities 0.0 254.0 0.0 254.0

Payables from finance leasing 0.0 15.1 0.0 15.1

EUR million 12/31/2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets

Holdings 0.0 0.0 6.5 6.5

Liabilities

Liabilities to banks 0.0 1,570.9 0.0 1,570.9

Other financial liabilities 0.0 243.5 0.0 243.5

Payables from finance leasing 0.0 15.2 0.0 15.2

For level 1 securities, the fair value of the directly listed price on a market active at all times is applied. An active market is either the stock ex

change of the relevant country or a comparable trading platform, where the liquidity and transparency of the underlying assets are given. An 

active market is characterized by the fact that largely homogenous assets are traded at publicly accessible prices and buyers and sellers willing 

to conclude an agreement can be found at all times as a rule, for instance securities and commodities exchanges.
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Financial instruments whose prices can be derived or modeled using parameters observable in the market are rated as level 2. Observable in

terest rates, exchange rates or comparable instruments are stated here as examples. Interestbearing securities with moderately timedelayed 

direct price listing are also included in level 2. 

As in the previous year, level 3 securities are variableinterestbearing fixedincome bonds and derivatives whose liquidity was not given 

on the due date in the public market and were for that reason allocated to level 3. In addition, the investments were added to the fair value 

hierarchy from the current fiscal year. The market values of level 3 securities were determined on the basis of currently available information 

from fund managers and measurement procedures conducted internally. A significant change to the interest rate and the associated change to 

market prices would influence the fair value of the securities. A sale of holdings assigned to level 3 is not planned in the short term. 

The performance of the securities, derivatives and holdings allocated to level 3 of the fair value hierarchy is presented in the following table:

EUR million 2018 2017

Last revised 1/1 11.1 0.0

Effects of IFRS 9 3.6 0.0

Adjusted 1/1 14.7 0.0

Fair value changes recognized directly in equity – 0.8 0.1

Price gains/losses 0.1 – 0.1

Purchases 2.1 0.0

Sales – 1.2 0.0

Changes in consolidated Group 1.0 0.0

Restructuring in level 3 – 1.1 11.1

Last revised 12/31 14.8 11.1

Other profits and losses are recognized in other financial income and financial expenses.

Derivative financial instruments in level 1 are tradable derivatives, such as futures. Their fair value corresponds to the value on the traded 

futures exchange. 

The level 2 derivative financial instruments are nontradable derivatives. The determination of the fair values is carried out on the basis 

of prices of permitted stock exchanges discounted on the remaining maturity (exchange rates, interest rates and commodities price indices).
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Net profits and losses by measurement categories
 

EUR million
Total net profits and 

losses

2018

Assets at (amortized) acquisition costs – 9.3

Liabilities (amortized) acquisition costs – 31.7

Shareholders' equity instruments of the category FVOCI without recycling – 0.7

Shareholders' equity instruments of the category FVPL – 6.2

Derivative financial assets with hedge relationships (FVPL) – 3.1

Derivative financial liabilities with hedge relationships (FVPL) – 0.7

– 51.7

EUR million
Total net profits and 

losses

2017

Loans and receivables – 8.2

Financial assets available for sale

valued at fair value 3.7

valued at amortized costs – 0.9

Financial instruments valued at fair value through profit or loss 7.9

Financial assets held for trading 0.0

Financial liabilities at amortized costs – 33.9

Other net profits and losses of assets at amortized cost and liabilities at amortized cost largely include currency gains and losses from foreign 

currency receivables, costs resulting from impairments on trade receivables as well as interest expenses.

Other net profits and losses in the measurement category “Debt instruments of the category FVOCI with recycling” are the offsetting of the 

realized profits and losses from the disposal of such assets, reduced by the unrealized changes already recognized for this in the equity, and the 

unrealized profits or losses of the existing assets recognized in equity in the current fiscal year. This also includes the currency profits and losses.

Other net profits and losses in the measurement category “Holdings FVOCI without recycling” include predominantly impairments of the 

investees on the fair value within equity.
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Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Below are the financial assets and liabilities, the settlement agreements, claimable global settlement agreements and similar agreements:

EUR million 12/31/2018

Gross amount Offsetting Net amount

Trade receivables 651.0 8.5 642.5

Trade payables 622.1 8.5 613.6

EUR million 12/31/2017

Gross amount Offsetting Net amount

Trade receivables (current) 605.3 9.3 596.0

Trade payables 561.4 9.3 552.1

37. Risks from financial instruments

Management of financial risks
The risk management of the MANN+HUMMEL Group covers, among other things, the contractor and default risks with customers, banks and 

suppliers, liquidity, raw material and interest rate change risks and currency risks.

The measurement of the price risk from securities and the currency risk is carried out on the basis of a valueatrisk analysis. The value at 

risk specifies exclusively the potential risk of loss that is not exceeded with a set likelihood within a defined period (holding period). However, 

the method does not provide any information on the time of occurrence or the expected amount of loss in the event that the value at risk is 

exceeded. As a result, the actual performance may differ from the result of the valueatrisk analysis.

The companies of the MANN+HUMMEL Group assure their interest rate change and currency risks at marketcompliant terms either via 

the cash management of the MANN+HUMMEL Group or directly with banks. Nonderivative transactions, such as loans with longterm fixed 

interest rate, but also – in particular in the currency area – derivative financial instruments with plain vanilla character. They are concluded 

exclusively to hedge existing underlying transactions or planned transactions.

The risk positions of the cash management are hedged externally at banks with impeccable credit ratings, taking into account set risk 

limits. Hedging transactions are concluded in accordance with policies applicable across the Group and in accordance with the regulations 

applicable for banks to conduct trading.

Default and contractor risk
The default risk is the risk that contracting parties fail to fulfill their payment obligations in the area of cash investments, financial assets and 

the trade receivables. 
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To reduce the contractor risk for cash investments, all financial transactions are only conducted with toprate credit rating within the framework 

of defined limits.

In the event of the contractor defaulting, the financial assets of the Group result in a maximum default risk in the amount of the carrying 

amount of the corresponding balance sheet item without taking into account collaterals received (plus the maximum utilization for any finan

cial guarantees and credit promises for third parties). 

To reduce the default risk, the credit rating of the customers with whom the transactions were concluded on a loan basis and our receiv

ables are subjected to an ongoing audit. Default risks are selectively reduced with corresponding hedging instruments, such as trade credit in

surance. The carrying amount of the trade receivables covered by the trade credit insurance is EUR 14.6 million (previous year EUR 10.8 million).

EUR million Gross carrying amount (on-balance) as at 12/31/2018

Rating
Level 1 impairment 

model (EL)
Level 2 impairment 

model (LEL)
Level 3 impairment 

model (LEL)

Investment grade 259.3 642.3 0.0

Non-investment grade 0.0 24.9 10.4

Liquidity risk
The liquidity risk describes the risk that a company cannot fulfill its financial liabilities on maturity. At MANN+HUMMEL, major liquidity matters 

and developments are regularly discussed in a 12month liquidity planning. The subsidiaries are included in a central financing of the Group. 

For all potential fluctuations, the company holds reserve liquidity and credit lines of several hundred million euros, which is also available to 

cover M&A activities.

The maturity structure of the repayments and interest payments for the financial liabilities and trade payables is presented in the fol

lowing table:

EUR million
Carrying amount as at 

12/31/2018 Cash outflows

Total 2019 2020 to 2024 2025 et seq.

Liabilities to banks 1,334.7 120.8 902.7 426.3

Payables from finance lease arrangement 15.1 4.5 8.6 1.2

Derivative financial instruments 4.3 4.6 12.5 2.2

Other financial liabilities 220.9 122.7 13.0 135.8

Trade payables 613.6 612.7 0.4 0.0

2,188.6 787.7 937.2 565.5
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EUR million
Carrying amount as at 

12/31/2017 Cash outflows

Total 2018 2019 to 2023 2024 et seq.

Liabilities to banks 1,345.8 114.9 797.2 574.3

Payables from finance leasing 15.2 4.4 12.3 1.7

Derivative financial instruments 2.9 1.5 6.3 – 2.6

Other financial liabilities 210.8 113.2 13.0 139.0

Trade payables 552.1 553.7 3.0 0.0

2,126.8 787.7 831.8 712.4

Price risk from securities
The price risk means the risk that the fair value of the securities drops. 

Investments in securities are largely investments in interestbearing securities, equities and fund units. A risk reduction follows from this 

risk reduction that is a requirement for a value increase that has as little fluctuation and is as continuous as possible.

The ultimate decision on the strategic asset allocation and the oversight of all investment results and risk budgets for the special funds is 

taken by an especially established committee (investment committee). The basis for the investment decisions of the external portfolio manag

ers are the investment policies defined by the investor. When defining these policies, a solid issuer credit rating (minimum rating requirement), 

strong marketability of the securities and a broad industry diversification, among other things, are observed in order to achieve a further risk 

reduction.

The company receives a monthly report on the performance of the current market prices and of the individual asset classes. The perfor

mance is assessed using, among other things, comparable values, key risk indicators and attribution and allocation analyses of the portfolio 

managers.

In addition to the qualitative diversification tools to reduce risk, such as diversification of investments in various asset classes, riskdriven 

design of the investment policies, analysis of the investment results and assessment of the changes in capital markets, quantitative control 

methods and investment styles are applied as a preference.

On the basis of a valueatrisk calculation, it can be assumed that with a likelihood of 99% and a holding period of 10 days, the market value 

reduction in the master fund, which bundles the funds of the various fund providers, is not higher than EUR 1.4 million (EUR 2.7 million for the 

various fund providers). The calculations were made on the basis of the assumption that asset allocation does not change and no additions are 

made during the year that would then need to be reallocated. The historical correlations of the relevant funds and securities were taken into 

account.

The financial investments “valued at fair value through other comprehensive income” include holdings of EUR 4.8 million. The measure

ment is carried out using the multiplier method. The proportionate enterprise value is determined using sales multipliers. Uncertainty with 

regard to determination of the fair value of these holdings is due mainly to the change in the multipliers used, as there is no price listed on an 

active market. If the multipliers used were to increase by 10 percentage points, the fair values of these holdings would increase by EUR 0.2 mil

lion. A decrease in the fair values would lead to a reduction of EUR 0.1 million.
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Currency risk
The MANN+HUMMEL Group makes transactions in different currencies due to its international setup. The currency risk means the risk that the 

fair values or future cash flows of monetary items are affected by exchange rate changes.

In the MANN+HUMMEL Group, hedging measures are conducted for planned foreign currency cash flows within defined maximum limits. 

To hedge prices, the net principle applies, i.e. the hedging is carried out for net items from reverse cash flows. Prices are mainly hedged via for

eign exchange futures. Of the hedging volume, more than 50% was made up by the currencies USD, SGD, EUR, CZK and RUB in the fiscal year.

 To finance the Affinia acquisition, an interest currency swap for USD 400  million was concluded in 2015 with a nominal amount of 

EUR 265.0 million and is designated as a fair value hedge as at December 31, 2018 of EUR 9.9 million (previous year EUR 22.0 million).

To determine the exposure to be hedged, cash flow planning for the following fiscal year is drawn up annually. Based on this planning, 50% 

of the total expected exposure is then hedged via foreign exchange futures as well as a cross currency swap.

In the MANN+HUMMEL Group, the value at risk is determined without change on the previous year on the basis of the variancecovariance 

method on the assumption of a confidence level of 95% with a holding period of 12 months.

As at the balance sheet date, a potential risk of loss of EUR 28.8 million (previous year EUR 17.6 million), with reference to the next 12 

months, is not exceeded with a unilateral confidence level of 95%. The determination was based on an average price volatility of 8.2% (previous 

year 6.6%).

The maximum risk of loss is calculated from the average price volatility of the past twelve months with reference to the outstanding foreign 

currency item from the operating business. This results from the inventories of cash and loans in foreign currency on the due date, which are 

managed via cash flow management, and the net incoming and outgoing payments expected over the coming twelve months on the basis of 

the current corporate planning, taking into account the hedged inventories.

The following hedging instruments are held as at December 31, 2018:

EUR million Maturity

Nominal amounts of hedging instruments Total
Up to 

3 months

Over  
3 months 
to 1 year

Over 1  
year to  
2 years

Over  
2 years  

to 5 years
Over  

5 years

Currency hedging 327.3 145.9 148.8 32.5 0.0 0.0

Interest rate/currency hedging 265.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 265.1

592.4

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED  
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Fundamental principles

Notes to the consolidated profit  
and loss statement

Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

Notes to the consolidated  
cash flow statement

Other disclosures
33. Contingent liabilities
34. Other financial liabilities
35. Legal disputes
36. Disclosures on financial instruments
37. Risks from financial instruments
38. Government grants
39. Related party disclosures
40.  Remuneration of the Management and 

Supervisory Boards
41. Staff
42. Fees of the auditor
43. Indication of Section 264b(3) HGB
44. Events after the balance sheet date
45. List of shareholdings

MANN+HUMMEL | Annual Report | 2018 101

Table of contents Foreword by the Management Board Report of the Supervisory Board Group status report Auditor’s reportConsolidated financial statements



Hedging as at the end of the year relates predominantly to the currencies USD, CZK and SGD. The average hedging rates amounted to:

  

Average rate of exchange

EUR/USD 1.1491

EUR/CZK 26.3076

EUR/SGD 1.5732

Cash flow hedges

EUR million
Fair value of 

hedging instruments

Change in 
fair value 

of hedging 
instruments

Balance sheet item for 
hedging transactions

Cash flow hedges
Nominal 
amount Assets Liabilities

Currency hedging 39.5 0.5 – 0.2 0.5
Financial assets/ 

financial liabilities 

At the MANN+HUMMEL Group, the spottospot method is used for designation. Effectiveness measurement is performed cumulatively.

Cash flow hedges were formed for the first time as at December 31, 2018. There was therefore no reclassification in 2018. Ineffectiveness 

amounts to EUR 0.0 million on the basis of the applied spottospot method.

EUR million

Cash flow hedges Change in fair value (for 
effectiveness calculation) of 

underlying transaction 
Cash flow 

hedge reserve

Currency hedging – 0.5 0.5

 

EUR million

Hedging 
costs  
Total

Of which 
costs of 

hedging  
fair value 

Of which 
costs of 

hedging  
forward 

component 

Of which 
costs of 

hedging  
Cross cur-

rency basis 
spread

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve - 
internal 

values 

Spot com-
ponent - FX 
derivatives

Interest rate 
swaps

Other result 
(OCI) total 
(cash flow 

hedge 
reserve and 

costs of 
hedging)

Other result (OCI) as at 1/1/2018 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Additions – 0.2 0.0 – 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.3

Basis adjustments 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Reclassification to profit and loss 
statement 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Other result (OCI) as at 1/31/2018 – 0.2 0.0 – 0.2 0.0 0.0 0.5 0.0 0.3
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Fair value hedges

EUR million
Fair value of hedging 

instruments

Change in 
fair value 

of hedging 
instruments

Balance sheet item for  
hedging transactions

Ineffective-
ness (result) 

in profit 
and loss 

statement
Item profit and loss state-

ment for hedge accounting

Fair value hedges Nominal  
amounts Assets Liabilities

Currency hedging
287.8 1.9 – 2.4 – 0.5

Financial assets/ 
financial liabilities – 1.9

Financial expenses/ 
financial income

Interest rate/ 
currency hedging 265.1 9.9 0.0 9.9 Financial assets 0.0

MANN+HUMMEL makes use of the exception in accordance with IFRS 9.6.3.5 and designates internal loans as underlying transactions in the 

context of hedge accounting. Gains and losses from foreign currency translation are not fully eliminated at Group level, as the internal loans 

between two companies of the Group are handled with different functional currencies. The fair value changes of underlying transactions largely 

corresponded to the fair value changes of hedging instruments. “Ineffectiveness between the fair value changes of underlying transactions and 

hedging instruments occurred in particular in transactions with longer terms.”

Interest rate change risk
The interest rate change risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments fluctuate due to market interest rate 

changes. 

MANN+HUMMEL monitors the interest rate change risk at monthly intervals and measures it against a defined loss limit as the basis for any 

necessary hedging measures.

An increase/reduction in the average interest rate on variableinterestbearing financial liabilities by 50 basis points would have an effect 

on the net profit or loss before income tax of +/ EUR 0.5 million (previous year +/ EUR 0.4 million).

In the event of an increase in the average interest rate on variableinterestbearing financial assets by 50 basis points, the net profit or loss 

before income tax would rise by EUR 0.06 million (previous year EUR 0.13 million). A fall by 50 basis points would have an effect on the net 

profit or loss before income tax by EUR 0.0 million (previous year EUR 0.0 million). 

Raw materials price risk
At the MANN+HUMMEL Group, hedging transactions were carried out in a nonmaterial scope in the area of steel for the first time in the re

porting period. MANN+HUMMEL minimizes the existing risks with longterm contracts, a selection of strategic, globally positioned suppliers 

and the monitoring of exchange rates.
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38. Government grants

EUR 4.3 million (previous year EUR 0.4 million) in government grants was received in the fiscal year. This is broken down as follows:

EUR million 2018 2017

Grants for investments 3.2 0.2

Cost subsidies 1.1 0.2

 

Expense subsidies comprise largely state subsidies for job creation, for environmental innovation and the purchase of recycled materials.

The conditions required for the granting of cost subsidies are fulfilled.

39. Related party disclosures

Under IAS 24, persons or companies that control the MANN+HUMMEL Group or are controlled by it must be disclosed, unless they are already 

included in the consolidated financial statements as a consolidated company. Control exists if a shareholder holds more than half the voting 

rights or if it is possible, under the articles of association or contractual agreement, to control the financial and business policy of the manage

ment. In addition, the reporting obligation extends under IAS 24 to transactions with associates and holdings, in which the MANN+HUMMEL 

Group holds at least 20% and to transactions with persons who have a considerable influence on the financial and business policies, including 

close family members or intermediate companies. A major influence on the financial and business policy can hereby be based on a stake in the 

parent of 20% or more, sitting on the Management Board or on the Supervisory Board of the parent or holding another key role in the manage

ment. Accordingly, only the members of the Supervisory Board and the Management Board are close persons. There are no other close persons.

The Mann FamilienBeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH&Co.KG and the Hummel FamilienBeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH&Co.KG, which together 

hold 83.3% of MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co KG, exercise a significant influence as related parties. Transactions with these share

holders are limited to the distribution of dividends for 2018 in the amount of EUR 5.2 million (previous year: EUR 5.1 million). Furthermore, the 

other shareholders received dividends for the current fiscal year in the amount of EUR 1.4 million (previous year EUR 1.1 million). In addition, 

further withdrawals by the shareholders in the amount of EUR 4.6 million (previous year: EUR 0.3 million) were made in the fiscal year.
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The transactions with related companies and the receivables and payables existing as at the balance sheet date essentially result from the usual 

business activities and are the following:

EUR million Associates Other investees 

2018

Deliveries made and services provided

Sale of goods 5.1 0.0

Services 0.0 0.0

Other services 0.0 0.0

Deliveries received and services procured

Sale of goods 0.0 0.1

Services 0.0 0.4

Other services 0.0 2.7

Receivables 0.6 0.0

Liabilities 0.0 1.4

EUR million Associates Other investees 

2017

Deliveries made and services provided

Sale of goods 7.4 1.8

Services 0.0 0.1

Other services 0.0 0.0

Deliveries received and services procured

Sale of goods 0.0 0.0

Services 0.0 2.6

Other services 0.0 2.2

Receivables 0.4 1.6

Liabilities 0.0 1.7
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40. Remuneration of the Management and Supervisory Boards

Management Board

Werner Lieberherr, Switzerland Kai Knickmann, Ludwigsburg

Chairman (since October 30, 2018) (up to December 31, 2018)

Alfred Weber, Stuttgart Josef Parzhuber, Ilsfeld/Auenstein

Chairman (up to March 5, 2018)  (up to December 31, 2018, member of the Management Board of MANN+HUMMEL 

International GmbH & Co. KG, then in 2019 member of the Management Board of 

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration GmbH, Ludwigsburg, MANN+HUMMEL Beteili gungs 

und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg as well as MANN+HUMMEL 

GmbH, Ludwigsburg)

Hansjörg Herrmann, Ruschweiler Emese Weissenbacher, BietigheimBissingen

(up to November 30, 2018)

Supervisory Board of MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH

Thomas Fischer, Schalksmühle

Chairman 

Johann Huber, Marklkofen

ViceChairman

Works Council Member Marklkofen

(up to April 17, 2018)

Helga Huber, Taufkirchen/Vils

ViceChairman

Works Council Chairman MANN+HUMMEL Marklkofen

(since April 18, 2018)

Prof. Dr. Michael Bargende, Stuttgart

College Lecturer

(up to August 31, 2018)

Josef Bechtel, Ludwigsburg

Trade Union Secretary IG Metall,

BadenWürttemberg District Management

(up to April 17, 2018)

Dr. Johannes Fritz, Bad Soden

Managing Director Seedamm Vermögensverwaltung GmbH

(since September 1, 2018)

Walter Gehl, Frankfurt/Main

Robert Grashei, Altdorf

1. Authorized representative of IG Metall, Landshut

(since April 18, 2018)

Joachim Grüdl, BietigheimBissingen

Deputy Chairman of the Works Council, Ludwigsburg

(up to April 17, 2018)
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The current shortterm salaries of the active members of the Management Board for the 2018 fiscal year are EUR 3.0 million (previous year 

EUR 4.9 million). The expenses for the pension entitlements of the active members of the Management Board earned in the current fiscal year 

amount to EUR 0.6 million (previous year EUR 0.7 million).

The pension provisions for former members of the Management Board and their survivors is EUR 15.1 million (previous year: EUR 14.3 million)

The salaries of the Supervisory Board for the 2018 fiscal year amount to EUR 0.5 million (previous year EUR 0.2 million). 

In addition, companies of the MANN+HUMMEL Group have not conducted any transactions subject to contributions with members of the 

Management or the Supervisory Board of the MANN+HUMMEL Group as well as other members of the management in key roles or with com

panies on whose management or supervisory committees these persons sit. This also applies to close family members of this group of persons.

Dr. Rolf Heintzeler, Munich

Insurance company executive

(since September 1, 2018)

Jens Michael Hummel, Stuttgart

Ralph Kraut, Kirchheim am Neckar

Works Council Chairman MANN+HUMMEL

Ludwigsburg

(since April 18, 2018)

Konrad Ott, Ludwigsburg

1st authorized representative of IG Metall, 

(up to April 17, 2018)

Susanne Thomas, Ludwigsburg

Trade Union Secretary IG Metall,

Ludwigsburg office

(since April 18, 2018)

Gerhard Weis, Römerberg

Works Council Chairman MANN+HUMMEL Speyer

(since April 18, 2018)

Nico Wetterich, NeuhausSchierschnitz

Works Council Member Sonneberg

(up to April 17, 2018)

Bernhard Wimmer, Rimbach

Plant Head Marklkofen

Johannes Winklhofer, Stockdorf

Managing Partner

iwis Group

Manfred Wolf, Ludwigsburg

(up to August 31, 2018)
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41. Staff

The workforce at the MANN+HUMMEL Group was an annual average of 21,149 (previous year 20,535), of whom 7,081 (previous year 7,140) are 

salaried employees and 14,068 (previous year 13,395) wage earners.

42. Fees of the auditor

The fee of the auditor of the consolidated financial statements, Ernst & Young GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Stuttgart, reported 

in the consolidated financial statements is EUR 2.3 million (previous year EUR 1.7 million) and consists of auditing services in the amount of 

EUR 0.6 million (previous year EUR 0.3 million), tax advisory services of EUR 1.4 million (previous year EUR 1.0 million) and other services of 

EUR 0.3 million (previous year EUR 0.4 million). 

43. Indication of Section 264b(3) HGB

The companies, MANN+HUMMEL East European GmbH & Co. KG, Ludwigsburg, MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air GmbH & Co. OHG, Sprockhövel 

and MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter GmbH & Co. KG Himmelkron/Germany are exempt from disclosure under Section 264b(3) of the German 

Commercial Code (HGB).

44. Events after the balance sheet date

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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45. List of shareholdings

Company name and domicile   
Consolidation 

status1

Equity  
interest  

%

1. Subsidiaries

Germany

MANN+HUMMEL Holding GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Verwaltungs GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Beteiligungs- und Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Auslandsbeteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL AUTOMOTIVE GmbH, Bad Harzburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter GmbH & Co. KG, Himmelkron F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter Verwaltungs GmbH, Himmelkron F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Komplementär GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL East European Holding GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL East European GmbH & Co. KG, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL East European Verwaltungs GmbH, Ludwigsburg F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air GmbH & Co. OHG, Sprockhövel F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL MRH Filter Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Sprockhövel F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Atex Filter Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH, Sprockhövel F 83.3

MN Beteiligungsgesellschaft mbH, Wiesbaden F 83.3

MICRODYN-NADIR GmbH, Wiesbaden F 83.3

I2M GmbH, Alzenau N 83.3

Europe

MANN+HUMMEL (UK) LTD., Wolverhampton/UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FINANCE UK LTD., Wolverhampton/UK F 83.3

INDUSTRIAL FILTERS LTD., Wolverhampton/UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL HYDROMATION N.V., Hasselt/Belgium F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL (CZ) v.o.s., Nová Ves/Czech Republic F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Service s.r.o., Nová Ves/Czech Republic F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Innenraumfilter s.r.o., Uherský Brod/Czech Republic F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL IBERICA S.A.U., Saragossa/Spain F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FRANCE SAS, Laval/France F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL ITALIA S.r.l., Turin/Italy F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL OOO, Moscow/Russian Federation F 83.3

1  F: Consolidated Group; E: Accounted for at equity;  
N: No inclusion due to irrelevance in accordance with Section 296(2) HGB or Section 311(2) HGB
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Company name and domicile   
Consolidation 

status1

Equity  
interest  

%

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Ukraine Ltd., Krasiliv/Ukraine F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL BA J.S.C., Tesanj/Bosnia-Herzegovina F 97.2

MANN VE HUMMEL FİLTRE SANAYİ VE TİCARET LİMİTED ŞİRKETİ, Istanbul/Turkey F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Treatment Holdings Ltd., Burnley/UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes-Air Limited, Burnley/UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology UK Ltd., Riverside/UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Filtration Ltd, Burnley, UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Wheway Plc, Burnley, UK F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air BV, Ijsselstein/Netherlands F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AS, Hvidovre/Denmark F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AG, Uster/Switzerland F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air GmbH, Vösendorf/Austria F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air Holding AB, Svenljunga/Sweden F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Vokes Air AB, Svenljunga/Sweden F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FT Poland Spolka z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia sp.k., Gostyn/Poland F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FT Poland Spolka z Ograniczona Odpowiedzialnoscia, Gostyn/Poland F 83.3

Jack Filter Lufttechnik GmbH/Steindorf, Austria F 83.3

Jack Filter Hungaria Kft. /Polgárdi, Hungary F 83.3

JFI Service Kft. /Polgárdi, Hungary F 83.3

MICRODYN-NADIR Oltremare S.p.A. F 83.3

America

MANN+HUMMEL INC., Wilmington, DE/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL USA, INC., Portage, MI/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Purolator Filters LLC, Fayetteville/USA F 83.3

I2M LLC, Raleigh NC, USA N 83.3

MICRODYN TECHNOLOGIES INC., Raleigh, NC/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology US LLC, Gastonia, NC/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Products Corp LLC, Gastonia, NC/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Southern Holdings LLC, Gastonia, NC/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology International Inc., Gastonia, NC/USA F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Canada ULC, Ayr, Ontario/Canada F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL MEXICO S.A. d. C. V., Santiago de Querétaro/Mexico F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL MEXICO SERVICIOS S.A. d. C.V., Santiago de Querétaro/Mexico F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Mexico S. de R.L.de C.V. , Ramos Arizpe/Mexico F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Distribution Mexico S.A. de C.V., Ramos Arizpe/Mexico F 83.3

1  F: Consolidated Group; E: Accounted for at equity;  
N: No inclusion due to irrelevance in accordance with Section 296(2) HGB or Section 311(2) HGB
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Company name and domicile   
Consolidation 

status1

Equity  
interest  

%

MANN+HUMMEL BRASIL LTDA., Indaiatuba/Brazil F 83.3

Fluid Brasil Sistemas e Tecnologia Ltda., Jundiai/Brazil F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL ARGENTINA S.A., Buenos Aires/Argentina F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Venezuela C.A., Maracay/Venezuela N 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Distribution Venezuela C.A., Maracay/Venezuela N 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Commercial Distribution C.A., Maracay/Venezuela N 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL COLOMBIA S.A.S., Bogotá, D.C. /Columbia F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL LS+E HOLDING INC, Wilmington, DE/USA F 83.3

Tri-Dim Filter Corporation, Louisa, VA/USA F 83.3

Tri-Dim Canada Inc., Saint John, New Brunswick/Canada F 83.3

BVCA Breton, Verrechia, Goyetta, Environment, Quebec/Canada F 83.3

Asia

MANN+HUMMEL WATER SOLUTIONS HOLDING PTE. LTD., Singapore/Singapore F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER TECHNOLOGY (S.E.A.) PTE. LTD., Singapore/Singapore F 83.3

MICRODYN-NADIR Singapore Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Ventures Pte. Ltd., Singapore/Singapore F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Middle East FZE, Dubai/United Arab Emirates F 83.3

MANN and HUMMEL Thailand Ltd., Bangkok/Thailand F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL KOREA CO. LTD., Wonju/South Korea F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL JAPAN LTD., Shin-Yokohama/Japan F 83.3

MANN AND HUMMEL FILTER PRIVATE LTD., Bangalore/India F 50.0

CHANGCHUN MANN+HUMMEL FAWER FILTER CO. LTD., Changchun/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filter (CHONGQING) CO., LTD., Chongqing/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER (SHANGHAI) CO. LTD., Shanghai/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER TRADING (SHANGHAI) CO. LTD., Shanghai/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL (CHINA) CO. LTD., Shanghai/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL FILTER (JINAN) CO. LTD., Jinan/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Haoye Filter (Bengbu) Co., Ltd., Bengbu/PR China F 83.3

MICRODYN-NADIR (Xiamen) Co., Ltd., Xiamen/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration (Longkou) Co., Ltd., Longkou City/PR China F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd., Shanghai/PR China F 83.3

MANN and HUMMEL Filtration (Hong Kong) Ltd., Hong Kong/PR China F 83.3

MANN AND HUMMEL INDONESIA, PT., Bekasi/Indonesia F 83.3

1  F: Consolidated Group; E: Accounted for at equity;  
N: No inclusion due to irrelevance in accordance with Section 296(2) HGB or Section 311(2) HGB
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Company name and domicile   
Consolidation 

status1

Equity  
interest  

%

Australia

MANN AND HUMMEL AUSTRALIA (PTY) LTD., Arndell Park NSW, Australia F 83.3

MANN+HUMMEL Filtration Technology Australia Ltd., Brighton/Australia N 83.3

Africa

MANN AND HUMMEL Filters South Africa (Pty) Ltd., Boksburg/South Africa F 83.3

2. Associates

ABC S.A., Cordoba/Argentina E 25.0

1  F: Consolidated Group; E: Accounted for at equity;  
N: No inclusion due to irrelevance in accordance with Section 296(2) HGB or Section 311(2) HGB

Ludwigsburg, May 3, 2019 

MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co KG 

The Management Board

Werner Lieberherr

Emese Weissenbacher
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We issued the following auditor’s report on the consolidated financial 

statements and the group management report:

“Independent auditor’s report

To MANN + HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG

Opinions

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of 

 MANN+HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG, Ludwigsburg, and 

its subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated profit 

and loss statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2018, the 

consolidated balance sheet as of 31 December 2018, the consolidated 

cash flow statement and the consolidated changes in equity for the 

fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. In addition, we have audited the group status re

port of MANN + HUMMEL International GmbH & Co. KG for the fiscal 

year from 1 January to 31 December 2018. 

In our opinion, on the basis of the knowledge obtained in  

the audit, 

 

•  the accompanying consolidated financial statements comply, in 

all material respects, with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and 

the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant 

to Sec. 315e (1) HGB [“Handelsgesetzbuch”: German Commercial 

Code] and, in compliance with these requirements, give a true 

and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of the 

Group as of 31 December 2018, and of its financial performance 

for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2018, and

•  the accompanying group status report as a whole provides an 

appropriate view of the Group’s position. In all material respects, 

this group status report is consistent with the consolidated finan

cial statements, complies with German legal requirements and 

appropriately presents the opportunities and risks of future de

velopment. 

Pursuant to Sec. 322 (3) Sentence 1 HGB, we declare that our audit 

has not led to any reservations relating to the legal compliance of 

the consolidated financial statements and of the group status report.

Basis for the opinions  

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and 

of the group status report in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and in 

compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 

Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 

[Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 

under those laws, rules and standards are further described in the 

”Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements and the group status report” section of our report. We 

are independent of the group entities in accordance with the require

ments of German commercial and professional law, and we have ful

filled our other German professional responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opin

ions on the consolidated financial statements and on the group status 

report.  

Other information  

The executive directors are responsible for the other information. The 

other information comprises the other parts of the annual report ex

pected to be provided to us after the date of the auditor’s report, with 

the exception of the audited consolidated financial statements and 

group status report as well as our independent auditor’s report.

Our opinions on the consolidated financial statements and on the 

group status report do not cover the other information, and conse

quently we do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance 

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit, our responsibility is to read the oth

er information and, in so doing, to consider whether the other infor

mation

•  is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial state

ments, with the group status report or our knowledge obtained 

in the audit, or

• otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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Responsibilities of the executive  
directors and the supervisory board 
for the consolidated financial state-
ments and the group status report

The executive directors are responsible for the preparation of con

solidated financial statements that comply, in all material respects, 

with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional requirements 

of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) HGB, and that 

the consolidated financial statements, in compliance with these re

quirements, give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, finan

cial position and financial performance of the Group. In addition, the 

executive directors are responsible for such internal control as they 

have determined necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, wheth

er due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the executive 

directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue 

as a going concern. They also have the responsibility for disclosing, 

as applicable, matters related to going concern. In addition, they are 

responsible for financial reporting based on the going concern basis 

of accounting unless there is an intention to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or there is no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Furthermore, the executive directors are responsible for the 

preparation of the group status report that, as a whole, provides an 

appropriate view of the Group’s position and is, in all material re

spects, consistent with the consolidated financial statements, com

plies with German legal requirements, and appropriately presents the 

opportunities and risks of future development. In addition, the exec

utive directors are responsible for such arrangements and measures 

(systems) as they have considered necessary to enable the prepara

tion of a group status report that is in accordance with the applica

ble German legal requirements, and to be able to provide sufficient 

appropriate evidence for the assertions in the group status report.

The supervisory board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s 

financial reporting process for the preparation of the consolidated fi

nancial statements and of the group status report.  

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the consolidated financial state-
ments and of the group status report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the group 

status report as a whole provides an appropriate view of the Group’s 

position and, in all material respects, is consistent with the consoli

dated financial statements and the knowledge obtained in the audit, 

complies with the German legal requirements and appropriately pres

ents the opportunities and risks of future development, as well as to 

issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions on the consolidat

ed financial statements and on the group status report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar

antee that an audit conducted in accordance with Sec. 317 HGB and in 

compliance with German Generally Accepted Standards for Financial 

Statement Audits promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer 

(IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or 

in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 

financial statements and this group status report. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 

skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the con

solidated financial statements and of the group status report, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit proce

dures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. The 

risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 

is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control.

•  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the au

dit of the consolidated financial statements and of arrangements 

and measures (systems) relevant to the audit of the group status 

report in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of these systems. 

•  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the 

executive directors and the reasonableness of estimates made by 

the executive directors and related disclosures.
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•  Conclude on the appropriateness of the executive directors’ use 

of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 

to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 

Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that 

a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 

the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 

financial statements and in the group status report or, if such dis

closures are inadequate, to modify our respective opinions. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 

date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 

may cause the Group to cease to be able to continue as a going 

concern. 

•  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the consolidated financial statements present the un

derlying transactions and events in a manner that the consolidat

ed financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, lia

bilities, financial position and financial performance of the Group 

in compliance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional 

requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Sec. 315e (1) 

HGB. 

•  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the finan

cial information of the entities or business activities within the 

Group to express opinions on the consolidated financial state

ments and on the group status report. We are responsible for the 

direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We 

remain solely responsible for our audit opinions.

 

•  Evaluate the consistency of the group status report with the con

solidated financial statements, its conformity with [German] law, 

and the view of the Group’s position it provides.

•  Perform audit procedures on the prospective information pre

sented by the executive directors in the group status report. On 

the basis of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we evaluate, 

in particular, the significant assumptions used by the executive 

directors as a basis for the prospective information, and evalu

ate the proper derivation of the prospective information from 

these assumptions. We do not express a separate opinion on the 

prospective information and on the assumptions used as a basis. 

There is a substantial unavoidable risk that future events will dif

fer materially from the prospective information.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 

among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in in

ternal control that we identify during our audit.

Stuttgart, 3 May 2019

Ernst & Young GmbH

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

Meyer Heubach

Wirtschaftsprüfer Wirtschaftsprüfer

[German Public Auditor] [German Public Auditor]
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